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Military History Anniversaries 16 thru 31 July 
 

Events in History over the next 15 day period that had U.S. military involvement or impacted in 

some way on U.S military operations or American interests 

 

 Jul 16 1779 – American Revolution:  Battle of Stony Point   »  In a well planned and 

executed nighttime attack, American Brigadier General Anthony Wayne on the orders of 

General George Washington launches a coup de main against British fortifications at Stony 

Point, New York approximately 30 miles north of New York City. He earns the moniker 

“Mad” Anthony Wayne for the ensuing maneuver. 
 

     The British fort on the cliffs at Stony Point overlooking the Hudson River threatened 

West Point, which was only 12 miles upriver. Wayne, at the head of 1,200 light infantry, 

successfully assaulted what the British believed was an impregnable position, losing only 15 

killed and 83 wounded while the British lost 94 killed and wounded and 472 captured. 

Remarkably, the attack took place under cover of darkness, employed only bayonets as 

weaponry and lasted a mere 30 minutes. Two days later, Wayne, now dubbed “mad” for his 

enthusiastic and successful undertaking of a mission that had seemed doomed to failure, 

destroyed the fortifications and evacuated the area. Congress rewarded Wayne’s efforts with 

a medal. 
 

     Much of Wayne’s ensuing career involved divesting Native Americans of their land. 

Following the victory at Yorktown, Wayne traveled to Georgia, where he negotiated treaties 

with the Creeks and Cherokees. They paid dearly in land for their decision to side with the 

British, and Georgia paid Wayne in land—giving him a large plantation—for his efforts on 

their behalf. In 1794, President George Washington called upon Wayne to bring the ongoing 

violence with British-backed Indians in the Northwest Territory to a close. Wayne was 

victorious at the Battle of Fallen Timbers, near what is now Toledo, Ohio, and gained much 

of what would become Ohio and Indiana for the U.S. in the Treaty of Greenville. 

 

 Jul 16 1861 – Civil War:  Battle of Bull Run (First Manassas)   »   At the order of President 

Abraham Lincoln, Union troops begin a 25 mile march into Virginia for what will become 

the first major land battle of the war. The new Union volunteer army under Brig. Gen. Irvin 

McDowell marched from Washington DC toward the Confederate army under Gen. Pierre G. 
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T. Beauregard, drawn up behind Bull Run creek west of Centreville. Beauregard's men 

defended the strategic railroad junction at Manassas, just west of the creek.  On July 17th, 

McDowell sent a small force across Bull Run at Blackburn's Ford to test the Confederate 

defenses.  A brief skirmish ensured, with light casualties and little result.  McDowell made 

plans to attack the north or left end of Beauregard's line, while making a simultaneous 

demonstration where the Warrenton Turnpike crossed the creek at a stone bridge.  
 

     Early on the 21st, two of McDowell's divisions crossed at Sudley Ford and attacked the 

Confederate left flank on Matthews Hill. Fighting raged throughout the morning as 

Confederate forces were driven back to Henry Hill and more Union brigades crossed Bull 

Run.  In the afternoon, Confederate reinforcements arrived via railroad from Gen. Joseph 

Johnston's army in the Shenandoah Valley, among them a brigade of Virginians under Gen. 

Thomas J. Jackson.  Jackson organized a defense of Henry Hill bolstered by artillery. 

McDowell also ordered more infantry and artillery to Henry Hill, where the fiercest fighting 

of the new war occurred. Additional Confederate reinforcements broke the Union right flank, 

and Jackson held his ground on Henry Hill "like a stone wall." Under counterattack and with 

no reinforcements, the Federals retreated, and, when pressed hard by the Confederates, 

rapidly deteriorated into a complete rout. The next day, the shattered Union army reached the 

safety of Washington and the first battle of the war was over.  Estimated casualties: U.S. 

2896 | Rebel 1982.  The emboldened Confederates would fight on for nearly four more years. 

 

 Jul 16 1862 – Civil War:  U.S. Army Ram ‘Queen of the West’ Commissioned     »   USS 

Queen of the West was a sidewheel steamer built at Cincinnati, Ohio, in 1854.  She was 

purchased and commissioned by the United States Department of War in 1862 and fitted 

out as a ram for Colonel Charles Ellet, Jr.'s Ram Fleet which operated on the Mississippi 

River in conjunction with the Western Flotilla. On 15 JUL, USS Queen of the West, USS 

Carondelet, and USS Tyler engaged the Confederate ironclad ram CSS Arkansas in the 

Yazoo River. The Southern ram escaped into the Mississippi and, heavily damaged, found 

refuge under the Southern batteries at Vicksburg.  
 

 
 

     On 22 JUL, Queen of the West and USS Essex attacked CSS Arkansas.  Despite the 

Southern guns Essex steamed through a hail of shells past the shore batteries and joined 

Admiral David Farragut's ships below Vicksburg.  Queen of the West rammed CSS Arkansas 

before rejoining the Western Flotilla ships above the river fortress. In ensuing months, Queen 

of the West continued to support operations against Vicksburg. On 19 SEP, while escorting 
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two troop transports, she had a short engagement with Confederate infantry and artillery 

above Bolivar, Mississippi. As the year closed, she was busy clearing the Yazoo of torpedoes 

and engaging Confederate batteries at Drumgold's Bluff. 
 

     On February 2, 1863, after ramming and firing incendiary projectiles into the Confederate 

steamer CSS City of Vicksburg under the fortress's guns, Queen of the West was caught in 

the conflagration and forced to withdraw downstream, fighting fires in the bow and near her 

starboard wheel. The next day she forced ashore and captured Confederate steamers O. W. 

Baker, Moro, and Berwick Bay. On 12 FEB she ascended the Red River and entered the 

Atchafalaya River where a landing party destroyed Confederate Army wagons. That evening, 

Southern planters fired into the ship, severely wounding the senior naval officer aboard. The 

next day, in reprisal, she destroyed all nearby buildings. 
 

     On 14 FEB, Queen of the West captured steamer Era No. 5 some 15 miles above the 

mouth of the Black River and continued on upstream seeking three vessels reported at 

Barbin's Landing. Taken under heavy fire by the shore batteries of Fort DeRussy, she ran 

aground directly under Confederate guns, which pounded her until the captain ordered 

"abandon ship," and the formidable vessel fell into Confederate hands. The Queen was not 

burned out of concern for the Captain of the ship, who was wounded and could not be 

moved. In his official report, he alleged the grounding was done purposely by the 

replacement pilot, whom he accused in his report of being a rebel sympathizer. During their 

escape downstream, the pilot also grounded the captured Era No. 5, running the paddles long 

after contact, whereupon the pilot was placed under arrest.  
 

     CSS Queen of the West operated thereafter under the Confederate Army. In conjunction 

with another Confederate ram, CSS Webb, she forced the surrender of USS Indianola in the 

Mississippi River below Vicksburg on 24 FEB. On April 11, 1863, she was attacked on the 

Atchafalaya River in Louisiana by Union ships USS Estrella, Calhoun, and Arizona. A shell 

from Calhoun set fire to Queen of the West's cotton, and her burning wreck drifted down the 

river for several hours before she grounded and exploded. 

 

 Jul 16 1862 – U.S. Navy:  David Farragut Awarded Admiral    »     On this day an admiral’s 

rank was awarded for the first time in the history of the United States. It was created for 

famous David Farragut, a hero of the U.S. Note that, until then, the rank of an admiral was 

never used in the U.S., in order to avoid the traditions of the European navies. The term “flag 

officer” was used for the rank above captain. David Farragut thus became the first admiral in 

the history of the U.S. Navy. 
 

     Farragut was born in the American South, in Tennessee. It is interesting that he was born 

in a place hundreds of kilometers away from the sea, which is actually quite common with 

admirals. In fact, a considerable number of famous world admirals were born in regions far 

away from the sea. As a young sailor, Farragut even served on U.S. ships in the 

Mediterranean Sea. Eventually, he became a captain in the U.S. Navy. When the Civil War 
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broke out in the U.S., Farragut was invited to join the Union (North). This he did, and he 

faithfully served, although some were suspicious of him because of his southern origin. After 

one decisive event in the war, he gained such merit in the North that Congress appointed him 

admiral. A little later, because of his brave performance in the Battle of Mobile Bay, Admiral 

Farragut became an American legend. When warned by his comrades in the naval battle that 

enemy torpedoes are on their path, he said roughly: “Damn the torpedoes, full speed ahead!” 

This statement of his was later used in American propaganda for patriotic purposes. 

 

 Jul 16 1863 – Civil War:  Draft Riots Continue to Rock New York City   »   The draft riots 

enter their fourth day in New York City in response to the Enrollment Act, which was 

enacted on March 3, 1863. Although avoiding military service became much more difficult, 

wealthier citizens could still pay a commutation fee of $300 to stay at home. Irritation with 

the draft dovetailed with opposition to the Emancipation Proclamation of September 1862, 

which made abolition of slavery the central goal of the war for the Union. Particularly vocal 

in their opposition were the Democratic Irish, who felt the war was being forced upon them 

by Protestant Republicans and feared that emancipation of slaves would jeopardize their jobs. 

Their fears were confirmed when black laborers replaced striking Irish dock workers the 

month before the riots. 
 

 
Roter destroying the Westhawken ferry terminal (left) and charge of the police on the rioters at the Tribune Office 

(right) 
 

     Discontent simmered until the draft began among the Irish New Yorkers on 11 JUL. Two 

days later, a mob burned the draft office, triggering nearly five days of violence. At first, the 

targets included local newspapers, wealthy homes, well-dressed men, and police officers, but 

the crowd’s attention soon turned to African Americans. Several blacks were lynched, and 

businesses employing blacks were burned. A black orphanage was also burned, but the 

children escaped. 
 

     Not until 17 JUL was the violence contained by the arrival of Union troops, some fresh 

from the battlefield at Gettysburg, Pennsylvania. More than 1,000 people died and property 

damage topped $2 million. The draft was temporarily suspended, and a revised conscription 

began in August. As a result of the riots and the delicate political balance in the city, 

relatively few New Yorkers were forced to serve in the Union army. 
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 Jul 16 1915 – U.S. Navy:  The first combatant Navy ships passed through the locks in July 

1915 when battleships USS Missouri (BB 11), Ohio (BB 12) and Wisconsin (BB 9) transited 

the canal. 
 

 
 

 Jul 16 1918 – WWI Era:   Romanov Family Executed    »    In Yekaterinburg, Russia, Czar 

Nicholas II and his family are executed by the Bolsheviks, bringing an end to the three-

century-old Romanov dynasty. 
 

     Crowned in 1896, Nicholas was neither trained nor inclined to rule, which did not help the 

autocracy he sought to preserve among a people desperate for change. The disastrous 

outcome of the Russo-Japanese War led to the Russian Revolution of 1905, which ended 

only after Nicholas approved a representative assembly–the Duma–and promised 

constitutional reforms. The czar soon retracted these concessions and repeatedly dissolved 

the Duma when it opposed him, contributing to the growing public support for the 

Bolsheviks and other revolutionary groups. In 1914, Nicholas led his country into another 

costly war—World War I—that Russia was ill-prepared to win. Discontent grew as food 

became scarce, soldiers became war weary and devastating defeats at the hands of Germany 

demonstrated the ineffectiveness of Russia under Nicholas. 
 

     In March 1917, revolution broke out on the streets of Petrograd (now St. Petersburg) and 

Nicholas was forced to abdicate his throne later that month. That November, the radical 

socialist Bolsheviks, led by Vladimir Lenin, seized power in Russia from the provisional 

government, sued for peace with the Central Powers and set about establishing the world’s 

first communist state. Civil war broke out in Russia in June 1918, and in July the anti-

Bolshevik “White” Russian forces advanced on Yekaterinburg, where Nicholas and his 

family were located, during a campaign against the Bolshevik forces. Local authorities were 

ordered to prevent a rescue of the Romanovs, and after a secret meeting of the Yekaterinburg 

Soviet, a death sentence was passed on the imperial family. 
 

     Late on the night of 16 JUL, Nicholas, Alexandra, their five children and four servants 

were ordered to dress quickly and go down to the cellar of the house in which they were 

being held. There, the family and servants were arranged in two rows for a photograph they 

were told was being taken to quell rumors that they had escaped. Suddenly, a dozen armed 



 

6 | P a g e  
 

men burst into the room and gunned down the imperial family in a hail of gunfire. Those who 

were still breathing when the smoked cleared were stabbed to death. 
 

     The remains of Nicholas, Alexandra and three of their children were excavated in a forest 

near Yekaterinburg in 1991 and positively identified two years later using DNA 

fingerprinting. The Crown Prince Alexei and one Romanov daughter were not accounted for, 

fueling the persistent legend that Anastasia, the youngest Romanov daughter, had survived 

the execution of her family. Of the several “Anastasias” that surfaced in Europe in the decade 

after the Russian Revolution, Anna Anderson, who died in the United States in 1984, was the 

most convincing. In 1994, however, scientists used DNA to prove that Anna Anderson was 

not the czar’s daughter but a Polish woman named Franziska Schanzkowska. 

 

 Jul 16 1927 – U.S.*Nicaragua:  Nicaraguan revolutionary Augusto César Sandino begins 

5½ year war against US occupation of Nicaragua when he leads a raid on U.S. Marines and 

Nicaraguan Guardia Nacional that had been sent to apprehend him in the village of Ocotal.  

He was repulsed by one of the first dive–bombing attacks in history. From 1926 until his 

assassination in 1934 Sandino defied the military might of the US whose Marines had 

occupied Nicaragua since 1909 and finally, in 1933, the last contingent left Nicaragua. Six 

years of combat by a handful of workers and campesinos had made a significant contribution 

to that victory. 
 

     Sandino was not only a fighter but a prolific writer and gifted orator. Throughout the 34-

year period of US-backed Somoza dictatorships, and ever since, ‘Sandinismo’ has become 

the rallying cry for freedom, self-determination and non-intervention, not only for Nicaragua 

but for liberation movements across Latin America.  He murdered in 1934 by National 

Guardsmen acting on the orders of the dictator Anastasio Somoza Garcia. Somoza later 

installed himself as president of Nicaragua and subsequently admitted to carrying out this 

crime with the backing of the US Ambassador. 

 

 Jul 16 1940 – WW2 Era:  Directive No. 16: Operation Sea Lion   »   Hitler set in motion 

preparations for a landing in Britain. He prefaced the order by stating: "As England, in spite 

of her hopeless military situation, still shows no signs of willingness to come to terms, I have 

decided to prepare, and if necessary to carry out, a landing operation against her. The aim of 

this operation is to eliminate the English Motherland as a base from which the war against 

Germany can be continued, and, if necessary, to occupy the country completely." The code 

name for the invasion was Seelöwe, "Sea Lion". Hitler's directive set four conditions for the 

invasion to occur: 

o The RAF was to be "beaten down in its morale and in fact, that it can no longer 

display any appreciable aggressive force in opposition to the German crossing". 

o The English Channel was to be swept of British mines at the crossing points, and the 

Strait of Dover must be blocked at both ends by German mines. 
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o The coastal zone between occupied France and England must be dominated by heavy 

artillery. 

o The Royal Navy must be sufficiently engaged in the North Sea and the Mediterranean 

so that it could not intervene in the crossing. British home squadrons must be 

damaged or destroyed by air and torpedo attacks. 
 

     This ultimately placed responsibility for Sea Lion's success squarely on the shoulders of 

Grand Admiral Erich Raeder and Hermann Göring, neither of whom had the slightest 

enthusiasm for the venture and, in fact, did little to hide their opposition to it. Nor did 

Directive 16 provide for a combined operational headquarters, similar to the Allies' creation 

of the Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force (SHAEF) for the later Normandy 

landings, under which all three service branches (Army, Navy, and Air Force) could work 

together to plan, coordinate, and execute such a complex undertaking. The invasion was to be 

on a broad front, from around Ramsgate to beyond the Isle of Wight. Preparations, including 

overcoming the RAF, were to be in place by mid-August. 

 

 Jul 16 1941 – WW2 Era:  Lt. Yakov Dzhugashvili, Stalin’s son, is taken prisoner by 

Germans—he will die as POW in April 1943. 
 

Also on this date: 
 

 Vichy France bans Jews from practicing as lawyers. 

 

 Jul 16 1942 – WW2:  The Paris Vel’ d'Hiv Roundup   »   Though many Paris police joined 

resistance movements, the institution as a whole was placed at the service of the 

collaborating Vichy government and the Nazis themselves, actively assisting in the arrest and 

deportation of French Jews. One moment in particular casts a long shadow. On this day 

police officers, acting on German orders, began rounding up and arresting 13,152 Jews of 

which about 4,000 were children. They were brought to the city's indoor velodrome, the Vel 

d'Hiv', where they were held for days in searing heat with almost no food, water or sanitation. 

Those who did not die in the velodrome itself were deported to extermination camps. 
 

     Though French police had already begun arresting both foreign and French Jews in 1941, 

the Vel’ d'Hiv Roundup, as it is known, was the first in which women, children and the 

elderly were also taken. But, much like the history of French police throughout World War 

II, even this dark chapter is not completely black and white. Despite the thousands of Jews 

rounded up at Vel d'Hiv, the Germans were left furious. Almost 10 thousands fewer Jews had 

been arrested than they had expected. The police had leaked news of the impending roundup 

the day before, allowing many to escape. 
 

     The conflicting history of Paris’s police force in World War II is perhaps best 

demonstrated by two monuments that stand side by side outside their headquarters. One lists 

the names of officers killed during the liberation, the other of those shot by the resistance for 

collaborating with the Nazis. 
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Also on this date: 
 

 Vichy France bans Jews from practicing as lawyers. 

 

 Jul 16 1943 – WW2:  Canadians forces take Caltagirone, 40 miles inland from Syracuse. 

The Americans take Agringento, before beginning their drive for Palermo. The British finally 

secure Primosole Bridge and Montgomery advances on Catania. 

 

 Jul 16 1944 – WW2:  The Brody pocket begins to form in the northern Ukraine, trapping 

40,000 German troops. 
 

Also on this date: 
 

 The Eighth Army captures Arezzo and reaches the Arno River. 
 

 Sixth Army Group (US Seventh Army & French First Army) formed under Lt. Gen. 

Jacob Devers for Operation Anvil, the invasion of Southern France (later named 

Operation Dragoon). 
 

 Lt. Cdr. Goodwin of New Zealand escapes Japanese POW camp in Hong Kong, swims to 

mainland China, the only man to escape from Hong Kong. 

 

 Jul 16 1945 – WW2:  First Atomic Bomb Test is Successfully Exploded   »    The Manhattan 

Project code named K-25 comes to an explosive end as the first atom bomb is successfully 

tested in Alamogordo, New Mexico. 
 

     Plans for the creation of a uranium bomb by the Allies were established as early as 1939, 

when Italian emigre physicist Enrico Fermi met with U.S. Navy department officials at 

Columbia University to discuss the use of fissionable materials for military purposes. That 

same year, Albert Einstein wrote to President Franklin Roosevelt supporting the theory that 

an uncontrolled nuclear chain reaction had great potential as a basis for a weapon of mass 

destruction. In February 1940, the federal government granted a total of $6,000 for research. 

But in early 1942, with the United States now at war with the Axis powers, and fear 

mounting that Germany was working on its own uranium bomb, the War Department took a 

more active interest, and limits on resources for the project were removed. 
 

 
 

     Brigadier-General Leslie R. Groves, himself an engineer, was now in complete charge of 

a project to assemble the greatest minds in science and discover how to harness the power of 
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the atom as a means of bringing the war to a decisive end. The Manhattan Project (so-called 

because of where the research began) would wind its way through many locations during the 

early period of theoretical exploration, most importantly, the University of Chicago, where 

Enrico Fermi successfully set off the first fission chain reaction. But the Project took final 

form in the desert of New Mexico, where, in 1943, Robert J. Oppenheimer began directing 

Project Y at a laboratory at Los Alamos, along with such minds as Hans Bethe, Edward 

Teller, and Fermi. Here theory and practice came together, as the problems of achieving 

critical mass—a nuclear explosion—and the construction of a deliverable bomb were worked 

out. 
 

     Finally, on the morning of 16 JUL, in the New Mexico desert120 miles south of Santa Fe, 

the first atomic bomb was detonated. The scientists and a few dignitaries had removed 

themselves 10,000 yards away to observe as the first mushroom cloud of searing light 

stretched 40,000 feet into the air and generated the destructive power of 15,000 to 20,000 

tons of TNT. The tower on which the bomb sat when detonated was vaporized. 
 

     The question now became—on whom was the bomb to be dropped? Germany was the 

original target, but the Germans had already surrendered. The only belligerent remaining was 

Japan. 
 

Footnote: The original $6,000 budget for the Manhattan Project finally ballooned to a total 

cost of $2 billion. 

 

 Jul 16 1945 – WW2:  The Heavy Cruiser USS Indianapolis (CA–35) leaves San Francisco 

with parts for the atomic bomb "Little Boy" bound for Tinian Island. This would be the last 

time the Indianapolis would be seen by the Mainland as she would be torpedoed by the 

Japanese Submarine I–58 on July 30 and sink with 880 out of 1,196 crewmen.  
 

 
 

 Jul 16 1945 – Post WW2:  US court martial sentences 46 members of the SS to death (Battle 

of Bulge crimes) in Dachau. 

 

 Jul 16 1950 – Korean War:  Chaplain–Medic Massacre  »   Operating at the Kum River 

during the Battle of Taejon, troops of the US 19th Infantry Regiment, 24th Infantry Division, 

were cut off from resupply by a roadblock established by North Korean KPA troops of the 



 

10 | P a g e  
 

3rd Division. The roadblock proved difficult to break, and forced US troops to move through 

nearby mountains to evacuate their wounded. 

 
Herman G. Felhoelter, the U.S. Army chaplain who was killed in the massacre 

 

     Thirty critically wounded US troops were stranded at the top of a mountain. Attended to 

by only two non-combatants, a chaplain and a medic, the wounded were discovered by a 

KPA patrol. Though the medic was able to escape, the KPA executed the unarmed chaplain 

as he prayed over the wounded, then killed the rest of them. The massacre was one of several 

incidents that led US commanders to establish a commission in July to look into war crimes 

during the war. The same month, the KPA commanders, concerned about the way their 

soldiers were treating prisoners of war, laid out stricter guidelines for handling enemy 

captives. Other than this change, the historiography of the incident in North Korean sources 

is largely unknown; as a result, sources detailing the incident are almost exclusively from the 

United States and other United Nations allies. 

 

 Jul 16 1960 – U.S. Navy:  USS George Washington a modified Skipjack class submarine 

successfully test fires the first ballistic missile while submerged. 
 

 
 

 Jul 16 1965 – U.S. Navy:  McNamara visits South Vietnam   »   Secretary of Defense Robert 

McNamara conducts a fact-finding mission in South Vietnam, and Henry Cabot Lodge 

arrives in Saigon to resume his post as ambassador. Lodge had previously held the 

ambassadorship, but resigned in 1964 to seek the Republican presidential nomination, which 

was eventually won by Barry Goldwater of Arizona. Lodge returned to Saigon again as 

ambassador from 1965 to 1967. 
 

     While visiting Saigon, McNamara was informed by secret cable that President Lyndon B. 

Johnson had decided to give Gen. William Westmoreland the troops he had requested. The 

American commander had been asking for additional U.S. troops so that he could stabilize 

the military situation and “carry the war to the communists.” McNamara, believing that the 
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United States should commit itself to preventing the fall of South Vietnam to communism, 

supported Westmoreland’s request. McNamara said at a press conference upon leaving 

Saigon: “There has been deterioration since I was last here, 15 months ago.” 

 

 Jul 16 1973 – U.S. Navy:  Senate Begins Investigations Into Secret Bombing of Cambodia   

»   The Senate Armed Services Committee begins a probe into allegations that the U.S. Air 

Force made thousands of secret B-52 raids into Cambodia in 1969 and 1970 at a time when 

the United States recognized the neutrality of the Prince Norodom Sihanouk regime in 

Cambodia. The Pentagon acknowledged that President Richard Nixon and Secretary of 

Defense Melvin Laird had authorized the raids against Cambodia, but Sihanouk denied the 

State Department claim that he had requested or authorized the bombing. Though it was 

established that the bombing records had been falsified, Laird and Henry Kissinger, Nixon’s 

National Security Advisor, denied any knowledge of the falsification. The Senate hearings 

eventually exposed the extent of the secrecy involved in the bombing campaign and seriously 

damaged the credibility of the Nixon administration. 

 

 Jul 16 2002 – Cold War:  Bush Unveils Strategy for Homeland Security  »   President 

George W. Bush announces his plan for strengthening homeland security in the wake of the 

shocking September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks on New York and Washington, D.C., in which 

nearly 3,000 people had been killed. In the immediate aftermath of the disaster, in an attempt 

to prevent further bloodshed on American soil, Bush launched a massive overhaul of the 

nation’s security, intelligence and emergency-response systems through the creation of the 

White House Office of Homeland Security. Later in the month, the Department of Homeland 

Security was established as a federal agency. It was part of a two-pronged effort, which 

included pre-emptive military action against terrorists in other countries, to fight the war on 

terror. 

 
 

     During a White House press conference that day, Bush gave the American public a 

preview of the changes to come, including, but not limited to, a color-coded warning system 

that identified different levels of threat, assessing which industries and regions were 

vulnerable to attack. He also proposed changes in laws that would give the president 

increased executive powers, particularly with regard to anti-terrorism policy. 
 

     On the day of his announcement, it appeared that Bush and Congress formed a fairly 

united front in favor of the new policy. However, as soon as the Department of Homeland 

Security was established, critics who feared the potential abuse of presidential powers and 

the abandonment of civil liberties in the name of national security raised their voices. Bush 
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tried to reassure them that the changes were constitutional and open to Congressional 

oversight. However, over the next few years, his administration faced accusations of 

flagrantly violating the Constitution and creating a political culture of secrecy and cronyism. 

 

 Jul 16 2015 – Terrorism:  Chattanooga Military Recruitment Center Shooting  »   Five 

people at a US military recruitment center and a naval reserve training center were killed at 

the scene -- four U.S. Marines and the gunman -- and three injured in an attack on a military 

recruiting center and another U.S. military site in Chattanooga, Tennessee.  A fifth victim, a 

Navy Petty Officer died of his wounds on 18 JUL. Mohammod Youssuf Abdulazeez, who 

authorities say killed the servicemen, was a 24-year-old, Kuwait-born engineer who had not 

been on the radar of federal authorities until the bloodshed. He first committed a drive-by 

shooting at a recruiting center, then traveled to a U.S. Navy Reserve center and continued 

firing, where he was killed by police in a gunfight. On 16 DEC, following an investigation, 

former Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) director James B. Comey said that the 

shootings were "motivated by foreign terrorist organization propaganda." 

 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 17 1775 – American Revolution:  The first U.S. military hospital (medical department) 

is approved in Massachusetts with a Director-General (chief physician of the Hospital), four 

surgeons, an apothecary (pharmacist), and nurses (usually wives or widows of military 

personnel). The pay for the surgeons and the pharmacist is $1.66 a day and nurses $2 a 

month. 

 

 Jul 17 1861 – Civil War:  At Manassas, Virginia General Beauregard requests 

reinforcements for his 22,000 men, General Johnston is ordered to Manassas 

 

 July 17, 1862 – Civil War:  Congress passes the Second Confiscation Act, or The 

Confiscation Act of 1862. This allows for confiscation of property from people who 

participate in the war on the rebel side. 

 

 July 17, 1863 – Civil War:   Battle of Aldie   »   Jeb Stuart’s cavalry screened the 

Confederate infantry as it marched north behind the sheltering Blue Ridge Mountains. The 

pursuing Federals of Brig. Gen. Judson Kilpatrick’s brigade, in the advance of Brig. Gen. 

David Gregg’s division, encountered Col. Thomas T. Munford’s Virginia troopers near the 

village of Aldie, resulting in four hours of stubborn fighting. Both sides made mounted 

assaults by regiments and squadrons. Kilpatrick was reinforced in the afternoon, and 

Munford withdrew toward Middleburg where the battle would continue the next day. The 

battles at Aldie, Middleburg and Upperville along the Ashby's Gap Turnpike successfully 
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delayed the Union cavalry thrust across the Loudoun Valley, preventing them from finding 

Lee's army. 

 

 July 17, 1863 – Civil War:  Battle of Honey Springs    »   Largest battle in Indian Territory.  

It was a battle that would help determine whether the Union or the Confederacy would 

control the West beyond the Mississippi River. It is important because of its setting in the 

rolling prairie of what is now eastern Oklahoma, versus the famed theaters of the East. Also 

significant were the divided Native Americans (Indians) who fought and died there for both 

the North and South. Following the battle, Union forces controlled the Indian Territory north 

of the Arkansas River. 

 

 July 17, 1864 – Civil War:  Engagement at Snicker's Ferry, or Parker's Ford, VA, as Maj. 

Gen. David Hunter, USA, blocks Lieut. Gen. Jubal Early's, CSA, path into the Shenandoah 

Valley. (Jul 17-18) 

 

 Jul 17 1898 – Spanish*American War:  Siege of Santiago Ends (3-17 Jul)   »   The last 

major operation of the Spanish–American War on the island of Cuba. This action should not 

be confused with the naval Battle of Santiago de Cuba. On 3 JUL, the same day as the naval 

battle, Major General William "Pecos Bill" Shafter began the siege of Santiago. Shafter 

fortified his position on San Juan Heights. General Henry W. Lawton's division moved up 

from El Caney extending the U.S. right flank to the north. To the northwest, Cuban rebels 

under the command of Calixto Garcia extended the U.S. line to the bay. Spanish General 

Arsenio Linares had been severely wounded at the Battle of San Juan Hill and was replaced 

by General José Toral y Velázquez.  Toral had a good defensive position and Shafter knew 

he would sustain severe casualties from a frontal assault. All Spanish ships had been 

destroyed bringing forth a reason for Toral to surrender. 
 

     U.S. artillery sited on the heights pounded the city, while U.S. forces supported by Cuban 

rebels choked off all water and food supplies to the city. On 3 JUL, a relief column was able 

to fight its way through Garcia's rebels and into the city bringing Toral's force to a total of 

13,500. On 4 JUL a cease fire was enacted to evacuate roughly 20,000 citizens from the city. 

Also, on 4 JUL four .30 Army Gatlings from Lt. John Parker's Gatling Gun Detachment were 

moved to Fort Canosa in support of the siege, as was a dynamite gun and sixteen field guns. 

Over the next thirteen days, the Gatlings were used to fire 6,000 to 7,000 rounds into the city 

of Santiago, causing many Spanish casualties. 
 

     On 8 JUL, Toral proposed to surrender Santiago if his troops could be evacuated to 

Holguin. Washington officials would not accept Toral's proposal and the truce ended on July 

10.  Shafter was now pressed for time as Yellow fever appeared. Shafter and the U.S. Navy 

under William T. Sampson continued to bomb the city with little effect militarily. General 
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Miles arrived on 11 JUL along with several regiments, eight field guns and eight light 

mortars. 
 

     Everyone involved wanted a quick end to the campaign, and at 0900 on 13 JUL, Toral, 

Shafter, Miles and Joseph Wheeler met under a large tree between lines to discuss surrender 

terms. The Americans proposed Secretary of War Russell A. Alger's offer to repatriate the 

Spanish garrison to Spain. Shafter relied on his friend Dr. George E. Goodfellow's excellent 

knowledge of Spanish to help negotiate the final surrender after the Battle of San Juan Hill. 

Goodfellow attributed part of his success to a bottle of "ol' barleycorn" he kept handy in his 

medical kit which he properly prescribed to himself and Spanish General Toral, lending a 

more convivial atmosphere to the conference. On 16 JUL, after both governments agreed to 

the terms of capitulation ("surrender" was avoided), in which Toral surrendered his garrison 

and all troops in the Division of Santiago, an additional 9,000 soldiers. The Spanish also 

ceded Guantanamo City and San Luis. The Spanish troops marched out of Santiago on 17 

JUL.  

 

 Jul 17 1917 – WW1:  Fighting in the Streets of Petrograd, Russia   »    A three-day stretch 

of fighting in the streets peaks in Petrograd after the provisional government falls temporarily 

amid anger and frustration within and outside the army due to the continuing hardships 

caused by Russia’s participation in World War I. 
 

 
 

     Despite devastating losses on the Eastern Front in 1916, the provisional Russian 

government–which succeeded to power after the abdication of Czar Nicholas II in March–

had rejected all calls for peace. Alexander Kerensky, appointed minister of war in the spring 

of 1917, was determined to reinvigorate the Russian war effort, installing the victorious 

General Alexei Brusilov as commander in chief of the Russian forces and making plans to go 

back on the offensive within months. The disintegration and despair within the army 

continued, however, as some 30,000 deserters were reported from the front every day. At 

Kerensky’s command, Brusilov launched another major offensive on July 1, the same day a 

massive peace demonstration was held in Petrograd. 
 

     Though the new offensive resulted in heavy losses for the Russians, it was at home where 

the provisional government received its greatest threat. On July 15, 1917, an uprising in 

Petrograd encouraged by Leon Trotsky, an official of the Bolshevik Party–the radical 

socialist movement led by Vladimir Lenin, recently returned from exile due to German help–
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succeeded in briefly toppling the provisional government. The Bolsheviks saw their 

opportunity and attempted to seize power in Petrograd, as fighting broke out in the streets. 

The violence peaked on 17 JUL. The following day, officers loyal to the provisional 

government destroyed the offices of the Bolshevik newspaper, Pravda. Lenin, sensing the 

time was not yet ripe for revolution, went into hiding–albeit temporarily–and Kerensky took 

charge, restoring order and continuing his efforts to salvage the Russian war effort. 
 

     Months later, however, Lenin emerged again, as the Bolsheviks succeeded in wresting 

power in Russia from the army in November amid massive strikes and rebellions in the 

streets; almost immediately after taking power, the Bolsheviks moved towards an armistice 

with the Central Powers, ending Russia’s involvement in World War I. 

 

 Jul 17 1942 – Holocaust:  German Convoy #6 departs Pithiviers, France internment camp 

with 928 French Jews destined for Nazi-Germany’s Auschwitz death camp in Poland.  Only 

45 are still alive at the end of the war. 

 

 Jul 17 1944 – WW2:  Port Chicago Disaster   »   An ammunition ship explodes while being 

loaded in Port Chicago, California, killing 332 people on this day in 1944. The United States’ 

World War II military campaign in the Pacific was in full swing at the time. Poor procedures 

and lack of training led to the disaster. 
 

     Port Chicago, about 30 miles north of San Francisco, was developed into a munitions 

facility when the Naval Ammunition Depot at Mare Island, California, could not fully supply 

the war effort. By the summer of 1944, expansion of the Port Chicago facility allowed for 

loading two ships at once around the clock. The Navy units assigned to the dangerous 

loading operations were generally segregated African-American units. For the most part, 

these men had not been trained in handling munitions. Additionally, safety standards were 

forgotten in the rush to keep up frenetic loading schedules. 
 

     On the evening of 17 JUL, the SS Quinault Victory and SS E.A. Bryan, two merchant 

ships, were being loaded. The holds were being packed with 4,600 tons of explosives–

bombs, depth charges and ammunition. Another 400 tons of explosives were nearby on rail 

cars. Approximately 320 workers were on or near the pier when, at 10:18 p.m., a series of 

massive explosions over several seconds destroyed everything and everyone in the vicinity. 

The blasts were felt as far away as Nevada and the resulting damage extended as far as San 

Francisco. Every building in Port Chicago was damaged and people were literally knocked 

off their feet. Smoke and fire extended nearly two miles into the air. The pilot of a plane 

flying at 9,000 feet in the area claimed that metal chunks from the explosion flew past him. 
 

     Nearly two-thirds of the people killed at Port Chicago were African-American enlisted 

men in the Navy–15 percent of all African-Americans killed during World War II. The 

surviving men in these units, who helped put out the fires and saw the horrors firsthand, were 

quickly reassigned to Mare Island. Less than a month later, when ordered to load more 
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munitions, but still having received no training, 258 African-American sailors refused to 

carry out the orders. Two hundred and eight of them were then sentenced to bad conduct 

discharges and pay forfeiture. The remaining 50 men were put on trial for general court 

martial. They were sentenced to between eight and 15 years of hard labor, though two years 

later all were given clemency. A 1994 review of the trials revealed race played a large factor 

in the harsh sentences. In December 1999, President Clinton pardoned Freddie Meeks, one of 

only three of the 50 convicted sailors known to be alive at the time. 
 

     The Port Chicago disaster eventually led to the implementation of far safer procedures for 

loading ammunition. In addition, greater emphasis was put on proper training in explosives 

handling and the munitions themselves were altered for greater safety. There is now a 

national memorial to the victims at the site. 

 

 Jul 17 1944 – WW2:  Napalm incendiary bombs are dropped for the first time by U.S. P-38 

pilots on a fuel depot at Coutances, near Saint-Lô, France.  

 

 Jul 17 1945 – WW2:   Potsdam Conference    »    The leaders of the three Allied nations, 

Harry S. Truman, Winston Churchill, and Joseph Stalin meet in the German city of Potsdam 

to negotiate the terms of the end of World War II.  Germany had surrendered about two 

months earlier, and the leaders needed to agree on postwar reparations from the country. 

When Truman met Stalin that day he had been president of the United States for only three 

months. And before that, he’d been vice president for only 82 days. His relationship with his 

predecessor, Franklin D. Roosevelt, was nearly nonexistent, and he had been kept in the dark 

about end-of-war negotiations that he was now taking part in. 
 

 
 

     Just hours after Roosevelt died on April 12, 1945, Truman took the oath of office and 

asked a gaggle of White House reporters to pray for him. “Truman approached that meeting 

with a great deal of anxiety and insecurity. . . . He was very poorly informed about the 

complexities of the agreements that President Franklin Roosevelt had worked out during the 

war with Stalin,” said Melvyn Leffler, a University of Virginia historian and author of “A 

Preponderance of Power: National Security, the Truman Administration and the Cold War.” 
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     Truman also had just recently learned the full details of the country’s secret atomic-bomb 

program, the Manhattan Project, which the president had hoped would lead to Japan’s 

surrender and, ultimately, the end of the war. Leffler said there was a “tremendous 

uncertainty and ambiguity” about whether the bomb was viable. By the time Truman arrived 

in Germany, he knew the bomb worked. 
 

     Truman recorded his first impressions of Stalin in his diary. He described his initial 

meeting with the intimidating Soviet leader as cordial. “Promptly a few minutes before 

twelve” the president wrote, “I looked up from the desk and there stood Stalin in the 

doorway. I got to my feet and advanced to meet him. He put out his hand and smiled. I did 

the same, we shook–and we sat down.” After exchanging pleasantries, the two got down to 

discussing post-World War II policy in Europe. The U.S. was still engaged in a war in the 

Pacific against Japan, and Truman wanted to get a read on Stalin’s plans for the territories 

that he now controlled in Europe. 
 

     Truman told Stalin that his diplomatic style was straightforward and to-the-point, an 

admission that Truman observed had visibly pleased Stalin. Truman hoped to get the Soviets 

to join in the U.S. war against Japan. In return, Stalin wanted to impose Soviet control over 

certain territories annexed at the beginning of the war by Japan and Germany. Truman hinted 

that although Stalin’s agenda was “dynamite” or aggressive, the U.S. now had ammunition to 

counter the communist leader. Truman had refrained from informing the Soviet leader about 

the Manhattan Project, which had just successfully tested the world’s first atom bomb, but 

knew that the new weapon strengthened his hand. Truman referred to this secret in his diary 

as “some dynamite which I am not exploding now.” 
 

      After their meeting, Truman, Stalin and accompanying advisors “had lunch, talked 

socially, [and] put on a real show, drinking toasts to everyone” and posing for photographs. 

Truman closed his entry for that day on a note of confidence. “I can deal with Stalin,” he 

wrote. “He is honest, but smart as hell.” 

 

 Jul 17 1966 – Vietnam War:  Ho Chi Minh orders a partial mobilization of North Vietnam 

to defend against American airstrikes.  

 

 Jul 17 1969 – Vietnam War:  Wheeler Visits South Vietnam   »   Gen. Earle Wheeler, 

chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, conducts four days of conferences and inspections with 

U.S. commanders in South Vietnam. This was an effort to assess the progress of the South 

Vietnamese armed forces and to discuss future strategy. Upon his return to Washington, 

Wheeler reported to President Richard Nixon that the situation in South Vietnam was “good” 

and that the program to improve the South Vietnamese armed forces was on schedule. 

 

 Jul 17 1972 – Vietnam War:  South Vietnamese Paratroopers Fight for Citadel  »   South 

Vietnamese paratroopers fight their way to within 200 yards of the Citadel in Quang Tri City, 
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which was described by reporters who accompanied the troops as a city of rubble and ash. 

Citizens emerging from neighborhoods retaken by the paratroopers joined the refugees, who 

had been streaming south toward Hue on Route 1 to get out of the way of continued fighting 

in Quang Tri. 
 

     North Vietnamese troops had captured Quang Tri City on May 1 as part of their Nguyen 

Hue Offensive (later called the “Easter Offensive”), a massive invasion by North Vietnamese 

forces that had been launched on March 31. The attacking force included 14 infantry 

divisions and 26 separate regiments, with more than 120,000 troops and approximately 1,200 

tanks and other armored vehicles. The main North Vietnamese objectives, in addition to 

Quang Tri in the north, were Kontum in the Central Highlands, and An Loc farther to the 

south. 
 

 
 

     Initially, the South Vietnamese defenders were almost overwhelmed, particularly in the 

northernmost provinces, where they abandoned their positions in Quang Tri. At Kontum and 

An Loc, the South Vietnamese were more successful in defending against the attacks, but 

only after weeks of bitter fighting. Although the defenders suffered heavy casualties, they 

managed to hold their own with the aid of American advisors and airpower. Fighting 

continued all over South Vietnam into the summer months. 
 

     After months of heavy fighting, the South Vietnamese forces finally retook Quang Tri 

province entirely in September. With the communist invasion blunted, President Nixon 

declared that the South Vietnamese victory proved the viability of “Vietnamization,” a 

program that he had instituted in 1969 to increase the combat capability of the South 

Vietnamese armed forces so U.S. troops could be withdrawn. 

 

 Jul 17 2014 – Malaysia*Russia:   Malaysia Airlines Flight 17 Shoot Down   »      Halfway 

through a flight from Amsterdam to Malaysia, a passenger plane was shot down over the 

war-torn Ukraine-Russia Border. All 298 people on board, most of whom were citizens of the 

Netherlands, died in the explosion. It was the second Malaysian Air flight to disappear in 

2014, after flight 370 crashed over the Indian Ocean on 8 MAR. The plane took off from 

Amsterdam at 10:31 GMT. It was expected to fly over the Ukraine-Russia border which, due 
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to a war between Ukrainian fighters and Pro-Russia separatists, had instituted a minimum-

altitude restriction just three days earlier to keep planes from being caught in any potential 

crossfire. The plane made contact and flew into country lines in accordance with restrictions, 

but disappeared a few hours later, just 30 miles from the border. No distress signal was 

received. 
 

     Questions arose about the flight path. Was it safe? As it turned out, the path had been 

approved by the International Civil Aviation Organization, and by the countries that 

controlled the airspace through which the plane was set to travel. While it wasn’t clear in the 

beginning, it was suspected the plane had been shot down by “ill-trained” Russian 

separatists. Four days later, after investigators were finally able to get their hands on the 

plane's black box, these suspicions were confirmed. The explosion had definitely not come 

from within. The recorder revealed that, as the plane approached the border, a “high-energy 

object” exploded a yard from the cockpit, breaking it completely off from the rest of the 

plane. The pilots were killed instantly. The rest of the plane flew for more than five miles 

before finally breaking apart. The debris scattered over more than 20 square miles of field. 
 

     It took 15 months to figure out which side of the war the projectile had come from. In 

October, 2015, Dutch investigators were able to discern that the blast had been caused by a 

Russian-made missile. In June 2016, over two years after the plane was shot down, an 

international group of investigators published a photo of large part of a Russian-made Buk 

missile that was found at the crash site. Finally, in May of 2018, after four years of gathering 

evidence, a release from the Netherlands and Australia said that it wasn’t just a Russian-

made missile that had taken down Flight 17, but that they were officially holding Russia 

accountable. For their part, Russia has repeatedly denied the accusation, claiming that the 

missile "more than likely belongs to the Ukrainian armed forces." 

 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 18 1861 – Post Revolutionary War:  Naval Hero John Paul Jones Dies in Paris     »    

Naval hero John Paul Jones dies in his Paris apartment, where he was still awaiting a 

commission as the United States consul to Algiers. Commander Jones, remembered as one of 

the most daring and successful naval commanders of the American Revolution, was born in 

Scotland, on July 6, 1747. He became an apprentice to a merchant at 13 and soon went to sea, 

traveling first to the West Indies and then to North America as a young man. 
 

     In Virginia at the onset of the American Revolution, Jones sided with the Patriots and 

received a commission as a first lieutenant in the Continental Navy on December 7, 1775. 

After departing from Brest, Jones successfully executed raids on two forts in England’s 

Whitehaven Harbor, despite a disgruntled crew more interested in gain than honor. Jones 

then continued to his home territory of Kirkcudbright Bay, Scotland, where he intended to 

abduct the earl of Selkirk and then exchange him for American sailors held captive by 
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Britain. Although he did not find the earl at home, Jones’ crew was able to steal all his silver, 

including his wife’s teapot, still containing her breakfast tea. From Scotland, Jones sailed 

across the Irish Sea to Carrickfergus, where his Ranger captured the HMS Drake after 

delivering fatal wounds to the British ship's captain and lieutenant. 
 

     In September 1779, Jones fought one of the fiercest battles in naval history when he led 

the USS Bonhomme Richard frigate, named for Benjamin Franklin, in an engagement with 

the 50-gun British warship HMS Serapis. After the Bonhomme Richard was struck, it began 

taking on water and caught fire. When the British captain of the Serapis ordered Jones to 

surrender, he famously replied, “I have not yet begun to fight!” A few hours later, the captain 

and crew of the Serapis admitted defeat and Jones took command of the British ship. 
 

      One of the greatest naval commanders in history, Jones is remembered as a Father of the 

American      Navy, along with fellow Revolutionary War hero Commodore John Barry. At 

the conclusion of the American War for Independence, Jones briefly served Empress 

Catherine II of Russia, before retiring to Paris. John Paul Jones is buried in a crypt at the U.S. 

Naval Academy Chapel in Annapolis, Maryland. 

 

 Jul 18 1861 – Civil War:  Battle of Blackburn's Ford, Virginia   »    As part of the Manassas 

Campaign a Union brigade of 3,000 men was ordered to probe the Confederate defenses 

along Bull Run to locate the Confederate left. At Blackburn's Ford, the brigade attempted to 

cross but Confederate fire broke up the attack and Union commanders decided to cross the 

creek farther upstream. The failed reconnaissance-in-force at Blackburn's Ford led Brig. Gen. 

Irvin McDowell to decide against a frontal assault along Bull Run. He decided to attempt to 

cross the stream beyond the Confederate left flank, the maneuver he employed at the First 

Battle of Bull Run on 21 JUL. Casualties and losses: US 83 - CSA 68. 

 

 Jul 18 1862 – Civil War:  Raid on Newburgh, Indiana   »   The Newburgh Raid was a 

successful raid by Confederate partisans on Newburgh, Indiana making it the first town in a 

northern state to be captured during the American Civil War. Confederate colonel Adam 

Rankin Johnson led the raid by using a force of only about 35 men he had recruited from 

nearby Henderson, Kentucky. They confiscated supplies and ammunition without a shot 

being fired by tricking Newburgh's defenders into thinking the town was surrounded by 

cannons. In reality, the so-called cannons were an assemblage of a stove pipe, a charred log, 

and wagon wheels, forever giving the Confederate commander the nickname of Adam 

"Stovepipe" Johnson. 
 

     The raid convinced the federal government to supply Indiana with a permanent force of 

regular Union Army soldiers to counter future raids and proved to be a significant boost for 

Union recruiting in Indiana. 
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 Jul 18 1863 – Civil War:  Battle of Fort Wagner, SC   »     Union Colonel Robert Gould 

Shaw and 272 of his troops are killed in an assault on Fort Wagner, near Charleston, South 

Carolina. Shaw was commander of the first formal African American military unit 54th 

Massachusetts Volunteer Infantry, perhaps the most famous regiment of African American 

troops during the war. Fort Wagner stood on Morris Island, guarding the approach to 

Charleston harbor. It was a massive earthwork, 600 feet wide and made from sand piled 30 

feet high. The only approach to the fort was across a narrow stretch of beach bounded by the 

Atlantic on one side and a swampy marshland on the other. Union General Quincy Gillmore 

headed an operation in July 1863 to take the island and seal the approach to Charleston. 

 

 
 

     Shaw and his 54th Massachusetts were chosen to lead the attack of 18 JUL. Shaw was the 

scion of an abolitionist family and a veteran of the 1862 Shenandoah Valley and Antietam 

campaigns. The regiment included two sons of abolitionist Frederick Douglass and the 

grandson of author and poet Sojourner Truth. Union artillery battered Fort Wagner all day, 

but the barrage did little damage to the fort and its garrison. At 7:45 p.m., the attack 

commenced. Yankee troops had to march 1,200 yards down the beach to the stronghold, 

facing a hail of bullets from the Confederates. Shaw’s troops and other Union regiments 

penetrated the walls at two points but did not have sufficient numbers to take the fort. Over 

1,500 Union troops fell or were captured to the Confederates’ 222. 
 

      Despite the failure, the battle proved that African American forces could not only hold 

their own but also excel in battle. The experience of Shaw and his regiment was 

memorialized in the critically acclaimed 1990 movie Glory, starring Mathew Broderick, 

Denzel Washington and Morgan Freeman. Washington won an Academy Award for his role 

in the film. 

 

 Jul 18 1864 – Civil War:  US President Abraham Lincoln asks for 500,000 volunteers for 

military service 

 

 Jul 18 1914 – U.S. Army:  The U.S. Congress forms the Aviation Section, U.S. Signal 

Corps, giving definite status to aircraft within the U.S. Army for the first time.  
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 Jul 18 1915 – WWI:  Second Battle of Isonzo   »   Fought between the armies of the 

Kingdom of Italy and of Austria-Hungary in the Italian Front.  After the failure of the First 

Battle of the Isonzo, two weeks earlier, Luigi Cadorna, commander-in-chief of the Italian 

forces, decided for a new thrust against the Austro-Hungarian lines with heavier artillery 

support. The overall plans of the Italian offensive were barely changed by the outcomes of 

the previous fight, besides the role of general Frugoni's Second Army, which this time had, 

on paper, to carry out only demonstrative attacks all over his front. The major role, assigned 

to the Duke of Savoy's Third Army, was to conquer Mount San Michele and Mount Cosich, 

cutting the enemy line and opening the way to Gorizia. 
 

    General Cadorna's tactics were as simple as they were harsh: after a heavy artillery 

bombardment his 250,000 troops were to advance in a frontal assault against the Austro-

Hungarian line of 78,000 troops, overcome the enemy's barbed-wire fences, and take the 

trenches. The insufficiency of war materiel – from rifles, to artillery shells, to shears to cut 

barbed wire – nullified the Italians' numerical superiority. Casualties and losses: Italians 

41,800 – Austria-Hungary 46,600. 

 

 Jul 18 1918 – WWI:  US and French Forces Launch Aisne-Marne Offensive   »   The Aisne-

Marne Offensive was the second phase of the Second Battle of the Marne (15 July-6 August) 

and marked a major turning point in the fighting on the Western Front in 1918. The first 

phase of the battle had been the German Champagne-Marne Offensive, which had begun on 

15 JUL with attacks east and west of Reims. The attacks east of the city had met with little 

success, but the attack to the west, by the German Seventh Army under General Max von 

Boehn, had advanced four miles, creating a beachhead on the southern side of the Marne. At 

its greatest extent the German salient reached from Soissons in the northwest, to Château 

Thierry at its south west corner and then east along the Marne. 
 

     One positive result of the earlier German successes had been the appointment of 

Ferdinand Foch as overall Commander in Chief on the Western Front. Even before the 

German offensive on the Marne he had been planning a massive counterattack in the area. 

This was to involve four French armies attacking all around the salient created during the 

Third Battle of the Aisne. The main attack was to come from the west and would be launched 

by the French Tenth Army (General Charles Mangin) with the Sixth in support to his south 

(General Jean Degoutte). Further around the line the Fifth (General Henri Berthelot) and 

Ninth (Genereal M. A. H. de Mitry) would launch supporting attacks on the southern flank of 

the German salient. 
 

     This would be an Allied attack, with British and Italian Divisions involved. It would also 

be a major American battle. The American 1st and 2nd Divisions were with the Tenth Army, 

while the Sixth and Ninth Armies each contained three American Divisions. These were 

massive formations, each containing 28,000 men, making them twice the size of their British, 

French or German equivalents. The attack would be supported by 350 Allied tanks. 
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     The main attack (second phase) was launched on 18 JUL by Mangin, with fourteen 

divisions from the Tenth and Sixth armies. All around the line the Allies advanced between 

two and five miles. That night the Germans were forced to retreat back across the Marne. The 

rapid Allied advance threatened German communications within the salient and even offered 

the chance of trapping the German troops around Château Thierry. Facing with this massive 

Allied counterattack Ludendorff ordered his troops to pull out of the salient to form a new 

defensive line along the line of the Aisne and Velse rivers. The new line began to take shape 

on 3 AUG, the day after Soissons had been liberated. On 6 AUG the Americans probed the 

new line and were repulsed, ending the offensive. 
 

     The Aisne-Marne offensive marked a key turning point in the fighting of 1918. It ended 

the series of German victories that had begun on the Somme in March 1918 and opened the 

way for the great Allied offensive that would start at Amiens on 8 AUG. Ludendorff’s great 

gamble to end the war before the full strength of the American army could be deployed had 

failed. 

 

 Jul 18 1918 – WWI:  Battle of Soissons   »   The 4th Marine Brigade began an attack near 

Soissons, France. The four day engagement was part of a three-division counterattack against 

German forces. The Marines sustained 1,972 casualties in the first two days of the battle.   
 

 
American heavy artillery at Soissons 1918 

 

     Ferdinand Foch, the Allied Supreme Commander, launched the offensive on 18 July; 24 

French divisions and 2 British and 2 U.S. divisions under French command, supported by 

approximately 478 tanks. He sought to eliminate the salient that was aimed at Paris. The 

Allies suffered 107,000 casualties (95,000 French and 12,000 American), while the Germans 

suffered 168,000 casualties.] The battle ended with the French recapturing most of the 

ground lost to the German Spring Offensive in May 1918. Adolf Hitler, the future Führer of 

Nazi Germany, earned and was awarded the Iron Cross First Class at Soissons on August 4th 

1918. 

 

 Jul 18 1925 – Germany:  Hitler’s Mein Kampf Published    »   Seven months after being 

released from Landsberg jail, Nazi leader Adolf Hitler publishes the first volume of his 

personal manifesto, Mein Kampf. Dictated by Hitler during his nine-month stay in prison, 
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Mein Kampf, or “My Struggle,” was a bitter and turgid narrative filled with anti-Semitic 

outpourings, disdain for morality, worship of power, and the blueprints for his plan of Nazi 

world domination. The autobiographical work soon became the bible of Germany’s Nazi 

Party. 
 

     In the early 1920s, the ranks of Hitler’s Nazi Party swelled with resentful Germans who 

sympathized with the party’s bitter hatred of Germany’s democratic government, leftist 

politics, and Jews. In November 1923, after the German government resumed the payment of 

war reparations to Britain and France, the Nazis launched the “Beer Hall Putsch”–their first 

attempt at seizing the German government by force. Hitler hoped that his nationalist 

revolution in Bavaria would spread to the dissatisfied German army, which in turn would 

bring down the government in Berlin. However, the uprising was immediately suppressed, 

and Hitler was arrested and sentenced to five years in prison for high treason. 
 

   
Adolf Hitler, Emil Maurice, Hermann Kriebel, Rudolf Hess, and Friedrich Weber at Landsberg Prison (left) and    

President Paul von Hindenburg and Chancellor Adolph Hitler (right) 
 

     Sent to Landsberg jail, he spent his time dictating his autobiography, Mein Kampf, and 

working on his oratorical skills. After nine months in prison, political pressure from 

supporters of the Nazi Party forced his release. During the next few years, Hitler and the 

other leading Nazis reorganized their party as a fanatical mass movement that was able to 

gain a majority in the German parliament–the Reichstag–by legal means in 1932. In the same 

year, President Paul von Hindenburg defeated a presidential bid by Hitler, but in January 

1933 he appointed Hitler chancellor, hoping that the powerful Nazi leader could be brought 

to heel as a member of the president’s cabinet. 
 

     However, Hindenburg underestimated Hitler’s political audacity, and one of the new 

chancellor’s first acts was to use the burning of the Reichstag building as a pretext for calling 

general elections. The police under Nazi Hermann Goering suppressed much of the party’s 

opposition before the election, and the Nazis won a bare majority. Shortly after, Hitler took 

on absolute power through the Enabling Acts. In 1934, Hindenburg died, and the last 

remnants of Germany’s democratic government were dismantled, leaving Hitler the sole 

master of a nation intent on war and genocide. 

 

 Jul 18 1936 – Spanish Civil War:  Civil War Breaks Out   »   The Civil War begins as a 

revolt by right-wing Spanish military officers in Spanish Morocco and spreads to mainland 
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Spain. From the Canary Islands, General Francisco Franco broadcasts a message calling for 

all army officers to join the uprising and overthrow Spain’s leftist Republican government. 

Within three days, the rebels captured Morocco, much of northern Spain, and several key 

cities in the south. The Republicans succeeded in putting down the uprising in other areas, 

including Madrid, Spain’s capital. The Republicans and the Nationalists, as the rebels were 

called, then proceeded to secure their respective territories by executing thousands of 

suspected political opponents. Meanwhile, Franco flew to Morocco and prepared to bring the 

Army of Africa over to the mainland. 
 

 
                        King Alfonso XIII                                                                                                      Francisco Franco 

 

     In 1931, Spanish King Alfonso XIII authorized elections to decide the government of 

Spain, and voters overwhelmingly chose to abolish the monarchy in favor of a liberal 

republic. Alfonso went into exile, and the Second Republic, initially dominated by middle-

class liberals and moderate socialists, was proclaimed. During the first two years of the 

Republic, organized labor and leftist radicals forced widespread liberal reforms, and the 

independence-minded region of Catalonia and the Basque provinces achieved virtual 

autonomy. 
  

     The landed aristocracy, the church, and a large military clique opposed the Republic, and 

in November 1933 conservative forces regained control of the government in elections. In 

response, socialists launched a revolution in the mining districts of Asturias, and Catalan 

nationalists rebelled in Barcelona. General Franco crushed the so-called October Revolution 

on behalf of the conservative government, and in 1935 he was appointed army chief of staff. 

In February 1936, new elections brought the Popular Front, a leftist coalition, to power, and 

Franco, a strict monarchist, was sent to an obscure command in the Canary Islands off 

Africa. 
 

     Fearing that the liberal government would give way to Marxist revolution, army officers 

conspired to seize power. After a period of hesitation, Franco agreed to join the military 

conspiracy, which was scheduled to begin in Morocco at 5 a.m. on 18 JUL and then in Spain 

24 hours later. The difference in time was to allow the Army of Africa time to secure 

Morocco before being transported to Spain’s Andalusian coast by the navy. 
 

     On the afternoon of 17 JUL, the plan for the next morning was discovered in the 

Moroccan town of Melilla, and the rebels were forced into premature action. Melilla, Ceuta, 

and Tetuan were soon in the hands of the Nationalists, who were aided by conservative 
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Moroccan troops that also opposed the leftist government in Madrid. The Republican 

government learned of the revolt soon after it broke out but took few actions to prevent its 

spread to the mainland. 
 

     On 18 JUL, Spanish garrisons rose up in revolt all across Spain. Workers and peasants 

fought the uprising, but in many cities the Republican government denied them weapons, and 

the Nationalists soon gained control. In conservative regions, such as Old Castile and 

Navarre, the Nationalists seized control with little bloodshed, but in other regions, such as the 

fiercely independent city of Bilbao, they didn’t dare leave their garrisons. The Nationalist 

revolt in the Spanish navy largely failed, and warships run by committees of sailors were 

instrumental in securing a number of coastal cities for the Republic. Nevertheless, Franco 

managed to ferry his Army of Africa over from Morocco, and during the next few months 

Nationalist forces rapidly overran much of the Republican-controlled areas in central and 

northern Spain. Madrid was put under siege in November. 
 

     During 1937, Franco unified the Nationalist forces under the command of the Falange, 

Spain’s fascist party, while the Republicans fell under the sway of the communists. Germany 

and Italy aided Franco with an abundance of planes, tanks, and arms, while the Soviet Union 

aided the Republican side. In addition, thousands of communists and other radicals from 

France, the USSR, America, and elsewhere formed the International Brigades to aid the 

Republican cause. The most significant contribution of these foreign units was the successful 

defense of Madrid until the end of the war. 
 

     In June 1938, the Nationalists drove to the Mediterranean Sea and cut Republican territory 

in two. Later in the year, Franco mounted a major offensive against Catalonia. In January 

1939, its capital, Barcelona, was captured, and soon after, the rest of Catalonia fell. With the 

Republican cause all but lost, its leaders attempted to negotiate a peace, but Franco refused. 

On March 28, 1939, the Republicans finally surrendered Madrid, bringing the Spanish Civil 

War to an end. Up to a million lives were lost in the conflict, the most devastating in Spanish 

history. Franco subsequently served as dictator of Spain until his death in 1975. 

 

 Jul 18 1942 – WW2:  German Me–262, the first jet–propelled aircraft to fly in combat, 

makes its first flight using only its jet engines.   
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 Jul 18 1943 – WW2:  British assault Catania, Sicily. 

 

 Jul 18 1944 – WW2:  Russia’s Bobruysk Offensive into Poland   »   The final stage of this 

offensive, part of the overall Operation Bagration, began as Soviet troops crossed deep into 

Poland. They crossed the Bug River on 21 JUL and captured Lublin. They went on to the 

Vistula River which they reached by 2 AUG effectively ending Operation Bagration.  This 

was the biggest defeat of the Germany army during World War II. It pushed the German out 

of the Soviet Union, resulted in the death of close to 400,000 German soldiers with an 

additional 158,000 captured.  

 

 Jul 18 1944 – WW2:  U.S. Troops March into St Lo, France   »   The Battle of Saint-Lô is 

one of the three conflicts in the Battle of the Hedgerows, which took place between July 7-19 

just before Operation Cobra. Saint-Lô had fallen to Germany in 1940, and, after the Invasion 

of Normandy, the Americans targeted the city, as it served as a strategic crossroads. 

American bombardments caused heavy damage (up to 95% of the city was destroyed) and a 

high number of casualties, which resulted in the martyr city being called "The Capital of 

Ruins". 
 

 
Saint-Lô, 95% destroyed after the 1944 bombardments 

 

 Jul 18 1944 – WW2: Operation Goodwood (18-21 Jul)   »   The British Army's offensive in 

Normandy begins with an intense bombing raid by 1,728 heavy bombers and 412 medium 

bombers of Royal Air Force Bomber Command and the U.S. Army Air Forces' Eighth Air 

Force dropping 7,000 short tons of explosives on a 25-square-mile area of German defenses, 

with six British bombers shot down, followed up by attacks by 796 Allied fighter-bombers 

on any German ground forces found to have survived the bombing. The German defenders 

are able to recover far more quickly than the Allies had hoped, and Goodwood comes to a 

halt three days later after British and Commonwealth forces gain little ground and suffer 

large casualties. 
 

Also on this date: 
 

 Allies conduct air raid on railways at Vaires, Paris. 
 

 RAF Mosquitos attack Cologne and Berlin. 
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 British conduct air raid on German convoy SW of Heligoland. 
 

 British troops occupy Bourquebus hill range, Normandy. 
 

 Polish troops under General Anders occupy Ancona Italy. 

 

 Jul 18 1956 – Cold War:  United States Withdraws Offer Of Aid For Aswan Dam    »    

Secretary of State John Foster Dulles announces that the United States is withdrawing its 

offer of financial aid to Egypt to help with the construction of the Aswan Dam on the Nile 

River. The action drove Egypt further toward an alliance with the Soviet Union and was a 

contributing factor to the Suez Crisis later in 1956. 
 

     In December 1955, Secretary Dulles announced that the United States, together with 

Great Britain, was providing nearly $70 million in aid to Egypt to help in the construction of 

the Aswan Dam on the Nile River. Dulles had agreed to this assistance only reluctantly. He 

was deeply suspicious of Egyptian leader Gamal Abdel Nasser, who he believed to be a 

reckless and dangerous nationalist. However, others in the Eisenhower administration 

convinced Dulles that the American aid might pull Nasser back from his relationship with the 

Soviet Union and prevent the growth of Soviet power in the Middle East.  
 

     Just seven months after the announcement, however, Dulles declared that the American 

offer was being revoked. He cited difficulties in arranging the financial details of the U.S. 

grant with the Egyptian government, but his real motivation was Nasser’s unceasing attacks 

on Western colonialism and imperialism and Egypt’s continued dalliance with the Soviet 

Union. 
 

     Dulles might have believed that without the American aid, the dam project would fold. On 

this point, he was wrong. The Soviets rushed to Egypt’s aid, and the Aswan Dam was 

officially opened in 1964. Nasser, of course, was furious with the U.S. action. So, too, were 

the British, who believed that America’s withdrawal of aid had provided the opening for 

Soviet penetration of Egypt. In October 1956, British, French, and Israeli forces attacked 

Egypt, claiming that they were protecting the Suez Canal.  
 

     The incident nearly provoked a U.S.-Soviet confrontation, but President Dwight D. 

Eisenhower coupled stern warnings against any Soviet military action with a refusal to 

support the British, French and Israeli invasion. The invading forces withdrew from Egypt in 

early 1957. Nevertheless, the damage to U.S. relations with the Middle East was done and 

the area would remain a Cold War hotspot throughout the next 35 years. 

 

 Jul 18 1968 – Vietnam War:  Johnson Meets Vietnamese President in Honolulu   »   

President Lyndon B. Johnson meets South Vietnamese President Nguyen Van Thieu in 

Honolulu to discuss relations between Washington and Saigon. Johnson reaffirmed his 

administration’s commitment “to defend South Vietnam.” Thieu stated that he had “no 
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apprehensions at all” concerning the U.S. commitment. In a joint communique, Thieu further 

asserted that his government was determined “to continue to assume all the responsibility 

that the scale of forces of South Vietnam and their equipment will permit,” thus tacitly 

accepting current U.S. efforts to “Vietnamize” the war.  
 

     The two presidents also agreed that South Vietnam “should be a full participant playing a 

leading role in discussions concerning the substance of a final settlement” to the conflict. 

Johnson’s successor, Richard Nixon, made “Vietnamization” one of the pillars of his 

Vietnam policy. Under the plan, he directed that the combat capability of the South 

Vietnamese armed forces be improved so that they could ultimately assume full 

responsibility for the war and U.S. forces could be withdrawn. 

 

 Jul 18 1971 – Vietnam War:  New Zealand and Australia announce they will pull their 

troops out of Vietnam.  

 

 Jul 18 1972 – Vietnam War:  Soviet Union Agrees to Grant Hanoi Economic Aid    »   

Following a visit from Ho Chi Minh and his ministers, the Soviet Union announces that it 

will grant Hanoi 400 million rubles (about $100 million) in economic aid. On July 7, China 

had announced that Beijing would extend Hanoi economic aid of 800 million yuan (about 

$200 million). The July grants from China and the Soviet Union enabled Hanoi to initiate an 

ambitious industrialization program. In less than 10 years, the North was producing items not 

yet made in the South. Continued aid from Hanoi’s fellow communist nations would sustain 

North Vietnam in its war against the South Vietnamese and their American allies until 1975, 

when they defeated the South Vietnamese forces and reunified the country. 

 

 Jul 18 1972 – Cold War:  Russian Troop Expulsion/Withdrawal in Egypt    »    Then-

President of Egypt Anwar Sadat Anwar Sadat unexpectedly announced the expulsion of 

20,000 military advisors, giving as the reason for his decision the Soviet refusal to provide 

weapons to Egypt.  
 

      Traditionally, the Soviet troops were said to have been brought to Egyptian territory as a 

response to the Israeli introduction, in January 1970, of the first set of the Phantom planes, 

purchased from the United States, widening the radius of their strategic targets and bombing 

deeper into the Egyptian territory. However, recently declassified documents and interviews 

with Soviet veterans of the war revealed that all the preparatory work had been done before 

the Phantom American bombardment, as the first contingent was already in Egypt by 

December 1969.  
 

      Soviet pilots performed reconnaissance flights; the Soviet military deployed special 

services and radio-electronic scramble forces on Egyptian territory, turning the Israeli-Arab 

opposition into a competition with the United States over the best military technology. 

Another measure was bringing in a significant number of Soviet military advisors to train the 
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Egyptian Army. The Soviet Union preferred to be discreet about the degree of its 

involvement in the conflict, as none of the soldiers who had ever seen duty in Egypt had any 

record of this service in their files; however, the number of regular troops present in Egypt 

between 1967 and 1973 is estimated at 50,000. 
 

     Troops who left belonged to the regular forces who, by 1972, had already fulfilled their 

mission and were dismissed, while the Soviet military advisors resumed their service in 

Egypt, and the flow of military supplies to Egypt was not only not stopped, it was 

augmented. Since the Soviet Union never acknowledged that it deployed its regular forces in 

Egypt, and the United States preferred to keep quiet about knowing of it, both parties agreed 

to refer to the withdrawal of the regular troops as “the departure of advisors”. It was the 

United States’ Secretary of State, Henry Kissinger, who came up with the “expulsion” idea, 

later deeming it one his best diplomatic wins. 
 

     Both the Egyptian and Soviet governments did their best to make the withdrawal look like 

an expulsion, misleading the Israeli intelligence services. Israel believed that, without the 

help of the Soviet Union, the Arabs would never be strong enough to start a war. When they 

finally realized what was happening in reality, it was too late to take any preventative 

actions. This operation by the Soviet Union secured Anwar Sadat success in the forced 

crossing of the Suez Canal in 1973, and restored Arab military dignity, shattered after defeat 

in the Six Day War of 1967. 

 

 Jul 18 1980 – U.S. SSS:  Federal court voids Selective Service Act as it doesn't include 

women. 

 

 Jul 18 1989 – U.S. Air Force:   B-2 Stealth bomber First Flight    »   After a decade of 

development and $22 billion in expenditures, the B-2 Stealth bomber got off the ground for 

the first time, making a two-hour test flight over the California desert without mishap. 

 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 19 1779 – American Revolution:  Massachusetts Begins Ill-Fated Penobscot Expedition   

»    Massachusetts, without consulting either Continental political or military authorities, 

launches a 4,000-man naval expedition commanded by Commodore Dudley Saltonstall, 

Adjutant General Peleg Wadsworth, Brigadier General Solomon Lovell and Lieutenant 

Colonel Paul Revere. The expedition consisted of 19 warships, 24 transport ships and more 

than 1,000 militiamen. Their objective was to capture a 750-man British garrison at Castine 

on the Penobscot Peninsula, in what would later become Maine. 
 

     The expedition arrived on 25 JUL and proceeded to launch a series of inconclusive land 

attacks, leaving Patriot naval forces underutilized and allowing the British plenty of time to 

send for reinforcements. The land commander, Brig. Gen. Lovell, began to retreat at the 
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arrival of Sir George Collier’s seven British warships, expecting Saltonstall to engage in a 

naval battle. Saltonstall, however, did not fight for long: the naval engagement concluded in 

total disaster on 14 AUG, when Saltonstall surprised both Patriot and British commanders by 

fleeing upriver and burning his own ships. The Patriots lost in excess of 470 men, as well as 

numerous Continental Navy and Massachusetts ships that were burned during the retreat. The 

British achieved their victory at a cost of only 13 men. 
 

     Saltonstall and Paul Revere later faced court martial because of the fiasco. Saltonstall lost 

his commission, but Revere won acquittal. By contrast, Peleg Wadsworth, who served as 

Revere’s second-in-command, won acclaim for his performance in the engagement. He had 

organized the retreat, which was the only well-executed aspect of the mission. Wadsworth’s 

family continued to play a celebrated role in American history: his grandson was the famed 

poet, Henry Wadsworth Longfellow. The failed Penobscot expedition was considered the 

worst naval disaster in American history until the surprise Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor in 

1941, more than 160 years later. 

 

 Jul 19 1814 – War of 1812:  British Capture of Prairie du Chien, WI    »   The importance 

of the siege of Prairie du Chien (Wisconsin) does not come from the battle itself but rather in 

what it meant to both the British and Americans. The battle was a means to gain and maintain 

control in the Northwest and its fur trading industry with the natives in the area for the 

British. While the Americans sought to gain a foothold in the region for themselves. 
 

     British forces arrived in the morning of July 17th, to the see of the fort still under 

construction. The commander of the British forces was Thomas Anderson, he had under his 

command a force of about 650 men. These men where comprised of British regulars, 

volunteers, local militia, and warriors from the Menominee, Winnebago, and Fox tribes. 

Upon his arrival sent a message to the Americans asking for their surrender. The Americans 

under the command of Lieutenant Joseph Perkins only numbered a mere 60 refused the offer 

to surrender. After his offer was rejected the commander got his men ready to lay siege to the 

fort.  
 

     Throughout the next day (18th) both sides exchanged gunfire, with the British 3 pound gun 

having little effect on the fort. Becoming increasingly agitated about having gained no 

ground Anderson, began making plans to shoot red hot cannon balls into the fort to set it 

ablaze. On the third day (19th) the Americans where running low on supplies and 

ammunitions and “at the moment the first ball was about to be put into the cannon a white 

flag was put out  at the fort immediately an officer came down with a note of surrender 
 

      The British took over the fort and renamed it fort McKay after the commander of the 

attacking force. Taking all the supplies that the American troops had left they set the 

prisoners back down the Mississippi to St. Louis. Having completely regained control of the 

Northwest region and the fur trading with the Natives the British forces had truly managed a 

victory. McKay left Anderson in Charge and left to return to fort Mackinac. Anderson having 
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no real military background set about to do his best. The British maintained their presence at 

the fort until hearing of the treaty in the spring of 1815. The United States had regained 

control of the fort through the treaty so the British where forced to leave. Before they left 

though the burned it to the ground as to leave nothing behind for the Americans. 

 

 Jul 19 1863 – Civil War:  Morgan’s Raiders Defeated at Buffington Island, OH  »  

Confederate General John Hunt Morgan’s raid into Union-held territory is dealt a serious 

blow when a large part of his force is captured as they try to escape across the Ohio River at 

Buffington Island, Ohio. Cut off from the south, Morgan fled north with the remnants of his 

command and was captured a week later at Salineville, Ohio. 
 

 
 

     This was the last and most daring of Morgan’s four raids into Union-held territory. The 

main purpose of the raid was to take pressure off of Chattanooga, Tennessee, by drawing 

Union troops away from the army of General William Rosecrans. It began on July 2 at 

Burkesville, Kentucky, and continued into Indiana. Morgan departed with more than 2,400 

troopers, but he split his force on two occasions, and suffered many casualties in skirmishes 

with Federal detachments. 
 

     Morgan and his forces rode east into Ohio and feigned an advance toward a panicked 

Cincinnati, but bypassed the city and continued eastward to Pomeroy, Ohio. His men were 

worn down by the long days in the saddle, and the Yankee pursuit finally caught up at 

Buffington Island, just outside of Pomeroy. While Morgan made plans to cross the swollen 

Ohio River, Federal gunboats guarded the fords and Union cavalry attacked the 

Confederates. In a short time, Morgan lost 800 men, nearly all of who were captured. 
 

     Morgan escaped with 400 of his men, and fled north in search of a more suitable place to 

cross the river–which they never found. Morgan surrendered on 26 JUL. 

 

 Jul 19 1864 – Civil War:  Third Battle of Winchester, VA (Stephenson's Depot)   »   The 

battle was fought just outside Winchester, Virginia during the Valley Campaigns of 1864. 

Maj. Gen. Philip H. Sheridan Army of the Shenandoah consisting of 40,000 troops defeated 
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Confederate Lt. Gen. Jubal A. Early’s 10-12,000 man Army of the Valley. Casualties and 

losses: Union 5,020 – CSA 3,610.  
 

     The battle marked a turning point in the Shenandoah Valley in favor of the North. Early's 

army for the most part remained intact but suffered further defeats at Fisher's Hill and Tom's 

Brook. Exactly a month later, the Valley Campaigns came to a close after Early's defeat at 

the Battle of Cedar Creek. Victory in the Valley, along with other Union victories in the fall 

of 1864, helped win re-election for Abraham Lincoln, as Sheridan would later point out as a 

male attempted to oust Wright from her government job. 
 

     The battle was particularly damaging due to the number of casualties among key 

commanders. In the Union army, Brig. Gen. David A. Russell was killed and Brig. Gens. 

Emory Upton, George H. Chapman, and John B. McIntosh were seriously wounded. 

Confederate Maj. Gen. Robert E. Rodes was killed and Maj. Gen. Fitzhugh Lee, Brig. Gens. 

William Terry, Archibald C. Godwin, and Col. William Wharton were wounded. Also 

among the Confederate dead was Col. George S. Patton, Sr. His grandson and namesake 

would become the famous U.S. general of World War II, George S. Patton, Jr. 

 

 Jul 19 1919 – Post WWI:  Cenotaph is Unveiled in London   »   The Cenotaph, a monument 

to those killed or wounded during the First World War, is unveiled in Whitehall, London, 

during the first Peace Day celebration. 
 

 
 

     Designed and built by Edwin Lutyens, at the request of Prime Minister David Lloyd 

George, the Cenotaph (literally “empty tomb” in Greek) was initially a wood and plaster 

construction created in less than two weeks. Inspired by the example of the French, who were 

planning their own similar celebration for July 14, 1919, Lloyd George envisioned the 

monument as one small part of a whole day of events commemorating the Allied victory in 

World War I, which had ended in an armistice the previous November. In early July, the 

prime minister formally commissioned Lutyens, who was forced to design and construct a 

monument to mark the endpoint of London’s victory parade in less than two weeks. 
 

     Within an hour of the Cenotaph’s unveiling on the morning of July 19, 1919, onlookers 

had piled wreaths of flowers high around its base. The parade that day included Allied 

military leaders such as Douglas Haig, the British commander in chief; Ferdinand Foch, the 

Allied supreme commander during the last year of the war; and John J. Pershing, head of the 
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American Expeditionary Force (AEF) that served in World War I; along with some 15,000 

Allied soldiers. In the florid words of the Morning Post newspaper: “Near the memorial there 

were moments of silence when the dead seemed very near, when one almost heard the 

passage of countless wings–were not the fallen gathering in their hosts to receive their 

comrades’ salute and take their share in the triumph they had died to win?” 
 

     Immediately, discussions began in the press and within Parliament over the possibility of 

making the Cenotaph a permanent memorial to the fallen. Some believed the monument–

located in the middle of highly-trafficked streets near Whitehall–should be moved, though 

Luytens himself greatly objected to this proposition, believing that now that the monument 

had been “qualified by the salute of Foch and the Allied armies and by our men and their 

great leaders? No other site would give this pertinence.” On 30 JUL, the British Cabinet 

decided that that Cenotaph should be erected again, this time permanently, at the same 

location. 
 

     The current monument, cast in Portland Stone, was unveiled in 1920, with a simple 

inscription commemorating “The Glorious Dead.” Each year, on the Sunday closest to 

November 11–Armistice, or Remembrance Day–a service is held at the Cenotaph in honor of 

British and Commonwealth servicemen and women who died during the two World Wars as 

well as later conflicts. Attended by the British royal family and political and religious 

leaders, as well as representatives from the armed forces, the service has not changed greatly 

since its introduction: it features the singing of hymns, an offering of prayers and the 

observation of two-minutes of silence, ending with a march of war veterans in a show of 

respect for their fallen countrymen. 

 

 Jul 19 1919 – Post WWI:  The Luton Riots   »   Following Peace Day celebrations marking 

the end of the First World ex-servicemen and their families, angered by extravagant publicly-

funded victory celebrations while they were unemployed and poor, took to the streets in 

protest.  They were unhappy with unemployment and other grievances, rioted, and burnt 

down the Luton Town Hall.  

 

 Jul 19 1940 – WW2:  Nazi occupiers imprison 231 prominent Dutch citizens in Buchenwald 

concentration camp. 

 

 Jul 19 1940 – WW2:  Nazi occupiers in Netherlands forbid anti-nazi films 

 

 Jul 19 1940 – WW2:  Adolf Hitler orders Great Britain to surrender. 

 

 Jul 19 1941 – WW2:  Tuskegee Air Base Opens for First Black U.S. Military Airmen  »   In 

JAN 1941 the war department formed the all-black Squadron of the Army Air Corps (later 

the Army Air Force), to be trained using single-engine planes at the segregated Tuskegee 
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Army air field at Tuskegee, Alabama.   The NAACP, the black press, and others had been 

lobbying hard for the government to allow African Americans to become military pilots.  But 

neither the NAACP nor the most-involved black newspapers approved the solution of 

creating separate black units; they believed that approach simply perpetuated segregation and 

discrimination.   
 

 
 

     Nevertheless, largely at the behest of President Franklin D. Roosevelt, a separate unit was 

created.  The Tuskegee base open on 19 JUL and the first class graduated the following 

MAR. Lt. Col Benjamin Oliver Davis, Jr., became the squadron’s commander.  Altogether, 

992 pilots graduated from the Tuskegee Air Field courses, and they flew 1,578 missions and 

15,533 sorties, destroyed 261 enemy aircraft, and won more than 850 medals. 

 

 Jul 19 1941 – WW2:  British PM Winston Churchill Launches His "V For Victory" 

Campaign   »   BBC radio host Col. V. Britton broadcast a special message from Prime 

Minister Winston Churchill to the occupied countries of Europe: “The V sign is the symbol 

of the unconquerable will of the occupied territories and a portent of the fate awaiting Nazi 

tyranny. So long as the peoples continue to refuse all collaboration with the invader it is sure 

that his cause will perish and that Europe will be liberated.” Thus was launched the “V for 

Victory” campaign, the most successful propaganda campaign in history. 
 

     It was inspired by a Belgian refugee named (appropriately enough) Victor de Laveleye 

who, in his program broadcast to the Low Countries on the evening of Jan. 14, 1941, said, “I 

am proposing to you as a rallying emblem, the letter V because V is the first letter of the 

words ‘victoire’ [victory] in French.” He went on to add that it was also the first letter of the 

Flemish and Dutch word for “freedom” [vrijeid], and, of course, “victory” in English, thus 

making it a multinational symbol of solidarity for the oppressed. De Laveleye then called on 

the people in the occupied Low Countries to “multiply this emblem” by writing it 

everywhere so that “the occupier, by seeing this sign, always the same, infinitely repeated, 

understand that he is surrounded, encircled, by an immense crowd of citizens eagerly 

awaiting his first moment of weakness, watching for his first failure.” 
 

     The suggestion took hold in Belgium and quickly spread to the Netherlands and northern 

France. Eventually word reached England about the widespread use of V graffito, inspiring 

what The New York Times called “a unique nerve war against Germany.” It began with a 
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BBC radio show broadcast to the occupied countries hosted by Colonel V. Britton, the cover 

for individuals fluent in the native languages of the various audiences. In his broadcasts, 

Britton reminded his listeners to use the V as a means to fight “for your country’s 

independence and honor and that of the other nations enslaved by the Nazi regime.” 
 

      Not long after the July broadcast, an observation was made that the Morse telegraphic 

code for V was three dots and a dash (. . . —) which was also the beat of the opening notes of 

Beethoven’s Fifth Symphony. That passage was promptly put to a variety of propaganda 

uses, including the theme song for Britton’s program. Churchill began flashing the V sign 

with his index and middle finger, palm out, doing it so often that it essentially became his 

signature. The campaign, to use modern terminology, soon went viral. 
 

 
Churchill flashes the V sign 

 

     The Morse code beat proved particularly versatile. People could pound it out with their 

feet, clap it with their hands, tap it out at work, school, and restaurants – everywhere. And, 

since V was also the first letter of the German word for victory – viktoria – there was nothing 

the furious Nazi propaganda minister Josef Goebbels could do to stop it. He paid the 

campaign the ultimate compliment by trying to usurp it – claiming that because the campaign 

used the notes from a symphony written by a German composer, it supported German 

victory. Didn’t work. 
 

     Even though still neutral, it caught on in the United States. As early as August 1941, 

envelopes appeared with “V for Victory” and the Morse code V printed on them. Posters, 

stamps, and other ephemera followed. The New York-based British American Ambulance 

Corps noted, “Never before in the world’s history has an inspiration like the ‘V for Victory’ 

idea been so universally accepted by freemen the world over.” Initially American use 

expressed support for England. After America entered the war, the campaign was officially 

made a part of the government’s efforts. 
 

     The campaign even lent its name to a new class of correspondence: V-mail, or “V . . . — 

MAIL,” as it was printed on the stationery. Essentially Eastman Kodak’s library microfilm 

system adapted for military use, V-mail was a photograph of a one-page sheet of special V-
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mail stationery reduced to 4-¼ inches by 5-¼ inches. By April 1944, 63 million V-mail 

letters a month were being shipped to military personnel around the world. 

 

 Jul 19 1942 – WW2:  In the Battle of the Atlantic German Grand Admiral Karl Dönitz 

orders the last U-boats to withdraw from their United States Atlantic coast as a result of 

American anti–submarine countermeasures. 

 

 Jul 19 1943 – WW2:  U.S. Bombs Rome   »   The United States bombs railway yards in 

Rome in an attempt to break the will of the Italian people to resist—as Hitler lectures their 

leader, Benito Mussolini, on how to prosecute the war further. Bombing of Rome was 

controversial, and General Henry H. Arnold described Vatican City as a "hot potato" because 

of the importance of Catholics in the U.S. Armed Forces. British public opinion, however, 

was more aligned towards the bombing of the city, due to the participation of Italian planes 

in The Blitz over London. H.G. Wells was a particularly vocal proponent of doing so. In the 

110,000 sorties that comprised the Allied Rome air campaign, 600 aircraft were lost and 

3,600 air crew members died; 60,000 tons of bombs were dropped in the 78 days before 

Rome was captured by the Allies on June 4, 1944 
 

 
Inscription on the wall of a bombed building, translated as "Work of the Liberators” 

 

     On 16 JUL, President Franklin Roosevelt and British Prime Minister Winston Churchill 

appealed to the Italian civilian population to reject Mussolini and Hitler and “live for Italy 

and civilization.” As an “incentive,” American bombers raided the city, destroying its 

railways. Panic broke out among the Romans. Convinced by Mussolini that the Allies would 

never bomb the holy city, civilians poured into the Italian capital for safety. The bombing did 

more than shake their security in the city—it shook their confidence in their leader. 
 

     The denizens of Rome were not alone in such disillusion. In a meeting in northern Italy, 

Hitler attempted to revive the flagging spirits of Il Duce, as well as point out his deficiencies 

as a leader. Afraid that Mussolini, having suffered successive military setbacks, would sue 

for a separate peace, leaving the Germans alone to battle it out with Allied forces along the 

Italian peninsula, Hitler decided to meet with his onetime role model to lecture him on the 

manly art of war. Mussolini remained uncharacteristically silent during the harangue, partly 

due to his own poor German (he would request a translated synopsis of the meeting later), 
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partly due to his fear of Hitler’s response should he tell the truth—that Italy was beaten and 

could not continue to fight.  
 

     Mussolini kept up the charade for his German allies: Italy would press on. But no one 

believed the brave front anymore. Just a day later, Hitler secretly ordered Field Marshal 

Erwin Rommel to take command of the occupied Greek Islands, better to “pounce on Italy” if 

and when Mussolini capitulated to the United States.  

 

 Jul 19 1944 – WW2:   1,200+ 8th US Air Force bombers bomb targets in SW Germany.   
 

Also on this date: 
 

 500 15th US Air Force Liberators/Flying Fortresses bomb Munich vicinity. 
 

 Allied troops occupy Faubourg de Vaucelles, at Caen. 
 

 Danish resistance fails in assault on Taarbaek Fort near Copenhagen. 
 

 Japanese aircraft carriers Taiho and Shokaku sink in Marianas. 

 

 Jul 19 1945 – WW2:  USS Cod saves 51 sailors from Dutch sub in only sub-to-sub rescue. 

 

 Jul 19 1956 – Cold War:  United States Withdraws Aid Offer for Aswan Dam   »   Secretary 

of State John Foster Dulles announces that the United States is withdrawing its offer of 

financial aid to Egypt to help with the construction of the Aswan Dam on the Nile River. The 

action drove Egypt further toward an alliance with the Soviet Union and was a contributing 

factor to the Suez Crisis later in 1956. 
 

 
 

     In December 1955, Secretary Dulles announced that the United States, together with 

Great Britain, was providing nearly $70 million in aid to Egypt to help in the construction of 

the Aswan Dam on the Nile River. Dulles had agreed to this assistance only reluctantly. He 

was deeply suspicious of Egyptian leader Gamal Abdel Nasser, who he believed to be a 

reckless and dangerous nationalist. However, others in the Eisenhower administration 

convinced Dulles that the American aid might pull Nasser back from his relationship with the 

Soviet Union and prevent the growth of Soviet power in the Middle East. Just seven months 

after the announcement, however, Dulles declared that the American offer was being 

revoked. He cited difficulties in arranging the financial details of the U.S. grant with the 
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Egyptian government, but his real motivation was Nasser’s unceasing attacks on Western 

colonialism and imperialism and Egypt’s continued dalliance with the Soviet Union. 
 

     Dulles might have believed that without the American aid, the dam project would fold. On 

this point, he was wrong. The Soviets rushed to Egypt’s aid, and the Aswan Dam was 

officially opened in 1964. Nasser, of course, was furious with the U.S. action. So, too, were 

the British, who believed that America’s withdrawal of aid had provided the opening for 

Soviet penetration of Egypt. In October 1956, British, French, and Israeli forces attacked 

Egypt, claiming that they were protecting the Suez Canal. The incident nearly provoked a 

U.S.-Soviet confrontation, but President Dwight D. Eisenhower coupled stern warnings 

against any Soviet military action with a refusal to support the British, French, and Israeli 

invasion. The invading forces withdrew from Egypt in early 1957. Nevertheless, the damage 

to U.S. relations with the Middle East was done and the area would remain a Cold War 

hotspot throughout the next 35 years. 
 

 Jul 19 1964 – Vietnam War:  President Khanh Calls for Expanding the War  »   On what 

the South Vietnamese call the “Day of Shame”–the 10th anniversary of the signing of the 

Geneva Accords that partitioned Vietnam–South Vietnamese Premier Nguyen Khanh, at a 

rally in Saigon, calls for an expansion of the war to North Vietnam. Ambassador Maxwell 

Taylor and other U.S. officials present declined comment on Khanh’s position, but it was 

known that the United States regarded this as breaking an agreement to consult with 

Washington before issuing such a call. 
 

 Jul 19 1972– Vietnam War:  Peace Talks Resume   »   Washington and Hanoi announce 

that the private Paris peace talks have resumed. Henry Kissinger and North Vietnamese 

negotiator Le Duc Tho conferred for over six hours and, by mutual agreement, neither side 

revealed details of the meetings. The talks had been suspended when the North Vietnamese 

had launched their Nguyen Hue Offensive earlier in the year. 
 

     Though the peace talks resumed, heavy fighting continued in South Vietnam. A force of 

8,000 to 10,000 South Vietnamese troops moved north toward the district capital at Hoi An 

in the communist-controlled Binh Dinh province. The troop movement marked the beginning 

of a counteroffensive in the coastal province to retake territory lost to the communists in the 

early days of the Nguyen Hue Offensive. Saigon’s forces succeeded in taking Hoi An two 

days later, but lost the western half of the city one week after that. 

 

 Jul 19 1981– Cold War:  Farewell Dossier   »   French president François Mitterrand 

privately showed U.S. president Ronald Reagan a dossier revealing that the Soviets had been 

stealing American technological research and development.  . 
 

     The Dossier was the collection of documents that Colonel Vladimir Vetrov, a KGB 

defector "en place" (code-named "Farewell"), gathered and gave to the Direction de la 

surveillance du territoire (DST) in 1981–82, during the Cold War. Vetrov was an engineer 
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who had been assigned to evaluate information on NATO hardware and software gathered by 

the "Line X" technical intelligence operation for Directorate T, the Soviet Union directorate 

for scientific and technical intelligence collection from the West. He became increasingly 

disillusioned with the Soviet system and decided to work with the French at the end of the 

1970s. Between early 1981 and early 1982, Vetrov gave almost 4,000 secret documents to 

the DST, including the complete list of 250 Line X officers stationed under legal cover in 

embassies around the world. 
 

     As a consequence, Western nations undertook a mass expulsion of Soviet technology 

spies. The CIA also mounted a counter-intelligence operation that transferred modified 

hardware and software designs to the Soviets. Thomas Reed alleged this was the cause of a 

trans-Siberian pipeline disaster in 1982; however this claim has been challenged. Eventually, 

Vetrov's defection led to his death. "Vetrov fell into a tragic episode with a woman and a 

fellow KGB officer in a Moscow park. In circumstances that are not clear, he stabbed and 

killed the officer and then stabbed but did not kill the woman. He was arrested, and, in the 

ensuing investigation, his espionage activities were discovered; he was eventually executed 

in 1985.  

 

 Jul 19 1982– U.S.*Lebanon:  David S Dodge becomes 1st American Hostage in Lebanon    

»   Dodge was abducted from the  American University of Beirut campus by pro-Iranian 

Shiite Muslim extremists, flown to a prison near Tehran, and held until his release exactly 

one year later. "The kidnapping, and the ensuing diplomatic efforts to secure Mr. Dodge’s 

release, received worldwide news coverage." The Syrian government helped secure his 

release from Iran, after being held initially in Lebanon. The kidnapping was considered 

significant because it directly implicated Iran in the hostage-taking activities of Shiite 

factions in Lebanon. Dodge was one of the first Americans kidnapped. Some hostages were 

killed and others released after many years, including Terry A. Anderson. Malcolm H. Kerr, 

who succeeded Dodge as president of AUB, was shot and killed outside his AUB office in 

January 1984. 

 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 20 1864 – Civil War:  Confederates Attack at the Battle of Peachtree Creek   »   General 

John Bell Hood’s Confederate forces attack William T. Sherman’s troops outside of Atlanta, 

Georgia at the Battle of Peachtree Creek, but are repulsed with heavy losses. 
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     This was Hood’s first battle as head of the Army of Tennessee. He had assumed the 

command from Joseph Johnston just two days before when Confederate President Jefferson 

Davis replaced Johnston after Sherman backed the Confederate general’s troops into Atlanta. 

For nearly three months, Sherman had pushed Johnston southward from Chattanooga, 

Tennessee, to Atlanta. Johnston had blocked each of Sherman’s flanking maneuvers, but in 

doing so he lost territory. Davis finally lost patience with Johnston, and selected the more 

offensive-minded Hood to defeat Sherman. 
 

     Hood wasted little time. He planned to strike the Army of the Cumberland, commanded 

by General George Thomas, as it crossed Peachtree Creek. The waterway was deep, and the 

Confederates destroyed all bridges on their retreat into the outskirts of Atlanta. Hood 

suspected that the Yankees were most vulnerable when only part of their force was across the 

creek so he planned a two-pronged assault to hold part of Thomas’ army at bay while the rest 

could be pinned against Peachtree Creek. 
 

     It was a sound plan, but poor execution doomed the operation. Scheduled for 1:00 p.m. on 

20 JUL, the attack was delayed for three hours while Hood’s troops shifted into position. The 

overall assault lacked a general coordination, so units charged the Union positions piecemeal. 

Twenty thousand Rebels assaulted the same number of Yankees, but the delay proved costly. 

The Confederates achieved some success, but could not drive the Union troops back into 

Peachtree Creek. After three hours, Hood ordered a halt to the advance. Casualties and 

losses: US 1,900 - CSA 2,500. 
 

     Hood was not deterred. Two days later, he attacked Sherman’s forces again at the Battle 

of Atlanta. Union troops under General William T. Sherman.  

 

 Jul 20 1864 – Civil War:  Battle of Rutherford's Farm   »   The battle, also known as 

Carter's Farm and Stephenson's Depot, was a small engagement between Confederate forces 

under Maj. Gen. Stephen D. Ramseur and Union forces under Brig. Gen. William W. Averell 

on in Frederick County, Virginia as part of Confederate Lt. Gen. Jubal Early's Valley 

Campaign, resulting in a Union victory. 
 

     Ramseur's division arrived at Winchester, VA the morning of 20 JUL, whereupon he 

dispatched his cavalry to scout the enemy's position. Confederate skirmishers found the 

Union encampment at Bunker Hill about 7 a.m. and reported their presence to Ramseur. At 9 
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a.m Averell's force broke camp and set down the Valley Turnpike, fighting the Confederate 

skirmishers the entire way. By 11 a.m the Federals arrived at Stephenson's Depot where they 

encountered Confederate dismounted cavalry supported by artillery on a small ridge. The 

artillery opened fire halting the Union advance and prompting Averell to bring up his 

artillery, leading to a protracted duel. 
 

     About 2 p.m, a courier was sent to Ramseur apprising him of the developments and 

recommending that the infantry be brought up to ambush the Union force. Despite orders to 

stay within the defenses of Winchester, Ramseur saw the chance for a great victory and 

agreed with the recommendation, dispatching his infantry to the developing battle. Within the 

hour the infantry arrived and was concealed in a woods atop the ridge. As the Confederate 

infantry was arriving, the Union assault got underway. As the Union charge approached the 

woods, the concealed Confederate infantry unleashed a volley of musket fire that checked the 

Union advance and threatened to turn its left. 
 

     Unfortunately for the Confederates, the woods in which they hid formed an acute angle 

with the Turnpike, leaving their left protruding towards the Union advance. Union cavalry 

covering the Union right soon smashed into the exposed Confederate left flank, turning it. 

The Confederate center and right continued to deliver devastating fire against the Union 

center and left, but slowly regiment by regiment of the Confederate left began to turn in full 

retreat towards Winchester until finally the whole Confederate line collapsed in retreat. 

Despite Ramseur's effort, the line could not be reassembled before it reached the defenses of 

Winchester. Still unsure of the whereabouts of the rest of the opposing army, Averell 

declined to pursue the retreating Confederates, thus ending the battle. 
 

     The battle resulted in a resounding Union victory, but strategically resulted in little else 

except some much needed boosting of Union morale after a string of defeats by Early's 

veteran troops. The evacuation of Winchester continued undisturbed, and Ramseur, despite 

his insubordination resulting in unnecessary losses, received nothing more than stern talk 

from Confederate Lt. Gen. Jubal Early. Casualties and losses: Union 36 killed, 184 wounded 

- CSA 200 killed & wounded, 250 prisoners. 

 

 Jul 20 1881 – Native Americans:  Sitting Bull Surrenders   »   Five years after General 

George A. Custer’s infamous defeat at the Battle of Little Bighorn, Hunkpapa Teton Sioux 

leader Sitting Bull surrenders to the U.S. Army, which promises amnesty for him and his 

followers. Sitting Bull had been a major leader in the 1876 Sioux uprising that resulted in the 

death of Custer and 264 of his men at Little Bighorn. Pursued by the U.S. Army after the 

Indian victory, he escaped to Canada with his followers. 
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     Born in the Grand River Valley in what is now South Dakota, Sitting Bull gained early 

recognition in his Sioux tribe as a capable warrior and a man of vision. In 1864, he fought 

against the U.S. Army under General Alfred Sully at Killdeer Mountain and thereafter 

dedicated himself to leading Sioux resistance against white encroachment. He soon gained a 

following in not only his own tribe but in the Cheyenne and Arapaho Native American 

groups as well. In 1867, he was made principal chief of the entire Sioux nation. 
 

     In 1873, in what would serve as a preview of the Battle of Little Bighorn three years later, 

an Indian military coalition featuring the leadership of Sitting Bull skirmished briefly with 

Lieutenant Colonel George Armstrong Custer. In 1876, Sitting Bull was not a strategic leader 

in the U.S. defeat at Little Bighorn, but his spiritual influence inspired Crazy Horse and the 

other victorious Indian military leaders. He subsequently fled to Canada, but in 1881, with 

his people starving, he returned to the United States and surrendered. 
 

     He was held as a prisoner of war at Fort Randall in South Dakota territory for two years 

and then was permitted to live on Standing Rock Reservation straddling North and South 

Dakota territory. In 1885, he traveled for a season with Buffalo Bill Cody’s Wild West show 

and then returned to Standing Rock. In 1889, the spiritual proclamations of Sitting Bull 

influenced the rise of the “Ghost Dance,” an Indian religious movement that proclaimed that 

the whites would disappear and the dead Indians and buffalo would return. 
 

     His support of the Ghost Dance movement had brought him into disfavor with 

government officials, and on December 15, 1890, Indian police burst into Sitting Bull’s 

house in the Grand River area of South Dakota and attempted to arrest him. There is 

confusion as to what happened next. By some accounts, Sitting Bull’s warriors shot the 

leader of the police, who immediately turned and gunned down Sitting Bull. In another 

account, the police were instructed by Major James McLaughlin, director of the Standing 

Rock Sioux Agency, to kill the chief at any sign of resistance. Whatever the case, Sitting Bull 

was fatally shot and died within hours. The Indian police hastily buried his body at Fort 

Yates within the Standing Rock Reservation. In 1953, his remains were moved into 

Mobridge, South Dakota, where a granite shaft marks his resting place. 

 

 Jul 20 1917 – WWI:  Draft Lottery Held   »   Selective conscription was put into effect with 

a national lottery to fix the order of military liability for the 10,000,000 young Americans 

registered for service. To accomplish the result, 10,500 numbers were planned to be drawn 
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one at a time, a task which began at 10 a.m. The lottery was held in the public hearing room 

of the Senate office building, with War Department officials in charge of the actual drawing, 

and with members of the Senate and House military committees as witnesses. 
 

 
 

     The Secretary of War, Mr. Baker drew the first number and announced it to be number 

"258". The lottery selected the initial 1,374,000 men for examination to provide 687,000 of 

first increment troops. When the 10,004th capsule was drawn at 1:30 a. m. it was found to be 

a blank, the first to be found in the drawing. Gen. Crowder ordered a space to be left blank 

and the next number to be drawn. As the 10,500 numbers were more than enough to cover 

the men needed or listed, the effect of this blank was negligible. The last number was drawn 

at 2:18 a.m. was No. 2. a.m. It was the 10,312th to be drawn. 

 

 Jul 20 1933 – Holocaust:  Two-hundred Jewish merchants are arrested in Nuremberg and 

paraded through the streets. 

 

 Jul 20 1942 – WW2:  Women's Army Corps   »   The first detachment of the Women’s Army 

Auxiliary Corps – later known as WACs – began basic training at Fort Des Moines, Iowa. 

About 150,000 American women eventually served in the WAAC and WAC during World 

War II. They were the first women other than nurses to serve with the Army. While 

conservative opinion in the leadership of the Army and public opinion generally was initially 

opposed to women serving in uniform, the shortage of men necessitated a new policy. While 

most women served stateside, some went to various places around the world, including 

Europe, North Africa, and New Guinea. For example, WACs landed on Normandy Beach 

just a few weeks after the initial invasion. 
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Women with the Women's Army Corps stand at Seventh and Locust streets  

in Des Moines, Iowa, October 1942. 
 

     In 1943 the recruiting momentum stopped and went into reverse as a massive slander 

campaign on the home front challenged the WACs as sexually immoral. Many soldiers 

ferociously opposed allowing women in uniform, warning their sisters and friends they 

would be seen as lesbians or prostitutes. Other sources were from other women - 

servicemen's and officer's wives' idle gossip, local women who disliked the newcomers 

taking over "their town", female civilian employees resenting the competition (for both jobs 

and men), charity and volunteer organizations who resented the extra attention the WAACs 

received, and complaints and slander spread by disgruntled or discharged WAACs. All 

investigations showed the rumors were false 

 

 Jul 20 1944 – WW2:  Adolf Hitler Assassination Plot Fails    »   Claus von Stauffenberg and 

other conspirators attempted to assassinate Adolf Hitler, Führer of Nazi Germany, inside his 

Wolf's Lair field headquarters near Rastenburg, East Prussia. The name Operation 

Valkyrie—originally referring to part of the conspiracy—has become associated with the 

entire event. 
  

   
Martin Bormann, Hermann Göring, and Bruno Loerzer surveying the damaged conference room caused by Claus 

von Stauffenberg’s (right) failed attempt   
 

    The apparent aim of the assassination attempt was to wrest political control of Germany 

and its armed forces from the Nazi Party (including the SS) and to make peace with the 

Western Allies as soon as possible. The details of the conspirators' peace initiatives remain 
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unknown, but they would have included unrealistic demands for the confirmation of 

Germany's extensive annexations of European territory. 
 

     The plot was the culmination of efforts by several groups in the German resistance to 

overthrow the Nazi German government. The failure of the assassination attempt and the 

intended military coup d'état that was to follow led the Gestapo to arrest more than 7,000 

people, of whom they executed 4,980. 
 

Also on this date 
 

 Death March of 1,200 Jews from Lipcani, Moldavia (a border town with Romania) 

begins 

 

 Jul 20 1945 – Post WW2:  The U.S. flag was raised over Berlin as the first U.S. troops 

moved in to take part in the post-World War II occupation 

 

 Jul 20 1948 – Cold War:  Truman Issues Peacetime Draft   »   President Harry S. Truman 

institutes a military draft with a proclamation calling for nearly 10 million men to register for 

military service within the next two months. Truman’s action came during increasing Cold 

War tensions with the Soviet Union. 
 

 
 

    Following World War II, the United States moved quickly to demobilize the vast military 

it had constructed during the conflict. During the war, more than 16 million men and women 

served in the U.S. military; when the war ended in August 1945, the American people 

demanded rapid demobilization. By 1948, less than 550,000 men remained in the U.S. Army. 

This rapid decline in the size of America’s military concerned U.S. government officials, 

who believed that a confrontation with the Soviet Union was imminent. During the years 

following World War II, relations between the Russians and Americans deteriorated rapidly. 

In 1947, the president issued the Truman Doctrine, which provided aid to Greece and Turkey 

to oppose communist subversion. In that same year, Secretary of State George C. Marshall 

warned that Western Europe was on the brink of political and economic chaos that would 

leave it defenseless against communist aggression; the following year, Congress approved 

billions of dollars in financial assistance to the beleaguered nations.  
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     In June 1948, the Soviets cut all land traffic into the U.S.-British-French zones of 

occupation in West Berlin. The United States responded with the Berlin Airlift, in which tons 

of food and supplies were flown in to sustain the population of the besieged city. In light of 

these events, many Americans believed that actual combat with the Soviet Union was not far 

away. In response to this threat, President Truman announced on July 20, 1948, that the 

United States was re-instituting the draft and issued a proclamation requiring nearly 10 

million men to register for military service in the next two months. 
 

     Truman’s decision underlined the urgency of his administration’s concern about a 

possible military confrontation with the Soviet Union. It also brought home to the American 

people in concrete terms the possibility that the Cold War could, at any moment, become an 

actual war. In 1950, possibility turned to reality when the United States entered the Korean 

War, and the size of America’s armed forces once again increased dramatically. 

 

 Jul 20 1950 – Cold War:  Harry Gold Pleads Guilty to Spying  »  Gold, the son of poor 

Russian Jewish immigrants who came to the United States in 1914, became involved in the 

Communist movement early on. In 1935, Thomas Black asked Gold to aid the Soviets with 

formulas from the Pennsylvania Sugar Company, where Gold happened to be working as a 

chemist. Gold began stealing industrial formulas. In 1940, Soviet Case Officer Semyon 

Semenov formally recruited Gold to become a Soviet agent. Gold was assigned the 

codename GUS and later, GOOSE. Eventually, he would work with atomic scientist Klaus 

Fuchs on stealing American atomic secrets and sending them to the Soviets. 
 

 
Harry Gold, center, being led into Federal Court, May 1950. 

 

     In 1950, he was implicated as a courier for the Soviets by Fuchs. Under interrogation, 

Gold admitted that he had been involved in espionage since 1934 and had helped Fuchs pass 

information about the Manhattan Project to the Soviet Union. Gold's confession would 

eventually lead to the arrest of David Greenglass, another Manhattan Project employee who 

worked in the machine shop at Los Alamos and stole secrets about the atomic bomb. In 1951, 

Gold was sentenced to thirty years in prison for his espionage activities. He was paroled in 

May 1965, after serving just under half of his sentence. 

 

 Jul 20 1960 – U.S. Navy:  USS George Washington (SSBN-98) conducted the first 

successful submerged SLBM launch with a pair of Polaris A-1 missiles off Cape Canaveral, 
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Fla., at a target more than 1,100 miles away. Forty days later, the Soviet Union made its first 

successful underwater launch of a submarine ballistic missile in the White Sea. 

 

 Jul 20 1964 – Vietnam War:  Viet Cong Troops Overrun Cai Be  »  Viet Cong forces 

overrun Cai Be, the capital of Dinh Tuong Province, killing 11 South Vietnamese militiamen, 

10 women, and 30 children. On 31 JUL, South Vietnam charged that the enemy troops 

involved in the attack were North Vietnamese Army regulars and that Chinese communist 

advisors led the attack. This claim was never verified, but it is likely that North Vietnamese 

regulars participated in the action. This incident and numerous intelligence reports indicated 

that North Vietnamese regular troops were moving down the Ho Chi Minh Trail in great 

numbers to join the fighting in South Vietnam. This marked a major change in the tempo and 

scope of the war in South Vietnam and resulted in President Lyndon B. Johnson committing 

U.S. combat troops. North Vietnamese forces and U.S. troops clashed for the first time in 

November 1965, when units from the newly arrived 1st Cavalry Division engaged several 

North Vietnamese regiments in the Battle of the Ia Drang Valley in the Central Highlands.  

 

 Jul 20 1969 – Vietnam War:  Duck Hook Plan Completed   »   A top-secret study, 

commissioned by presidential assistant Henry Kissinger, is completed by the office of the 

Chief of Naval Operations. Code-named Duck Hook, the study proposed measures for 

military escalation against North Vietnam. The military options included a massive bombing 

of Hanoi, Haiphong, and other key areas of North Vietnam; a ground invasion of North 

Vietnam; the mining of harbors and rivers; and a bombing campaign designed to sever the 

main railroad links to China. A total of 29 major targets in North Vietnam were pinpointed 

for destruction in a series of air attacks planned to last four days and to be renewed until 

Hanoi capitulated. This plan represented a drastic escalation of the war and was never 

ordered by President Richard Nixon. However, Nixon did order certain elements of the 

proposal, such as the intensified bombing of Hanoi and Haiphong and the mining of North 

Vietnamese harbors, in response to the 1972 North Vietnamese Easter Offensive. 

 

 Jul 20 1988 – Iran*Iraq War:  War of 1980-88 Ends   »   On land, the years 1985 to 1987 

saw Iran and Iraq trading offensives and counter-offensives, without either side gaining much 

territory. The fighting was incredibly bloody, often with tens of thousands killed on each side 

in a matter of days. In February of 1988, Saddam unleashed the fifth and deadliest missile 

attack on Iran's cities. Simultaneously, Iraq began to prepare a major offensive to push the 

Iranians out of Iraqi territory.  
 

     Worn down by eight years of fighting and the incredibly high toll in lives, Iran's 

revolutionary government began to consider accepting a peace deal. On July 20, 1988, the 

Iranian government announced that it would accept a UN-brokered ceasefire, although 

Ayatollah Khomeini likened it to drinking from a "poisoned chalice." Saddam Hussein 

demanded that the Ayatollah revoke his call for Saddam's removal before he would sign the 
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deal. However, the Gulf States leaned on Saddam, who finally accepted the ceasefire as it 

stood. 
 

     In the end, Iran accepted the same peace terms the Ayatollah had rejected in 1982. After 

eight years of fighting, Iran and Iraq returned to the antebellum status quo - nothing had 

changed, geopolitically. What had changed was that an estimated 500,000 to 1,000,000 

Iranians were dead, along with more than 300,000 Iraqis. Also, Iraq had seen the devastating 

effects of chemical weapons, which it later deployed against its own Kurdish population as 

well as the Marsh Arabs. The Iran-Iraq War of 1980-88 was one of the longest in modern 

times, and it ended in a draw. Perhaps the most important point to be drawn from it is the 

danger of allowing religious fanaticism on one side to clash with a leader's megalomania on 

the other. 

 

 Jul 20 1997 – U.S. Navy:  After being fully restored the USS Constitution (aka Old 

Ironsides), one of the original six frigates of the United States Navy, celebrates her 200th 

birthday by setting sail for the first time in 116 years. 

 

 Jul 20 2015 – U.S.*Cuba:  Cuba and the United States restored full diplomatic relations 

after 54 years, with the reopening of reciprocal embassies in Havana and Washington. The 

event capped a remarkable change of course in U.S. policy toward the communist island 

under President Barack Obama, who had sought rapprochement with Cuba since he first took 

office and had progressively loosened restrictions on travel and remittances to the island. 

 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 21 1861 – Civil War:  First Battle of Bull Run  »   In the first major land battle of the 

Civil War, a large Union force under General Irvin McDowell is routed by a Confederate 

army under General Pierre G.T. Beauregard. 
   

 
General Irvin McDowell & General Pierre G.T. Beauregard 

 

     Three months after the Civil War erupted at Fort Sumter, Union military command still 

believed that the Confederacy could be crushed quickly and with little loss of life. In July, 

this overconfidence led to a premature offensive into northern Virginia by General 

McDowell. Searching out the Confederate forces, McDowell led 34,000 troops–mostly 
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inexperienced and poorly trained militiamen–toward the railroad junction of Manassas, 

located just 30 miles from Washington, D.C. Alerted to the Union advance, General 

Beauregard massed some 20,000 troops there and was soon joined by General Joseph 

Johnston, who brought some 9,000 more troops by railroad. 
 

    On the morning of 21 JUL, hearing of the proximity of the two opposing forces, hundreds 

of civilians–men, women, and children–turned out to watch the first major battle of the Civil 

War. The fighting commenced with three Union divisions crossing the Bull Run stream, and 

the Confederate flank was driven back to Henry House Hill. However, at this strategic 

location, Beauregard had fashioned a strong defensive line anchored by a brigade of Virginia 

infantry under General Thomas J. Jackson. Firing from a concealed slope, Jackson’s men 

repulsed a series of Federal charges, winning Jackson his famous nickname “Stonewall.” 
 

     Meanwhile, Confederate cavalry under J.E.B. Stuart captured the Union artillery, and 

Beauregard ordered a counterattack on the exposed Union right flank. The rebels came 

charging down the hill, yelling furiously, and McDowell’s line was broken, forcing his troops 

in a hasty retreat across Bull Run. The retreat soon became an unorganized flight, and 

supplies littered the road back to Washington. Union forces endured a loss of 3,000 men 

killed, wounded, or missing in action while the Confederates suffered 2,000 casualties. The 

scale of this bloodshed horrified not only the frightened spectators at Bull Run but also the 

U.S. government in Washington, which was faced with an uncertain military strategy in 

quelling the “Southern insurrection.” 

 

 Jul 21 1911 – Pre WWI:  David Lloyd George Delivers Mansion House Speech   »   At the 

Mansion House in London, David Lloyd George delivers the customary annual address of the 

British chancellor of the exchequer. 
 

 
 

     Lloyd George, a radical member of the Liberal government of Prime Minister Herbert 

Asquith, had made a name for himself as a leftist, anti-imperialist influence in the party, 

promoting pension plans for the elderly and national insurance and opposing Britain’s 

policies in the South African (or Boer) War in 1899-1902. His speech at the Mansion House, 

however, came in the wake of the Second Moroccan Crisis, a clash between the great 

European powers that began on May 21, 1911, when French troops occupied the city of Fez 

in Morocco, at the appeal of the sultan, to restore order after rebel tribes threatened the city. 
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On July 1, 1911, Germany sent its gunboat Panther to the port of Agadir as a forceful protest 

against French influence in Morocco and the Congo. Though Germany assumed Britain 

would stay out of the conflict and that once isolated, France would give way, that was not the 

case. Rather than use his annual speech as an opportunity to advocate for pacifism and 

disengagement from the conflict between France–Britain’s ally, along with Russia, in the so-

called Triple Entente–and an aggressive Germany, Lloyd George made clear that Britain 

would not stand down. 
 

     Indeed, in a rousing speech on 21 JUL, the Chancellor of the Exchequer–and future prime 

minister–implied that war might be the price of continued threats to the security of his 

country and its allies: “I would make great sacrifices to preserve peace. I conceive that 

nothing would justify a disturbance of international good will except questions of the greatest 

national moment. But if a situation were to be forced upon us in which peace could only be 

preserved by the surrender of the great and beneficent position Britain has won by centuries 

of heroism and achievement, by allowing Britain to be treated where her interests were 

vitally affected as if she were of no account in the Cabinet of nations, then I say emphatically 

that peace at that price would be a humiliation intolerable for a great country like ours to 

endure.” 
 

     The Mansion House speech made it clear to Germany that France was not isolated. Kaiser 

Wilhelm, reluctant from the beginning to make such an aggressive move, directed his foreign 

office to back down. In an agreement concluded in November 1911, France received German 

recognition of its protectorate over Morocco, which it added to its North African holdings of 

Algeria and Tunisia. Germany, in return, was awarded some compensation in other areas of 

Africa, which it considered inadequate. From that point forward, the battle lines of the future 

war–World War I–became increasingly clear: Britain, and Russia, would stand with France 

in any future conflict that threatened its security. Meanwhile, an isolated Germany began to 

shore up its own alliances–namely with the Austro-Hungarian Empire–and build up its own 

strength in order to be prepared for the next move. 

 

 Jul 21 1915 – Pre WWI:  President Woodrow Wilson sends the third Lusitania note, 

warning Germany that future infringement of American rights will be deemed 'deliberately 

unfriendly'. 

 

 Jul 21 1915 – WWI:  Attack on Orleans, USA  »   On the morning of 21 JUL, German 

submarine U-156, commanded by Kapitänleutnant Von Oldenburg, was attempting to cut the 

trans-Atlantic submarine communications cable from Orleans Massachusetts, to Brest, 

France. While searching unsuccessfully for the buried cable, Von Oldenburg became aware 

of the passing tugboat Perth Amboy towing three barges and the three-masted schooner 

Lansford. U-156 fired two torpedoes which missed the tug and barges. U-156 then surfaced 3 
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miles off Orleans and fired its two deck guns at the tug and its tow. Perth Amboy was heavily 

damaged, and the schooner and three barges were sunk. 
 

          Two Curtiss HS-2L flying boats from the recently completed Naval Air Station Chatham 

dropped bombs near U-156; but the bombs failed to explode because the airmen on watch 

that Sunday were inexperienced at arming the bombs. U-156 elevated its guns to fire at the 

aircraft, but missed. Some shells landed harmlessly in a deserted marsh and on Nauset Beach, 

giving the town of Orleans the distinction of being the only spot in the United States that 

received enemy fire during World War I, but there is no evidence that these were deliberately 

aimed at the shore. There were no targets of value in the area other than the vessels. There 

were no fatalities. 
 

          Nearby Station No. 40 of the United States Life-Saving Service launched a surfboat under 

heavy enemy shellfire and rowed out to rescue the 32 sailors trapped aboard the tug and 

barges. After firing 147 shells in the hour-long engagement, U-156 submerged about 11:30 

a.m. U-156 escaped away and headed north, where it attacked other Allied ships. 

Newspapers dubbed the engagement the "Battle of Orleans" and offered a reward for the 

discovery of submarine supply bases in the Bay of Fundy. The attack on Orleans was the first 

time that the United States was shelled by artillery of an external power since the Siege of 

Fort Texas in 1846. 

 

 Jul 21 1921 – U.S. Army/Navy:  Sinking of the Ostfriesland   »   To prove his contention 

that air power is superior to sea power, U.S. Army Colonel William Mitchell demonstrated 

how bombs from planes can sink battleships. 
 

     In February 1921, at the urging of Mitchell, who was anxious to test his theories of 

destruction of ships by aerial bombing, Secretary of War Newton Baker and Secretary of the 

Navy Josephus Daniels agreed to a series of joint Army-Navy exercises, known as Project B, 

to be held that summer in which surplus or captured ships could be used as targets. Mitchell 

was concerned that the building of dreadnoughts was taking precious defense dollars away 

from military aviation. He was convinced that a force of anti-shipping airplanes could defend 

a coastline with more economy than a combination of coastal guns and naval vessels. A 

thousand bombers could be built at the same cost as one battleship, and could sink that 

battleship. Mitchell infuriated the Navy by claiming he could sink ships "under war 

conditions", and boasted he could prove it if he were permitted to bomb captured German 

battleships. 
 

     The Navy reluctantly agreed to the demonstration after news leaked of its own tests. To 

counter Mitchell, the Navy had sunk the old battleship Indiana near Tangier Island, Virginia, 

on November 1, 1920, using its own airplanes. Daniels had hoped to squelch Mitchell by 

releasing a report on the results written by Captain William D. Leahy stating that, "The entire 

experiment pointed to the improbability of a modern battleship being either destroyed or 

completely put out of action by aerial bombs." When the New-York Tribune revealed that the 
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Navy's "tests" were done with dummy sand bombs and that the ship was actually sunk using 

high explosives placed on the ship, Congress introduced two resolutions urging new tests and 

backed the Navy into a corner. 
 

     The Chief of the Air Corps attempted to have Mitchell dismissed a week before the tests 

began, reacting to Navy complaints about Mitchell's criticisms, but the new Secretary of War 

John W. Weeks backed down when it became apparent that Mitchell had widespread public 

and media support. On July 20, 1921, the Navy brought out the ex-German World War I 

battleship, Ostfriesland. On the scheduled day, 230, 550, and 600 lb bomb attacks by Navy, 

Marine Corps, and Army aircraft settled the Ostfriesland three feet by the stern with a five-

degree list to port. She was taking on water. Further bombing was delayed a day, the Navy 

claiming due to rough seas that prevented their Board of Observers from going aboard, the 

Air Service countering that as the Army bombers approached, they were ordered not to 

attack. Mitchell's bombers were forced to circle for 47 minutes, as a result of which they 

dropped only half their bombs, and none of their large bombs. 
 

 
A 2,000 lb. bomb "near-miss" severely damages Ostfriesland at the stern hull plates 

   

   On the morning of 21 JUL five Martin NBS-1 bombers dropped a single 1,100 lb bomb 

each, scoring three direct hits. The Navy stopped further drops, although the Army bombers 

had nine bombs remaining, to assess damage. By noon, Ostfriesland had settled two more 

feet by the stern and one foot by the bow. At this point another flight of bombers loaded with 

2,000 bombs, was dispatched. They dropped six bombs in quick succession with aiming 

points for the water near the ship. Mitchell described Lawson's attack, "Four bombs hit in 

rapid succession, close alongside the Ostfriesland. We could see her rise eight to ten feet 

between the terrific blows from under water. There were no direct hits but at least three of the 

bombs landed close enough to rip hull plates as well as cause the ship to roll over. The ship 

sank. The fact of battleship sinking was indisputable, and Mitchell repeated the performance 

twice in tests conducted with like results on the U.S. pre-dreadnought battleship Alabama in 

September 1921, and the battleships Virginia and New Jersey in September 1923 

 

 Jul 21 1940 – WW2 Era:  Hitler orders preliminary planning for invasion of Russia. 

 

 Jul 21 1941 – WW2 Era:  FDR asks Congress to extend the draft. 
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Also on this date: 
 

 US starts national aluminum salvage drive. 
 

 France accepts Japan’s demand for military control of Indochina. 
 

 In occupied Poland near Lublin, Majdanek concentration camp becomes operational. 
 

 Luftwaffe begins assault on Moscow with an air raid at night. 
 

 Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania join the Soviet Union under duress. 

 

 Jul 21 1942 – WW2:  US losses since the war began are reported at 44,143 killed, wounded 

and missing. 
 

Also on this date: 
 

 Japanese invade Papua New Guinea, landing Buna and Gona, push south toward Port 

Moresby. 

 

 Jul 21 1944 – WW2:  Hitler to Germany: “I’m still alive” Announcement   »   Adolf Hitler 

takes to the airwaves to announce that the attempt on his life has failed and that “accounts 

will be settled.” 
 

 
 

     Hitler had survived the bomb blast that was meant to take his life. He had suffered 

punctured eardrums, some burns and minor wounds, but nothing that would keep him from 

regaining control of the government and finding the rebels. In fact, the coup d’etat that was to 

accompany the assassination of Hitler was put down in a mere 11 1/2 hours. In Berlin, Army 

Major Otto Remer, believed to be apolitical by the conspirators and willing to carry out any 

orders given him, was told that the Fuhrer was dead and that he, Remer, was to arrest Joseph 

Goebbels, Minister of Propaganda. But Goebbels had other news for Remer-Hitler was alive. 

And he proved it, by getting the leader on the phone (the rebels had forgotten to cut the 

phone lines). Hitler then gave Remer direct orders to put down any army rebellion and to 

follow only his orders or those of Goebbels or Himmler. Remer let Goebbels go. The SS then 

snapped into action, arriving in Berlin, now in chaos, just in time to convince many high 

German officers to remain loyal to Hitler. 
 

    Arrests, torture sessions, executions, and suicides followed. Count Claus von Stauffenberg, 

the man who actually planted the explosive in the room with Hitler and who had insisted to 
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his co-conspirators that “the explosion was as if a 15-millimeter shell had hit. No one in that 

room can still be alive.” But it was Stauffenberg who would not be alive for much longer; he 

was shot dead the very day of the attempt by a pro-Hitler officer. The plot was completely 

undone. 
 

     Now Hitler had to restore calm and confidence to the German civilian population. At 1 

a.m., July 21, Hitler’s voice broke through the radio airwaves: “I am unhurt and well…. A 

very small clique of ambitious, irresponsible…and stupid officers had concocted a plot to 

eliminate me… It is a gang of criminal elements which will be destroyed without mercy. I 

therefore give orders now that no military authority…is to obey orders from this crew of 

usurpers… This time we shall settle account with them in the manner to which we National 

Socialists are accustomed.” 

 

 Jul 21 1944 – WW2:  Soviet Vitebsk-Orsha Offensive   »   In the final stage of their 

offensive, Russians cross the Bug River, march into Poland, and capture Lublin. They went 

on to the Vistula River which they reached by 2 AUG effectively ending the offensive.     
 

Also on this date: 
 

 Field Marshal Günther von Kluge warns Hitler of impending collapse of front in 

Normandy, France. 
 

 Task Force 53, (commanded by Rear Adm. Richard L. Connolly) lands the Third Marine 

Division and the 1st Provisional Marine Brigade, along with the U.S. Army 77th Infantry 

Division on Guam. The island is declared secure on Aug. 9 though bands of enemy 

Japanese are long encountered after VJ Day. 

 

 Jul 21 1954 – Vietnam War:  At Geneva the French sign an armistice with the Viet Minh 

that ends the war but divides Vietnam into two countries.  

 

 Jul 21 1955 – Cold War:  Eisenhower Presents His “Open Skies” Plan   »   President 

Dwight D. Eisenhower presents his “Open Skies” plan at the 1955 Geneva summit meeting 

with representatives of France, Great Britain, and the Soviet Union. The plan, though never 

accepted, laid the foundation for President Ronald Reagan’s later policy of “trust, but verify” 

in relation to arms agreements with the Soviet Union. 
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     Eisenhower met with Prime Minister Anthony Eden of Great Britain, Premier Edgar Faure 

of France, and Premier Nikolai Bulganin of the Soviet Union (acting for Soviet leader Nikita 

Khrushchev) in Geneva in July 1955. The agenda for the summit included discussions on the 

future of Germany and arms control. As it became clear that no consensus could be reached 

on the issue of possible German reunification or the precise configuration of an arms control 

agreement, Eisenhower dramatically unveiled what came to be known as his “Open Skies” 

proposal. It called for the United States and the Soviet Union to exchange maps indicating 

the exact location of every military installation in their respective nations. With these maps in 

hand, each nation would then be allowed to conduct aerial surveillance of the installations in 

order to assure that the other nations were in compliance with any arms control agreements 

that might be reached. While the French and British expressed interest in the idea, the Soviets 

rejected any plan that would leave their nation subject to surveillance by a Western power. 

Khrushchev declared that Eisenhower’s “Open Skies” was nothing more than an “espionage 

plot.” 
 

     Indeed, “Open Skies” was much less than an “espionage plot.” Eisenhower himself was 

later quoted as saying that he knew the Soviets would never accept the plan, but thought that 

their rejection of the idea would make the Russians look like they were the major 

impediment to an arms control agreement. For the Soviets, the idea of U.S. planes conducting 

surveillance of their military bases was unthinkable. They did not want it known that the 

Soviet Union was far behind the United States in terms of its military capabilities. The 

United States soon found that out anyway–just a few months after the Soviet rejection of 

“Open Skies,” the Eisenhower administration approved the use of high-altitude spy planes 

(the famous U-2s) for spying on the Soviet Union. Thirty years later, President Reagan would 

use much the same rhetoric in his arms control dealings with the Soviet Union. Arms control, 

he declared, could only be effective if compliance with such agreements could be verified. 

“Trust, but verify,” became Reagan’s standard phrase. 

 

 Jul 21 1955 – U.S. Navy:  USS Seawolf launched   »   She was the first nuclear submarine 

powered by liquid metal (sodium) cooled nuclear reactor (S2G) which was more compact 

than the USS Nautilus’ (S2W) reactor and employed superheated steam.  The liquid sodium 

idea may have seemed like a good idea in theory, but it was unsuccessful in practice. In fact, 

the Navy was quick to deep-six the concept. Literally. In 1958, Seawolf entered the Electric 
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Boat shipyard to have her S2G reactor replaced with the same S2W pressurized water reactor 

as Nautilus. This presented a new problem. How do you dispose of a radioactive reactor? The 

Navy’s solution: encase the “hot” S2G containment vessel, which was made of stainless 

steel, take it to sea, and dump it overboard. 

 

 Jul 21 1965 – Vietnam War:  Johnson Considers U.S. Options   »   With Secretary of 

Defense Robert McNamara back from a visit to Vietnam, President Lyndon B. Johnson 

begins a weeklong series of conferences with his civilian and military advisers on Vietnam. 

He also met with private citizens that he trusted during this period. Johnson appeared to be 

considering all the options with an open mind, but it was clear that he was leaning toward 

providing more combat troops to bolster the faltering South Vietnamese government. 
 

     Johnson was faced with a rapidly deteriorating situation in Vietnam. The Viet Cong had 

increased the level of combat and there were indications that Hanoi was sending troops to 

fight in South Vietnam. It was apparent that the South Vietnamese were in danger of being 

overwhelmed. Johnson had sent Marines and paratroopers to protect American installations, 

but he was becoming convinced that more had to be done to stop the communists or they 

would soon overwhelm South Vietnam. While some advisers, such as Undersecretary of 

State George Ball, recommended a negotiated settlement, McNamara urged the president to 

“expand promptly and substantially” the U.S. military presence in South Vietnam. Johnson, 

not wanting to “lose” Vietnam to the communists, ultimately accepted McNamara’s 

recommendation. On 22 JUL, he authorized a total of 44 U.S. battalions for commitment in 

South Vietnam, a decision that led to a massive escalation of the war. There were less than 

ten U.S. Army and Marine battalions in South Vietnam at this time. Eventually there would 

be more than 540,000 U.S. troops in South Vietnam. 

 

 Jul 21 1997 – U.S. Navy:  The fully restored USS Constitution (aka "Old Ironsides") 

celebrates her 200th birthday, setting sail for the first time in 116 years. 

 

 Jul 21 1997 – Terrorism:  Bombers Attempt To Attack London Transit System   »    

Terrorists attempt to attack the London transit system by planting bombs on three subways 

and on one bus; none of the bombs detonate completely. The attempted attack came exactly 

two weeks after terrorists killed 56 people, including themselves, and wounded 700 others in 

the largest attack on Great Britain since World War II. The previous attack also targeted three 

subways and one bus. 
 

     The failed bombs were found at the London Underground’s Oval, Warren Street and 

Shepherd’s Bush stations and on a bus in Hackney. Two days later, a fifth bomb, apparently 

abandoned, was found in some bushes near a park in Little Wormwood Scrubs. The four 

bombers, Muktar Said Ibrahim, 29, Yasin Hassan Omar, 26, Ramzi Mohammed, 25, and 

Hussain Osman, 28, were found guilty of conspiracy to murder and sentenced to life in 
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prison.  An estimated 3 million people ride the London Underground every day, with another 

6.5 million using the city’s bus system. 

 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 22 1775 – American Revolution:  George Washington took command of the 

Continental Army.  

 

 Jul 22 1802 – First Barbary War:  During the First Barbary War, the frigate, USS 

Constellation, commanded by Capt. Alexander Murray, defeats nine Corsair gunboats off 

Tripoli, and sinks two. 

 

 Jul 22 1814 – Native Americans:  In the War of 1812 five Indian tribes in Ohio make peace 

with the United States and declare war on Britain.  

 

 Jul 22 1862 – Civil War:  Emancipation Proclamation Issuance Plan  »   President 

Abraham Lincoln informs his chief advisors and cabinet that he will issue a proclamation to 

free slaves, but adds that he will wait until the Union Army has achieved a substantial 

military victory to make the announcement. 
 

     Attempting to stitch together a nation mired in a bloody civil war, Abraham Lincoln made 

a last-ditch, but carefully calculated, executive decision regarding the institution of slavery in 

America. At the time of the meeting with his cabinet, things were not looking good for the 

Union. The Confederate Army had overcome Union troops in significant battles and Britain 

and France were set to officially recognize the Confederacy as a separate nation. 
 

     The issuing of the Emancipation Proclamation had less to do with ending slavery than 

saving the crumbling union. In an August 1862 letter to New York Tribune editor Horace 

Greeley, Lincoln confessed “my paramount object in this struggle is to save the Union, and it 

is not either to save or to destroy slavery.” He hoped a strong statement declaring a national 

policy of emancipation would stimulate a rush of the South’s slaves into the ranks of the 

Union Army, thus depleting the Confederacy’s labor force, on which it depended to wage 

war against the North. 
 

     As promised, Lincoln waited to unveil the proclamation until he could do so on the heels 

of a successful Union military advance. On September 22, 1862, after a victory at Antietam, 

he publicly announced a preliminary Emancipation Proclamation, declaring all slaves free in 

the rebellious states as of January 1, 1863. Lincoln and his advisors limited the 

proclamation’s language to slavery in states outside of federal control as of 1862. The 

proclamation did not, however, address the contentious issue of slavery within the nation’s 

border states. In his attempt to appease all parties, Lincoln left many loopholes open that civil 

rights advocates would be forced to tackle in the future 
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 Jul 22 1864 – Civil War:  Battle of Atlanta Continues   »   Confederate General John Bell 

Hood continues to try to drive General William T. Sherman from the outskirts of Atlanta 

when he attacks the Yankees on Bald Hill. The attack failed, and Sherman tightened his hold 

on Atlanta. 
 

 
 

     Confederate President Jefferson Davis had appointed Hood commander of the Army of 

Tennessee just four days before the engagement at Atlanta. Davis had been frustrated with 

the defensive campaign of the previous commander, Joseph Johnston, so he appointed Hood 

to drive Sherman back North. Hood attacked Peachtree Creek on 20 JUL, but he could not 

break the Federals. 
 

     Two days later, Hood tried again at Bald Hill. The Union force under Sherman consisted 

of three armies: James McPherson’s Army of the Tennessee, John Schofield’s Army of the 

Ohio, and George Thomas’ Army of the Cumberland. Thomas’ force pressed on Atlanta 

from the north, at Peachtree Creek, while McPherson swung to Atlanta’s eastern fringe to cut 

the Georgia Railroad, which ran to Decatur. Hood struck at McPherson on 22 JUL, but 

several problems blunted the Confederate attack. The broken, rugged terrain made 

coordination difficult, and the attack, which had been planned for dawn, did not begin until 

after noon. Most important, and unbeknownst to Hood, McPherson extended his line east. 

The Confederates had assembled along a line–which they thought was behind the Union 

flank–but was now directly in front of fortified Federal soldiers. Hood’s men briefly 

breached the Union line, but could not hold the position. The day ended without a significant 

change in the position of the two armies. 
 

     For the second time in three days, Hood failed to break the Union hold on Atlanta. His 

already-outnumbered army fared poorly. He lost more than 5,000 men, while the Union 

suffered 3,700 casualties. Among them was General McPherson, who had been killed while 

scouting the lines during the battle. He was one of the most respected and promising 

commanders in the Union army. 

 

 Jul 22 1916– WW1 Era:  Austria-Hungary issues an ultimatum to Serbia demanding they 

allow the Austrians to determine who assassinated Archduke Franz Ferdinand. When Serbia 

denies Austria-Hungarian demands, mobilization for World War I begins on 28 JUL. 



 

60 | P a g e  
 

 

 Jul 22 1916– WW1 Era:  Preparedness Day Bombing in San Francisco    »   A massive 

parade held in San Francisco, California, to celebrate Preparedness Day, in anticipation of the 

United States entrance into World War I, is disrupted by the explosion of a suitcase bomb, 

which kills 10 bystanders and wounds 40 more. 
 

     By the summer of 1916, with the Great War raging in Europe and with U.S. and other 

neutral ships threatened by German submarine aggression, it had become clear to many in the 

U.S. that their country could not stand on the sidelines much longer. With this in mind, 

leading business figures in the city of San Francisco planned a parade in honor of American 

military preparedness. As the event neared, it was clear that anti-war and isolationist 

sentiments ran high among a significant population of the city (and the country), not only 

among such radical organizations as International Workers of the World (the so-called 

“wobblies”) but among mainstream labor leaders. These opponents of the Preparedness Day 

event undoubtedly shared the view voiced publicly by one critic, former U.S. Secretary of 

State William Jennings Bryan, who claimed that the organizers, San Francisco’s financiers 

and factory owners, were acting in pure self-interest, as they clearly stood to benefit from an 

increased production of munitions. 
 

     The Preparedness Day parade went ahead on Saturday, July 22, with a 3.5-hour-long 

procession of some 51,329 marchers, including 52 bands and 2,134 organizations, 

comprising military, civic, judicial, state and municipal divisions as well as newspaper, 

telephone, telegraph and streetcar unions. At 2:06 p.m., about a half-hour after the parade 

began, a bomb concealed in a suitcase exploded on the west side of Steuart Street, just south 

of Market Street, near the Ferry Building. Ten bystanders were killed by the explosion; 40 

more were wounded. 
 

     Two radical labor leaders, Thomas Mooney and Warren K. Billings, were subsequently 

arrested and tried for the attack. In the trial that followed, complete with false witnesses and 

biased jury foremen, the two men were convicted, despite widespread belief that they had 

been framed by the prosecution. Mooney was sentenced to death; after evidence surfaced as 

to the corrupt nature of the prosecution, President Woodrow Wilson called on California 

Governor William Stephens to look further into the case. Two weeks before Mooney’s 

scheduled execution, Stephens commuted his sentence to life imprisonment, the same 

punishment Billings had received. Investigation into the case continued over the next two 

decades; by 1939, evidence of perjury and false testimony at the trial had so mounted that 

Governor Culbert Olson pardoned both men. The true identity of the Preparedness Day 

bomber (or bombers) remains unknown. 

 

 Jul 22 1942 – WW2:  U.S. Gasoline Rationing Begins   »   The United States government 

begins compulsory civilian gasoline rationing due to the wartime demands.  Rationing was an 

important part of life in America during World War II. However, the government was 
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apprehensive about gasoline rationing. As a symbol of freedom of movement, the automobile 

represented everything American, and politicians feared riots and rebellion if they curtailed 

that freedom. 
 

     In early 1942, German U-boats ravaged Allied shipping off the US East Coast and in the 

Gulf of Mexico. Oil tankers were their favorite targets. The Allies needed oil for airplanes, 

ships, tanks, and to run factories, and the Germans hoped to cut off the supply. It didn’t take 

long for a gasoline shortage to develop on the US East Coast. On April 9, 1942, gasoline 

deliveries were decreased to seventeen Eastern states, but to ensure fairness, rationing was 

required. On May 15, 1942, 8 million motorists in those seventeen states registered for gas 

ration cards, and rationing began on the East Coast on July 22, 
 

     Although the U-boat menace decreased late in 1942, the rubber shortage remained crucial. 

On Nov. 26, 1942, the government announced that nationwide gasoline rationing would go 

into effect Dec. 1, 1942. The program continued until Aug. 18, 1945. 

 

 Jul 22 1942 – Holocaust:  Deportations from Warsaw Ghetto To Treblinka Begin   »   The 

systematic deportation of Jews from the Warsaw ghetto begins, as thousands are rounded up 

daily and transported to a newly constructed concentration/extermination camp at Treblinka, 

in Poland. 
 

     Heinrich Himmler, head of the Nazi SS, arrived at Auschwitz, the concentration camp in 

eastern Poland, in time to watch the arrival of more than 2,000 Dutch Jews and the gassing of 

almost 500 of them, mostly the elderly, sick and very young. The next day, Himmler 

promoted the camp commandant, Rudolph Hoess, to SS major and ordered that the Warsaw 

ghetto (the Jewish quarter constructed by the Nazis upon the occupation of Poland, enclosed 

first by barbed wire and then by brick walls), be depopulated–a “total cleansing,” as he 

described it–and the inhabitants transported to what was to become a second extermination 

camp constructed at the railway village of Treblinka, 62 miles northeast of Warsaw. 
 

     Within the first seven weeks of Himmler’s order, more than 250,000 Jews were taken to 

Treblinka by rail and gassed to death, marking the largest single act of destruction of any 

population group, Jewish or non-Jewish, civilian or military, in the war. Upon arrival at “T. 

II,” as this second camp at Treblinka was called, prisoners were separated by sex, stripped, 

and marched into what were described as “bathhouses,” but were in fact gas chambers.  
 

     T. II’s first commandant was Dr. Irmfried Eberl, age 32, the man who had headed up the 

euthanasia program of 1940 and had much experience with the gassing of victims, especially 

children. He compelled several hundred Ukrainian and about 1,500 Jewish prisoners to assist 

him. They removed gold teeth from victims before hauling the bodies to mass graves. Eberl 

was relieved of his duties for “inefficiency.” It seems that he and his workers could not 

remove the corpses quickly enough, and panic was occurring within the railway cars of 

newly arrived prisoners. 
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     By the end of the war, between 700,000 and 900,000 would die at either Treblinka I or II. 

Hoess was tried and sentenced to death by the Nuremberg Tribunal. Commandant Rudolph 

Hoess was hanged in 1947. 

 

 Jul 22 1943 – WW2:  US forces led by General George Patton liberate Palermo, Sicily. 

 

 Jul 22 1944 – WW2:  Bretton Woods Agreement Signed   »   The Bretton Woods system of 

monetary management established the rules for commercial and financial relations among the 

United States, Canada, Western European countries, Australia, and Japan after the 1944 

Bretton Woods Agreement. The Bretton Woods system was the first example of a fully 

negotiated monetary order intended to govern monetary relations among independent states. 

The chief features of the Bretton Woods system were an obligation for each country to adopt 

a monetary policy that maintained its external exchange rates within 1 percent by tying its 

currency to gold and the ability of the IMF to bridge temporary imbalances of payments. 

Also, there was a need to address the lack of cooperation among other countries and to 

prevent competitive devaluation of the currencies as well. 
 

     Preparing to rebuild the international economic system while World War II was still 

raging, 730 delegates from all 44 Allied nations gathered at the Mount Washington Hotel in 

Bretton Woods, New Hampshire for the United Nations Monetary and Financial Conference, 

also known as the Bretton Woods Conference. The delegates deliberated during 1–22 July 

1944, and signed the Bretton Woods agreement on its final day. Setting up a system of rules, 

institutions, and procedures to regulate the international monetary system, these accords 

established the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the International Bank for 

Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), which today is part of the World Bank Group. The 

United States, which controlled two thirds of the world's gold, insisted that the Bretton 

Woods system rest on both gold and the US dollar. Soviet representatives attended the 

conference but later declined to ratify the final agreements, charging that the institutions they 

had created were "branches of Wall Street". These organizations became operational in 1945 

after a sufficient number of countries had ratified the agreement. 
 

      On 15 August 1971, the United States unilaterally terminated convertibility of the US 

dollar to gold, effectively bringing the Bretton Woods system to an end and rendering the 

dollar a fiat currency. This action, referred to as the Nixon shock, created the situation in 

which the U.S. dollar became a reserve currency used by many states. At the same time, 

many fixed currencies (such as the pound sterling) also became free-floating. 

 

 Jul 22 1945 – WW2:  A squadron of U.S. destroyers clashes with a Japanese convoy of two 

freighters, a sub chaser, and a minesweeper in Sagami Bay, on the eastern edge of Tokyo 

Bay.  The destroyers sink one freighter and damage the other.  It is the final surface action of 

the war.  
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 Jul 22 1945 – WW2:  French Marshal Henri Petain, who had headed the Vichy government 

during World War II, went on trial, charged with treason. (He was condemned to death, but 

his sentence was commuted; Petain died in prison on this date in 1951.) 

 

 Jul 22 1966 – Vietnam War:  B–52 bombers hit the DMZ between North and South 

Vietnam for the first time.  

 

 Jul 22 1967 – Vietnam War:  Taylor and Clifford Begin Tour of the Pacific Region   »   

Gen. Maxwell Taylor, former U.S. ambassador to South Vietnam and now a consultant to 

President Lyndon B. Johnson, and presidential adviser Clark Clifford tour South Vietnam, 

Thailand, Australia, New Zealand, and South Korea to sound out opinion on the possibility 

of another summit conference on the situation in Vietnam. Reportedly, they were also 

seeking additional troops for the war. 

 

 
 

     On their return to Washington, Taylor and Clifford reported no major disagreements on 

any aspect of the war among the national leaders with whom they had spoken during the trip. 

Thailand, Australia, New Zealand, and Korea eventually sent combat troops to South 

Vietnam to fight alongside the Americans and South Vietnamese. 

 

 Jul 22 1968 – Vietnam War:  North Vietnamese Condemn Honolulu Conference   »   

Nguyen Thanh Le, North Vietnamese spokesman at the Paris peace talks, tells reporters that 

the Honolulu conference reveals that “the position of the United States remains infinitely 

obstinate.” According to the North Vietnamese, the war would continue as long as the United 

States remained determined to support the “puppet government” in Saigon. 
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     President Lyndon B. Johnson had met with South Vietnamese President Nguyen Van 

Thieu in Honolulu from July 18 to 20 JUL. At the conference, Johnson reaffirmed his 

administration’s commitment “to defend South Vietnam.” Thieu stated that he had “no 

apprehensions at all” concerning the U.S. commitment. In a joint communique, Thieu further 

asserted that his government was determined “to continue to assume all the responsibility 

that the scale of forces of South Vietnam and their equipment will permit,” thus tacitly 

accepting current U.S. efforts to “Vietnamize the war.” The two presidents also agreed that 

South Vietnam “should be a full participant playing a leading role in discussions concerning 

the substance of a final settlement” to the conflict. Johnson’s successor, Richard Nixon, made 

“Vietnamization” one of the pillars of his Vietnam policy, directing that the combat 

capability of the South Vietnamese armed forces be improved so that they could ultimately 

assume full responsibility for the war and U.S. forces could be withdrawn. 

 

 Jul 22 1975 – Post Civil War:  US House of Representatives votes to restore citizenship to 

General Robert E. Lee 

 

 Jul 22 1976 – Post WW2:  Japan completes its last reparation to the Philippines for war 

crimes committed during the imperial Japan's conquest of the country in the Second World 

War. 

 

 Jul 22 1987 – Gulf War:  Operation Earnest Will   »   U.S. began escorting U.S. re–flagged 

Kuwaiti tankers in Persian Gulf. American units had already found a dozen mines in Persian 

Gulf shipping lanes. During the very first escort mission, a mine ripped into the re-flagged 

supertanker Bridgeton. That first month, three tankers hit mines and minesweeping 

operations by Navy helicopters began. Later that summer, U.S. forces captured the Iranian 

minelayer Iran Ajr while it was deploying mines in international shipping lanes and U.S. 

helicopters repelled an attack by Iranian speedboats. 

 

 Jul 22 1987 – Cold War:  Gorbachev Accepts Ban on Intermediate-Range Nuclear Missiles    

»   In a dramatic turnaround, Soviet leader Mikhail Gorbachev indicates that he is willing to 
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negotiate a ban on intermediate-range nuclear missiles without conditions. Gorbachev’s 

decision paved the way for the groundbreaking Intermediate-Range Nuclear Forces (INF) 

Treaty with the United States. 
 

     Since coming to power in 1985, Gorbachev had made it clear that he sought a less 

contentious relationship with the United States. His American counterpart, President Ronald 

Reagan, was a staunch anticommunist and initially harbored deep suspicions about 

Gorbachev’s sincerity. After meeting with Gorbachev in November 1985, however, Reagan 

came to believe that progress might be made on a number of issues, including arms control. 

In subsequent summit meetings, the two leaders focused on the so-called intermediate-range 

nuclear missiles that both nations had massed in Europe and around the world. In late 1986, it 

appeared that the two nations were close to an agreement that would eliminate the weapons 

from Europe.  
 

     Negotiations stumbled, however, when Gorbachev demanded that the elimination of the 

missiles be accompanied by U.S. abandonment of its development of the strategic defense 

initiative (the “Star Wars” plan). The talks broke down while Reagan and Gorbachev traded 

accusations of bad faith. On July 22, 1987, Gorbachev dramatically announced that he was 

ready to discuss the elimination of intermediate-range missiles on a worldwide basis, with no 

conditions. By dropping his objection to the strategic defense initiative (which was one of 

Reagan’s pet projects), Gorbachev cleared the way for negotiations, and he and Reagan 

agreed to meet again. 
 

     Gorbachev’s change of mind was the result of a number of factors. His own nation was 

suffering from serious economic problems and Gorbachev desperately wanted to cut Russia’s 

military spending. In addition, the growing “no-nukes” movement in Europe was interfering 

with his ability to conduct diplomatic relations with France, Great Britain, and other western 

European nations. Finally, Gorbachev seemed to have a sincere personal trust in and 

friendship with Ronald Reagan, and this feeling was apparently reciprocal. In December 

1987, during a summit in Washington, the two men signed off on the Intermediate-Range 

Nuclear Forces Treaty, which eliminated an entire class of nuclear weapons. 

 

 Jul 22 2003 – U.S.*Iraq:  Qusay and Uday Hussein Killed  »  Former Iraqi dictator 

Saddam Hussein’s sons, Qusay and Uday Hussein, are killed along with Qusay’s14-year-

old son Mustapha, after a three-hour firefight with 40 U.S. forces in the northern Iraqi city 

of Mosul. It is widely believed that the two men were even more cruel and ruthless than 

their notorious father, and their death was celebrated among many Iraqis. Uday and Qusay 

were 39 and 37 years old, respectively, when they died. Both are said to have amassed 

considerable fortunes through their participation in illegal oil smuggling. 
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Uday (left) and Qusay (right) Sadddam 

 

     Uday Hussein, as Saddam’s first-born son, was the natural choice to succeed the feared 

despot. But even the seemingly amoral Saddam took issue with Uday’s extravagant 

lifestyle—he is said to have personally owned hundreds of cars—and lack of personal 

discipline. After Uday bludgeoned and stabbed one of Saddam’s favorite attendants to death 

at a 1988 party, Saddam briefly had him imprisoned and beaten. 
 

     While Saddam began to favor his second son Qusay, Uday continued to make a name for 

himself among the Iraqi people for his sadism and cruelty. Prone to beating and torturing his 

servants and anyone else who displeased him, he was known to spend time studying new 

torture devices and methods to improve his technique. He even treated his so-called friends 

poorly—in one report, he forced some to drink dangerous amounts of alcohol purely for his 

amusement. Uday was also a man of unrestrained sexual appetites, sleeping with several 

women per night up to five nights a week. He was known for raping young women–some as 

young as 12–whom he found attractive, threatening their and their families’ lives if they 

complained or spoke out against the crime. He would sometimes torture and kill his victims 

after sex. 
 

     Uday held several jobs during his father’s regime, most notably publishing the most 

widely read newspaper in the country and heading Iraq’s Olympic Committee. In that 

position, he is known to have beaten athletes whom he felt did not perform up to 

expectations. He was also the head of the Fedayeen Saddam, one of his father’s security 

groups. In 1996, Uday was shot while driving in his car. Though never proven, it has been 

speculated that his brother Qusay may have been behind the assassination attempt. The 

incident caused him to suffer a stroke and, despite surgery, left a bullet lodged in his spine. 

Although he recovered most function, it is said that Uday lived with considerable pain for the 

rest of his life, which may have exacerbated his sadistic tendencies. The weakness he 

experienced after the shooting may also have contributed to his father’s growing doubts 

about his suitability as a successor. 
 

     At the same time, Qusay was earning Saddam’s trust. Married with four children, Qusay 

was said to be less sadistic than his brother, but was still a cold and ruthless killer who was 

much feared throughout the country. While Uday often bragged about his excesses and 

violent exploits, Qusay was known to intentionally keep a much lower profile. He 
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worshipped his father and worked hard to impress him. After he proved himself by brutally 

repressing the Shi’ite uprisings that occurred after the 1991 Gulf War—even doing some of 

the killing himself—Saddam rewarded Qusay with a series of more responsible posts, 

including command of Iraq’s elite fighting force, the Republican Guard, and the Special 

Security Organization, Iraq’s secret police. By that time, it had become clear that Qusay had 

replaced his brother as Saddam’s likely heir. 
 

     Despite Qusay’s superior reputation, observers noted with interest that Uday’s Fedayeen 

Saddam actually outperformed the Qusay-led Republican Guard during the United States’ 

2003 invasion of Iraq. Qusay proved to be an ineffective leader, showing fear and often 

second-guessing his own decisions. After the invasion, both brothers went into hiding and the 

U.S. government posted a $15 million reward for information leading to the discovery of 

either man’s location. Though it was widely speculated that they would not be found together 

because of their mutual enmity, an informant’s tip led U.S. Special Forces to a house in 

which they were both staying on July 22, 2003.  
 

     After drawing fire, the soldiers withdrew, until receiving backup in the form of 100 troops 

from the 101st Airborne division and armed OH-58D Kiowa Warrior helicopters. A battle 

ensued, after which Americans entered the house and found the bodies of the two brothers, as 

well as that of Qusay’s 14-year-old son. They were buried in a cemetery near the city of 

Tikrit, their father’s birthplace. 
 

     In the wake of their deaths, the American government drew criticism for releasing 

pictures of Uday’s and Qusay’s lifeless bodies, but insisted the move was necessary to 

convince the skeptical Iraqi people that the long-feared brothers were truly dead. About five 

months later, on December 13, 2003, their father, who also went into hiding after the U.S. 

invasion, was found and captured alive by American forces. His trial by special tribunal for 

multiple crimes committed during his reign began in October 2005. On November 5, 2006, 

he was found guilty of crimes against humanity and sentenced to death by hanging. After an 

unsuccessful appeal, Hussein was executed on December 30, 2006.   

 

 Jul 22 2003 – U.S. Army:  Jessica Lynch Gets Hero’s Welcome  »   U.S. Army Private 

Jessica Lynch, a prisoner-of-war who was rescued from an Iraqi hospital, receives a hero’s 

welcome when she returns to her hometown of Palestine, West Virginia. The story of the 19-

year-old supply clerk, who was captured by Iraqi forces in March 2003, gripped America; 

however, it was later revealed that some details of Lynch’s dramatic capture and rescue 

might have been exaggerated. 
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     Lynch, who was born April 26, 1983, was part of the 507th Ordnance Maintenance 

Company from Fort Bliss, Texas. On March 23, 2003, just days after the U.S. invaded Iraq, 

Lynch was riding in a supply convoy when her unit took a wrong turn and was ambushed by 

Iraqi forces near Nasiriya. Eleven American soldiers died and four others besides Lynch were 

captured. 
 

     Lynch, who sustained multiple broken bones and other injuries when her vehicle crashed 

during the ambush, was taken to an Iraqi hospital. On 1 APR, she was rescued by U.S. 

Special Forces who raided the hospital where she was being held. They also recovered the 

bodies of eight of Lynch’s fellow soldiers. Lynch was taken to a military hospital in 

Germany for treatment and then returned to the United States. 
 

     Lynch’s story garnered massive media attention and she became an overnight celebrity. 

Various reports emerged about Lynch’s experience, with some news accounts indicating that 

even after Lynch was wounded during the ambush she fought back against her captors. 

However, Lynch later stated that she had been knocked unconscious after her vehicle crashed 

and couldn’t remember the details of what had happened to her. She also said she had not 

been mistreated by the staff at the Iraqi hospital and they put up no resistance to her rescue. 

Critics–and Lynch herself–charged the U.S. government with embellishing her story to boost 

patriotism and help promote the Iraq war. 
 

     In August 2003, Lynch received a medical honorable discharge. She collaborated on a 

book about her experience, I Am a Soldier, Too: The Jessica Lynch Story, which was 

released later that year. In April 2007, Lynch testified before Congress that she had falsely 

been portrayed as a “little girl Rambo” and the U.S. military had hyped her story for 

propaganda reasons. According to Lynch: “I am still confused as to why they chose to lie and 

tried to make me a legend when the real heroics of my fellow soldiers that day were, in fact, 

legendary.” She added: “The truth of war is not always easy to hear but is always more 

heroic than the hype.” 

 

 Jul 22 2011 – Terrorism:  Norway is the victim of twin terror attacks, the first a bomb blast 

targeting government buildings in central Oslo, second a massacre at a youth camp on island 

of Utøya. 
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 Jul 23 1793 – Civil War:  Connecticut Patriot Roger Sherman Dies  »   Roger Sherman, a 

Connecticut Patriot and member of the Committee of Five selected to draft the Declaration of 

Independence, dies of typhoid in New Haven, Connecticut, at age 72. Sherman alone among 

the Patriots of the American Revolution signed all four documents gradually assigning 

sovereignty to the new United States: the Continental Association of 1774, the Declaration of 

Independence, the Articles of Confederation and the United States Constitution. Thomas 

Jefferson credited Sherman with having never said a foolish thing in his life. 
 

 
 

     Although Sherman was a self-educated shoemaker, raised on the western frontier of 

Massachusetts, he would eventually distinguish himself as a surveyor and astronomer; join 

the Bar of Litchfield, Connecticut; and serve as both a professor of religion and treasurer of 

Yale College in New Haven, Connecticut. He served in numerous elective and judicial 

offices, including in the Second Continental Congress, in the Connecticut General Assembly, 

and as justice of the peace, justice of the Superior Court of Connecticut and a representative 

in the first United States Congress. Sherman was the mayor of New Haven and a member of 

the United States Senate at the time of his death. Sherman was as prolific in his personal life 

as he was in his political career. He had seven children with his first wife, Elizabeth 

Hartwell, and eight more with his second wife, Rebecca Minot Prescott. 
 

     Sherman was buried near the Yale campus. He is remembered with a statue at the 

National Constitution Center in Philadelphia and a street named in his honor in Madison, 

Wisconsin. 

 

 Jul 23 1851 – Native Americans:  Treaty of Traverse des Sioux   »   Signed between the 

United States government and Sioux Indian bands in Minnesota Territory. By this treaty, the 

Sioux ceded large tracts of territory and agreed to move on to reservations along the 

Minnesota River in exchange for annuities of cash and goods.  The Wahpeton and Sisseton 

bands of the Upper Dakota (sometimes spelled Dahkotah on treaties) were hesitant to sign 

away so much land, but older members of the tribes believed that the results of the 1825 First 

Treaty of Prairie du Chien and the Sioux defeat in the Black Hawk War limited their choices. 

The Wahpeton and Sisseton bands ceded their lands in southern and western Minnesota 

Territory, along with some lands in Iowa and Dakota Territory. In exchange, the United 

States promised payment of $1,665,000 in cash and annuities. The treaty was instigated by 
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Alexander Ramsey, the first governor of Minnesota Territory, and Luke Lea, Commissioner 

of Indian Affairs in Washington, D.C. The United States wanted the treaty to gain control of 

agricultural lands for more European-American settlers. 

 

 Jul 23 1862 – Civil War:  Halleck Takes Command of the Union Army   »   General Henry 

W. Halleck assumes the role of general-in-chief of all Union forces in an effort to better 

coordinate the overall Union war effort, which is floundering. 
 

     A native of New York, Halleck graduated from West Point in 1839. He showed such 

promise that he was allowed the rare privilege of teaching while still a student at the 

academy. He served during the Mexican-American War, became involved in California 

politics, and was a railroad president before the outbreak of the Civil War. 
 

 
 

     In 1861, Halleck was appointed major general. Placed in charge of the Department of the 

Missouri, his work brought quick results. He quickly organized the forces in Missouri into 

effective units and kept Missouri in the Union. Halleck’s duties were soon expanded, and the 

department was renamed the Department of the Mississippi. He showed great strategic vision 

in planning campaigns from his St. Louis headquarters, but was less successful when he took 

to the field—as he did during the Corinth, Mississippi campaign, in which the Confederates 

escaped his much larger Yankee force. 
 

    President Abraham Lincoln recognized Halleck’s abilities and brought him to Washington, 

D.C., as general-in-chief. Under his direction, Union successes continued in the west, but 

Halleck was unable to orchestrate any progress in Virginia or to enact an overall strategic 

vision to defeat the Confederates. He bickered with various commanders of the Army of the 

Potomac, such as George B. McClellan, Ambrose Burnside, Joseph Hooker, and George 

Meade. His abrasive personality did not endear him to the press or his subordinates. 
 

     In 1864, President Lincoln moved Halleck to a higher position as chief of staff for the 

army while appointing General Ulysses S. Grant general-in-chief, but this was really in 

recognition of the fact that Halleck failed to effectively direct the armies. Freed from the 

burden of strategic planning, Halleck’s new role allowed him to utilize his bureaucratic 

talents. Nicknamed “Old Brains” for his organizational efficiency, Halleck effectively 

supplied Grant’s campaign against Robert E. Lee in 1864. 
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     Halleck remained in the army until his death in 1872. Despite his shortcomings as a 

strategic planner, his organizational skills contributed significantly to the Union victory. 

 

 Jul 23 1914 – WWI:  How it Started     »    At six o’clock in the evening, nearly one month 

after the assassination of Austrian Archduke Franz Ferdinand and his wife by a young 

Serbian nationalist in Sarajevo, Bosnia, Baron Giesl von Gieslingen, ambassador of the 

Austro-Hungarian Empire to Serbia, delivers an ultimatum to the Serbian foreign ministry. 

Acting with the full support of its allies in Berlin, Austria-Hungary had determined in the 

aftermath of Franz Ferdinand’s assassination to pursue a hard-line policy towards Serbia. 

Their plan, developed in coordination with the German foreign office, was to force a military 

conflict that would, Vienna hoped, end quickly and decisively with a crushing Austrian 

victory before the rest of Europe—namely, Serbia’s powerful ally, Russia—had time to react. 
 

    According to the terms of the ultimatum delivered on 23 JUL, the Serbian government 

would have to accept an Austro-Hungarian inquiry into the assassination, notwithstanding its 

claim that it was already conducting its own internal investigation. Serbia was also to 

suppress all anti-Austrian propaganda and to take steps to root out and eliminate terrorist 

organizations within its borders—one such organization, the Black Hand, was believed to 

have aided and abetted the archduke’s killer, Gavrilo Princip, and his cohorts, providing 

weapons and safe passage from Belgrade to Sarajevo. The Dual Monarchy demanded an 

answer to the note within 48 hours—by that time, however, anticipating Serbian defiance, 

Gieslingen had already packed his bags and prepared to leave the embassy. 
 

     While the world waited for Serbia’s response, Germany worked diplomatically to contain 

the effects of the ultimatum, but none of the other great powers, with reason, were inclined to 

see Austria-Hungary, with its relatively weak military, as acting alone. By 1914, the battle 

lines had been drawn in Europe: if Germany stood with Austria-Hungary against Serbia (and 

by extension, Russia) then Russia’s allies, France and Britain, would be likely to step into the 

fray as well. The British cabinet, just after receiving the news of the Austrian note to Serbia, 

held a meeting in London, one that had previously been devoted to discussing Ireland’s 

desire for independence. This note, as Winston Churchill famously wrote, was clearly an 

ultimatum, but it was an ultimatum such as had never been penned in modern times. As the 

reading proceeded it seemed absolutely impossible that any State in the world could accept it, 

or that any acceptance, however abject, would satisfy the aggressor. The parishes of 

Fermanagh and Tyrone faded back into the mists and squalls of Ireland, and a strange light 

began to fall upon the map of Europe. 
 

     On receipt of the ultimatum, Serbia at once appealed to Russia, whose council of 

ministers met on 24 JUL to determine a course of action. Russian Foreign Minister Sergey 

Sazonov voiced his belief that Germany was using the crisis over the archduke’s death as a 

pretext for starting a preventive war to defend its interests in the region. Defying Austro-
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German expectations that Russia would back down in the case of such a conflict, the council 

agreed to order four military districts to prepare for mobilization. 
 

     Meanwhile, in Belgrade on the afternoon of 25 JUL, convinced that Austria-Hungary was 

preparing for a fight, Serbian Prime Minister Nicola Pasic ordered the Serbian army to 

mobilize. Pasic himself delivered the Serbian answer to the ultimatum to Gieslingen at the 

Austrian embassy, just before the 6 p.m. deadline. Serbia’s response effectively accepted all 

terms of the ultimatum but one: it would not accept Austria-Hungary’s participation in any 

internal inquiry, stating that this would be a violation of the Constitution and of the law of 

criminal procedure. This response did much to appeal Pasic and his country to international 

observers of the conflict; to Vienna, however, it made little difference. Gieslingen, bags 

packed and car waiting to drive him to the railroad station, broke the Dual Monarchy’s 

diplomatic relations with Serbia and left to catch his train. Three days later, on July 28, 1914, 

Austria-Hungary declared war on Serbia, beginning the First World War. 

 

 Jul 23 1940 – U.S.*Russia:  Wells Declaration    »    A diplomatic statement issued on July 

23, 1940, by Sumner Welles, the United States' acting Secretary of State, condemning the 

June 1940 occupation by the Soviet Union of the three Baltic states of Estonia, Latvia and 

Lithuania, and refusing to recognize their annexation as Soviet Republics. It was an 

application of the 1932 Stimson Doctrine of non-recognition of international territorial 

changes that were executed by force and was was consistent with U.S. President Franklin D. 

Roosevelt's attitude towards territorial expansion. 
 

     The Soviet invasion was an implementation of its 1939 Molotov–Ribbentrop Pact with 

Nazi Germany, which contained a secret protocol by which the two powers agreed to 

partition and annex the independent states between them. After the pact, the Soviets engaged 

in a series of ultimatums and actions ending in the annexation of the Baltic States during the 

summer of 1940. While the area held little strategic importance to the United States, several 

legations of the U.S. State Department established diplomatic relationships there. The United 

States and Britain anticipated future involvement in the war, but U.S. isolationism and a 

foreseeable British–Soviet alliance deterred open confrontation over the Baltics. Welles, 

concerned with postwar border planning, had been authorized by Roosevelt to issue stronger 

public statements gauging a move towards more intervention. Loy Henderson and other State 

Department officials familiar with the area kept the administration informed of developments 

there, and Henderson, Welles, and Roosevelt worked together to compose the declaration. 
 

     The Welles Declaration established a five-decade non-recognition of the Baltic states' 

annexation and had major significance for overall U.S. policy toward Europe in the critical 

year of 1940. While the U.S. did not engage the Soviet Union militarily in the region, the 

Declaration enabled the Baltic states to maintain independent diplomatic missions, and 

Executive Order 8484 protected Baltic financial assets. Its essence was supported by all 
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subsequent U.S. presidents and Congressional resolutions. The Baltic States re-established 

their independence in 1990–91. 

 

 Jul 23 1942 – Holocaust:  Teblinka Extermination Camp Opens    »    The camp was fitted 

with two buildings containing 10 gas chambers each capable of holding 200 persons.  Carbon 

monoxide gas was piped from engines placed outside the chambers, but Zyklon-B was later 

substituted. Bodies were burned in open pits.  Deportations to the new camp began from the 

Warsaw Ghetto on 22 JUN. 

 

 Jul 23 1942 – WW2: The German offensives Operation Edelweiss (a German plan to gain 

control over the Caucasus) and Operation Braunschweig begin. 

 

 Jul 23 1943 – WW2:   US 45th Infantry division occupies north coast of Termini, Sicily and 

USS George E. Badger (DD-196) sinks German submarine (U 613), en route to mine waters 

off Jacksonville, Fla., south of the Azores. 

 

 Jul 23 1944 – WW2:   Soviet Army marches into Lublin, Poland.  Also on this date U.S. 

troops occupy Pisa, Italy. 

 

 Jul 23 1944 – WW2:  Bombing Raid on Kiel    »   Royal Air Force Bomber Command 

makes its first major raid on a German city in two months, dispatching 629 bombers to attack 

Kiel. The first attack on Kiel since April 1943. The raid bombs all parts of the city and 

particularly the port area, where bombs strike all important submarine and other naval 

facilities. Effective deception measures prevented a successful interception by German 

nightfighters, and only four bombers are lost, a 0.6 percent of the force. Kiel has no water for 

three days, no train or bus service for eight days, and no natural gas for three weeks. 

 

 Jul 23 1945 – WW2:   Marshal Henri Pétain, leader Vichy-regime, goes on trial. 

 

 Jul 23 1951 – Post WW2:  Petain, Leader of the Vichy Government, Dies  »   General 

Henri-Philippe Petain, French national hero of World War I, who was convicted of 

collaboration with the German occupiers of his country during World War II and sentenced 

to life in prison, dies. He is 95. 
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      A graduate of Saint-Cyr Military Academy, Petain served as a second lieutenant in the 

Alpine regiment, where he developed a reputation for camaraderie with the average foot 

soldier. He then went on to a controversial teaching career at the War College, where he 

propounded theories that were in direct conflict with commonly held ideas, especially his 

contention that a strong defense was the key to victory, not the “always be on the attack” 

strategy common to the French military at the time. 
 

      During World War I, General Petain distinguished himself at the Battle of Verdun, during 

which he successfully repulsed German attacks on the fortress city. He was an inspiration to 

his troops and successfully squelched near mutinies within the army after disastrous 

offensives led by General Robert-Georges Nivelle. Petain regained the confidence—and 

loyalty—of those soldiers when he was named Nivelle’s successor, improving their living 

conditions and initiating open communication between command and troops. 
 

      After the outbreak of World War II, Petain was named vice premier by Premier Paul 

Reynaud. As Germany began to overrun more French territory, the French Cabinet became 

desperate. Reynaud continued to hold out hope, refusing to ask for an armistice, especially 

now that France had received assurance from Britain that the two would fight as one, and that 

Britain would continue to fight the Germans even if France were completely overtaken. But 

others in the government were despondent and wanted to sue for peace. Reynaud resigned in 

protest. Petain then formed a new government and asked the Germans for an armistice—in 

effect, surrendering. The man who had become a legendary war hero for successfully 

fighting off a German attack on French soil was now surrendering to Hitler. 
 

     In the city of Vichy, the French Senate and Chamber of Deputies conferred on the 84-

year-old general the title of “Chief of State,” making him a virtual dictator—although one 

controlled by Berlin. Petain believed that he could negotiate a better deal for his country—for 

example, obtaining the release of prisoners of war—by cooperating, or, as some would say, 

appeasing, the Germans. 
 

     When Paris was finally liberated by General Charles de Gaulle in 1944, Petain fled to 

Germany. He was brought back after the war to stand trial for his double-dealing ways. He 

was sentenced to death, which was then commuted to life in solitary confinement. He died at 

95 in a prison fortress. Ironically, the man responsible for saving his life was De Gaulle. He 

and Petain had fought in the same unit in World War I. Petain’s bravery during that world 

war had not been forgotten. 

 

 Jul 23 1962 – U.S.*Laos:  Accord on Laos is Reached   »  Avoiding a Cold War showdown, 

the United States and the Soviet Union sign an agreement guaranteeing a free and neutral 

Laos. While the agreement ended the “official” roles of both nations in the Laotian civil war, 

covert assistance from both Russia and the United States continued to exacerbate the conflict 

in Laos for the next decade. 
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     Laos had been a French colony since 1893. During the 1930s and World War II, an 

independence movement began to grow in the small nation, as did a communist movement 

known as the Pathet Lao. After France granted Laos conditional independence in 1949, the 

Pathet Lao began a civil war against the pro-French Laotian government. In 1954, after the 

devastating defeat of French troops at the hands of Vietnamese independence forces at the 

battle of Dien Bien Phu, an international conference attempted to deal with the situations in 

Southeast Asia. The 1954 Laos decision stated that the Pathet Lao would be confined to two 

remote provinces of Laos, and that national elections would be held in two years to settle all 

political questions. In fact, the conference did nothing to stop the civil war in Laos. The 

Pathet Lao, largely funded and armed with Russian money and weapons funneled through 

communist North Vietnam, continued its attacks. In response, the U.S. became heavily 

involved in providing covert assistance to the Laotian government. 
 

     Despite the U.S. assistance, the communist Pathet Lao appeared on its way to victory by 

1961. President John F. Kennedy issued a thinly veiled threat of direct U.S. intervention in 

Laos if the Soviet Union did not cease its assistance to the communist revolutionaries. Soviet 

leader Nikita Khrushchev, perhaps realizing that the stakes were becoming much too high in 

a nation of only peripheral interest to Russia, agreed to a cease-fire in April 1961. At a 

conference in Geneva in July 1962, the United States and Russia agreed to mutually 

guarantee a free and neutral Laos. 
 

     The 1962 agreement also accomplished very little. American intelligence sources 

indicated that North Vietnam continued to funnel large amounts of Soviet aid into Laos. In 

response, the United States began a “secret war,” using the CIA to arm and train an 

anticommunist force in Laos. In a matter of months, more than 30,000 Laotians, mostly from 

remote hill tribes, were being used to carry out guerrilla operations against the Pathet Lao. 

The U.S. operation was unsuccessful, however. In 1975, shortly after victory of communist 

North Vietnam over South Vietnam, the Pathet Lao took control in Laos, where a communist 

government continues to be in power to this day. 

 

 Jul 23 1964 – Vietnam War:  “Heated” Meetings Begin in Saigon    »   Ambassador 

Maxwell Taylor meets twice with South Vietnamese Premier General Nguyen Khanh to 

register U.S. disapproval of the recent calls by Khanh and Prime Minister Nguyen Cao Ky to 

extend the war into North Vietnam. 
 

     Both meetings were reportedly “heated.” It was also said that Khanh stood firmly against 

Taylor’s reprimands, arguing that the war had changed because of the presence of North 

Vietnamese forces in South Vietnam. Khanh offered to resign at the second meeting, but 

Taylor, who had become convinced that Khanh was partly right about taking the war to the 

North Vietnamese, not only dissuaded him but also ended up cabling Washington that the 

United States should undertake covert planning with the South Vietnamese for bombing the 
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North. In a news conference in Washington on 24 JUL, President Lyndon B. Johnson insisted 

that relations were good between the U.S. and South Vietnam. 

 

 Jul 23 1965 – Vietnam War:  Johnson Urged to Declare State of National Emergency   »   

President Lyndon B. Johnson, in the course of discussions about what to do concerning the 

deteriorating situation in Vietnam, is told by some that he should give the American public 

all the facts, ask for an increase in taxes, mobilize the reserves, and declare a state of national 

emergency in the United States. Johnson rejected this approach, and informed his staff that 

he wanted any decisions implemented in a “low-key manner” in order to avoid an abrupt 

challenge to the communists, and to avoid undue concern and excitement in Congress and in 

domestic public opinion. During these discussions, Secretary of Defense Robert McNamara 

urged the president to “expand promptly and substantially” the U.S. military presence in 

South Vietnam. Johnson, not wanting to “lose” Vietnam to the communists, ultimately 

accepted McNamara’s recommendation and authorized a total of 44 U.S. battalions in South 

Vietnam, which led to a massive escalation of the Vietnam War. 

 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 24 1864 – American Revolution:  Hancock Scolds Schuyler   »   In a letter to Major 

General Phillip Schuyler Congressional President John Hancock accuses the officer of 

tolerating discord among soldiers from different states under his command. Disappointed, 

Hancock told Schuyler that Congress was "concerned to find there should be a necessity of 

recommending harmony to the officers and troops of different States under your command" 

can show greater weakness or wickedness than to throw provincial reflections on one 

another, which must have direct tendency to impede public service, and weaken the union of 

the American States. Schuyler was likely ill-prepared to deal with the diversity of enlisted 

men under his command, coming mainly from the lower ranks of society.  

 

 
 

     They were brought together only by their common desire to defeat the British. He himself 

had a much different background as the product of the moneyed, inbred society of the New 

York elite. His mother, Cornelia Van Cortlandt, and his wife, Catherine Van Rensselaer, 

were both from high-society New York Dutch families. Schuyler served briefly in the 

Continental Congress before receiving his commission as a major general in the Continental 

Army and taking command of the Northern Department. In this capacity, he orchestrated the 
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disastrous, pre-emptive invasion of Canada in 1775, although another brigadier general and 

fellow New Yorker, Richard Montgomery, had to take command when Schuyler’s health 

began to fail. Montgomery went on to lose his life in the failed attack on Quebec City on 

December 31, 1775. 
 

     Schuyler was relieved of his post and replaced by General Horatio Gates after the loss of 

Fort Ticonderoga in April 1777. Schuyler demanded a court martial in order to defend his 

reputation. Vindicated by the proceedings, he resigned from the army and returned to service 

in the Continental Congress. Following the War for Independence, he supported the federal 

Constitution and served two stints in the United States Senate before his health forced him 

into retirement. His family, however, retained power and influence. His daughter, Elizabeth, 

married Alexander Hamilton in 1780. 

 

 Jul 24 1814 – War of 1812:  General Phineas Riall advances toward the Niagara River to 

halt Jacob Brown's American invaders.  

 

 Jul 24 1863 – Civil War:  Custer’s Early “Last Stand”  »  After the Confederate defeat at 

Gettysburg the Union army pursued Gen. Robert E. Lee’s Army of Northern Virginia 

through Rappahannock County as the Confederates marched south for the protection of the 

Rapidan River in Virginia.  During that retreat in the Battle at Battle Mountain Union Gen. 

George A. Custer, with five cavalry regiments and two batteries, attacked the rear of 

Confederate Gen. James Longstreet’s corps and the head of Gen. A.P. Hill’s corps as they 

marched down the Richmond road. Custer placed artillery on the shoulder of Battle Mountain 

and shelled Hill’s men, who returned fire from the embankment on the southeastern corner of 

the crossroads. 
 

     Col. William Oates and the 15th Alabama Infantry conducted a reconnaissance from the 

crossroads northeastward along the side of Battle Mountain. Confederate Gen. Henry L. 

Benning, who was farther south on the Richmond Road, doubled back to flank Custer with 

2,000 Georgia and Alabama infantrymen at Newman’s Crossroads (a quarter mile to the 

east). A member of the 4th Alabama recalled that an “enthusiastic old citizen led us within 50 

yards of the flank of the Union Cavalry.” Custer’s rear guard—two guns of Battery M, 2nd 

U.S. Artillery, and the 5th and 6th Michigan Cavalry—held Benning’s Confederates in check 

for two hours.  
 

     This delaying action enabled Custer and his command to escape by cutting a road through 

dense woods and racing back to his camp at Amissville, several miles northeast. Hill’s corps 

continued its march to Culpeper County. Two Union officers received the Medal of Honor 

for their actions during this engagement. 
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 Jul 24 1864 – Civil War:  Battle of Kernstown, Virginia  »  Confederate General Jubal Early 

defeats Union troops under General George Crook to keep the Shenandoah Valley clear of 

Yankees. 
 

 
Generals Jubal Early and George Crook 

 

     On June 13, 1864, General Robert E. Lee sent Early north from Petersburg to clear the 

Shenandoah of Union troops and relieve pressure on his own beleaguered force. Lee’s Army 

of Northern Virginia had been pinned in Petersburg after a bloody six-week campaign with 

General Ulysses S. Grant’s Army of the Potomac. The campaign mimicked that of General 

Thomas J. “Stonewall” Jackson’s in 1862, when the Confederates successfully relieved 

pressure on Richmond and held off several Union armies in the Valley. 
 

     Early moved into Maryland in July and even threatened Washington before moving back 

up the Potomac and into the valley with Yankee troops in pursuit. On 23 JUL, Early’s troops 

engaged the Union force under Crook near Kernstown, with no clear victory for either side. 

The next day, Early struck Crook with his entire force and found the Federals in a vulnerable 

position. The Yankees were routed and fled back down the valley. 
 

     Early’s victory led to significant changes in the Union approach to the Shenandoah 

Valley. President Abraham Lincoln urged Grant to secure the area once and for all. Grant 

sent General Philip Sheridan to command the district in early August, and in the fall Sheridan 

dealt a series of defeats to Early and pacified the valley. Casualties and losses: US 590 - CSA 

718. 

 

 Jul 24 1917 – WW1:  Mata Hari Trial Begins   »   In December 1916, the Second Bureau of 

the French War Ministry let Margaretha Zelle a.k.a. Mata Hari obtain the names of six 

Belgian agents. Five were suspected of submitting fake material and working for the 

Germans, while the sixth was suspected of being a double agent for Germany and France. 

Two weeks after Mata Hari had left Paris for a trip to Madrid, the double agent was executed 

by the Germans, while the five others continued their operations. This development served as 

proof to the Second Bureau that the names of the six spies had been communicated by Mata 

Hari to the Germans. 
 

     On 13 February 1917, she was arrested in her room at the Hotel Elysée Palace on the 

Champs Elysées in Paris. She was put on trial on 24 July, accused of spying for Germany, 

and consequently causing the deaths of at least 50,000 soldiers. Although the French and 

British intelligence suspected her of spying for Germany, neither could produce definite 
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evidence against her. Supposedly, secret ink was found in her room, which was incriminating 

evidence in that period. She contended that it was part of her makeup 
 

 
Margaretha Zelle when arrested and her mug shots 

 

     Zelle's principal interrogator, who grilled her relentlessly, was Captain Pierre 

Bouchardon; he was later to prosecute her at trial. Bouchardon was able to establish that 

much of the Mata Hari persona was invented, and far from being a Javanese princess, Zelle 

was actually Dutch, which he was to use as evidence of her dubious and dishonest character 

at her trial. Zelle admitted to Bouchardon that she had accepted 20,000 francs from a German 

diplomat in the Netherlands to spy on France, but insisted she only passed on to the Germans 

trivial information as her loyalty was entirely to her adopted nation, France. In the meantime, 

Georges Ladoux,  the head of French counterintelligence, had been preparing a case against 

his former agent by casting all of her activities in the worst possible light, going so far as to 

engage in evidence tampering. 
 

     Her defense attorney, veteran international lawyer Édouard Clunet, faced impossible 

odds; he was denied permission either to cross-examine the prosecution's witnesses or to 

examine his own witnesses directly. Zelle wrote several letters to the Dutch Ambassador in 

Paris, claiming her innocence. "My international connections are due of my work as a dancer, 

nothing else .... Because I really did not spy, it is terrible that I cannot defend myself".  The 

most terrible and heartbreaking moment for Mata Hari during the trial occurred when her 

lover Maslov – by now a deeply embittered man as a result of losing his eyes in combat – 

declined to testify for her, telling her he couldn't care less if she was convicted or not. It was 

reported that Zelle fainted when she learned that Maslov had abandoned her.  
 

      Bouchardon used the very fact that Zelle was a woman as evidence of her guilt, saying: 

"Without scruples, accustomed to making use of men, she is the type of woman who is born 

to be a spy." At her trial, Zelle vehemently insisted that her sympathies were with the Allies 

and declared her passionate love of France, her adopted homeland.  Zelle was executed by a 

firing squad of 12 French soldiers just before dawn on 15 October 1917. She was 41 

 

 Jul 24 1940 – WW2 Era:  Neutral French liner Meknes, taking 1,100 French sailors back to 

France, sunk by German E-boat 572: 400 killed.  Red Cross estimates 5.5 million refugees in 

Vichy France. 

 

 Jul 24 1941 – Holocaust:  Nazis Kill Entire Jewish Population of Grodz, Lithuania   »   By 

the end of August 1941, most Jews in rural Lithuania had been shot. By November 1941, the 
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Germans also massacred most of the Jews who had been concentrated in ghettos in the larger 

cities. The surviving 40,000 Jews were concentrated in the Vilna, Kovno, Siauliai, and 

Svencionys ghettos, and in various labor camps in Lithuania. Living conditions were 

miserable, with severe food shortages, outbreaks of disease, and overcrowding. 
 

 
 

     In 1943, the Germans destroyed the Vilna and Svencionys ghettos, and converted the 

Kovno and Siauliai ghettos into concentration camps. Some 15,000 Lithuanian Jews were 

deported to labor camps in Latvia and Estonia. About 5,000 Jews were deported to killing 

centers in German-occupied Poland, where they were murdered. Shortly before withdrawing 

from Lithuania in the fall of 1944, the Germans deported about 10,000 Jews from Kovno and 

Siauliai to concentration camps in Germany. Soviet troops reoccupied Lithuania in the 

summer of 1944. In the previous three years, the Germans had murdered about 90 percent of 

Lithuanian Jews, one of the highest victim rates in Europe. 

 

 Jul 24 1942 – WW2:  Roosevelt agrees with Churchill that operation ‘Gymnast’ should 

proceed, whilst operation ‘Sledgehammer’ should be canceled. 
 

Also on this date: 
 

 Rostov-on-Don is captured by the 1st Panzer Army, thus clearing the way for the advance 

of Army Group A toward the Caucasus and Kuban region. Large numbers of Russian 

troops are liquidated in and around Rostov after German troopsÂ have secured the city. 
 

 Finland approaches the United States, seeking its protection from the Soviets should 

Finland switch sides and join the allies. 

 

 Jul 24 1943 – WW2:  Operation Gomorrah is Launched   »   British bombers raid Hamburg, 

Germany, by night in Operation Gomorrah, while Americans bomb it by day in its own 

“Blitz Week.” 
 

     Britain had suffered the deaths of 167 civilians as a result of German bombing raids in 

July. Now the tables were going to turn. The evening of 24 JUL saw British aircraft drop 

2,300 tons of incendiary bombs on Hamburg in just a few hours. The explosive power was 

the equivalent of what German bombers had dropped on London in their five most 
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destructive raids. Fires are visible for 200 miles. More than 1,500 German civilians were 

killed in that first British raid. Britain lost only 12 aircraft in this raid (791 flew), thanks to a 

new radar-jamming device called “Window,” which consisted of strips of aluminum foil 

dropped by the bombers en route to their target. These Window strips confused German 

radar, which mistook the strips for dozens and dozens of aircraft, diverting them from the 

trajectory of the actual bombers. To make matters worse for Germany, the U.S. Eighth Air 

Force began a more comprehensive bombing run of northern Germany, which included two 

raids on Hamburg during daylight hours. 
 

 
Typical bomb damage in the Eibek district of Hamburg, 1944 or 1945 

 

    British attacks on Hamburg continued until November of that year. Although the 

percentage of British bombers lost increased with each raid as the Germans became more 

adept at distinguishing between Window diversions and actual bombers, Operation 

Gomorrah proved devastating to Hamburg—not to mention German morale. When it was 

over, 17,000 bomber sorties dropped more than 9,000 tons of explosives, killing more than 

30,000 people and destroying 280,000 buildings, including industrial and munitions plants. 

The effect on Hitler, too, was significant. He refused to visit the burned-out cities, as the 

ruins bespoke nothing but the end of the war for him. Diary entries of high German officials 

from this period describe a similar despair, as they sought to come to terms with defeat. 
 

Also on this date: 
 

 A battle-damaged USAAF B-17 Flying Fortress crash-lands in Sweden. Its ten-man crew 

becomes the first of nearly 1,000 American and other Allied airmen to be granted refuge 

in neutral Sweden during World War 2. 
 

 A 10-hour meeting of fascist grand council passes a motion, 19 votes to 7, asking that the 

King of Italy takes over command of all Italian forces from Mussolini. 
 

 The U.S. submarine Tinosa fires 15 torpedoes at a lone Japanese merchant ship, none 

detonate. 

 

 Jul 24 1944 – WW2:  Battle of Tinian (24 JUL – 1 Aug)   »   Tinian was part of Japan's 

South Pacific Mandate. By June 1944, it had a population of 15,700 Japanese civilians, 

including 2,700 ethnic Koreans and 22 ethnic Chamorro. The Japanese defending the island, 
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the 50th Infantry Regiment, which was originally part of 29th Division, were commanded by 

Colonel Kiyochi Ogata and his subordinate Goichi Oya. Vice-Admiral Kakuji Kakuta, 

commander of First Air Fleet, was headquartered in Manila, but on Tinian on an inspection 

tour when the invasion started. 
 

     The US naval bombardment commenced on 16 JUL, with three battleships, five cruisers 

and sixteen destroyers. The battleship Colorado and the destroyer Norman Scott were both 

hit by 150mm Japanese shore batteries. Colorado was hit 22 times, killing 43 men and 

wounding 198. Norman Scott was hit six times, killing the captain, Seymore Owens, and 18 

of his seamen, plus wounding 47. 
 

 
U.S. Marines wading ashore and landing on Tinian 

 

     The 4th Marine Division landed on 24 July 1944, supported by naval bombardment and 

marine artillery firing across the strait from Saipan. With the help of Seabee ingenuity the 

Marines were able to land where along the Northwest coast with its two small beaches and 

low coral. The rest of the island had coral cliffs up to 15 feet in height at the water’s edge 

negating any assault plans. Commodore Paul J. Halloran (CEC) CB theater commander 

provided drawings of a conceptual landing ramp for the 18th and 121st CBs to fabricate. 

They mounted steel beams salvaged from Saipan's abandoned sugar mill on LVT-2s to create 

a portable assault ramps. If they worked they would allow the Marines to outflank Tinian's 

prepared defenses.  
 

     The Marine Generals were skeptical and ordered that the ramps be put through a 100-

vehicle use test. The Seabee creation was named a Doodlebug. It worked exactly as the 

Marines had hoped. A successful feint for the major settlement of Tinian Town diverted 

defenders from the actual landing site on the north of the island. They withstood a series of 

night counterattacks supported by tanks, and the 2nd Marine Division landed the next day. 

The weather worsened on 28 JUL, damaging the pontoon causeways, and interrupting the 

unloading of supplies. By 29 JUL, the Americans had captured half the island, and on 30 

JUL, the 4th Marine Division occupied Tinian Town and Airfield No. 4. 
 

     Japanese remnants made a final stand in the caves and ravines of a limestone ridge on the 

south portion of the island, making probes and counterattacks into the Marine line. 

Resistance continued through 3 AUG, with some civilians murdered by the Japanese.  By 10 
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August 1944, 13,000 Japanese civilians were interned, but up to 4,000 were dead through 

suicide, murdered by Japanese troops, or killed in combat. The garrison on Aguijan Island off 

the southwest cape of Tinian, commanded by Lieutenant Kinichi Yamada, held out until the 

end of the war, surrendering on 4 September 1945. The last holdout on Tinian, Murata 

Susumu, was captured in 1953. 
 

     After the battle, Tinian became an important base for further Allied operations in the 

Pacific campaign. Camps were built for 50,000 troops. Fifteen thousand Seabees turned the 

island into the busiest airfield of the war, with six 7,900-foot runways for attacks by United 

States Army Air Forces B-29 Superfortress bombers on enemy targets in the Philippines, the 

Ryukyu Islands, and mainland Japan, including the March 9/10 1945 Operation 

Meetinghouse firebombing of Tokyo and the atomic bombings of Hiroshima and Nagasaki. 

North Field was built over Airfields No. 1 and 3, and became operational in February 1945, 

while West Field was built over Airfield No. 2, and became operational in March 1945. 
 

     Four 1,000-bed hospitals were planned and located in preparation for the invasion of 

Japan. None were actually built, as the Japanese surrendered after the atomic bombs were 

dropped, which thus ended the need for the hospitals. 

 

 Jul 24 1944 – WW2:  Majdanek Concentration Camp Liberated    »   In late July 1944, as 

Soviet forces approached Lublin, the Germans hastily evacuated Majdanek.  The SS had 

evacuated most of the prisoners to concentration camps further west during the spring of 

1944. Soviet troops captured Lublin and liberated Majdanek on 24 JUL. The Germans did 

not have time to dismantle the camp entirely. Captured virtually intact, Majdanek was the 

first major concentration camp to be liberated. Soviet officials invited journalists to inspect 

the camp and evidence of the horrors that had occurred there. 
 

     The staff had only succeeded in partially destroying the crematoria making Majdanek the 

best-preserved camp of the Holocaust. It was the first major concentration camp liberated by 

Allied forces, and the horrors found there were widely publicized. Although 1,000 inmates 

had previously been forcibly marched to Auschwitz (of whom only half arrived alive), the 

Red Army still found thousands of inmates, mainly POWs, still in the camp and ample 

evidence of the mass murder that had occurred there. 

 

 Jul 24 1945 – WW2:  After a morning session in Potsdam, Truman casually tells Stalin the 

U.S. has a new weapon of unusual destructive force. Truman later writes in his dairy: All he 

said was that he was glad to hear it and hoped we would make good use of it against the 

Japanese.  The next day, the Army Air Force is given a general order to use the bomb against 

Japan.   

 

 Jul 24 1945 – WW2:  Kaiten Torpedo Sinks USS Underhill    »   The destroyer escort 

Underhill (DE-682)—under Lieutenant Commander Robert M. Newcomb—was assigned 
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flagship of a convoy carrying United States Army soldiers of the 96th Infantry Division from 

Okinawa to the Philippines. The convoy included eight other escorts tasked with delivering 

six LSTs and the troopship Adria. The American ships were steaming around 250 mi 

northeast of Cape Engano and nearing their destination when a Japanese bomber—scouting 

for the Japanese submarine I-53—appeared. Lt. Cdr. Newcomb ordered his ships to battle 

stations but the bomber remained outside the ships' range. In an attempt to destroy as many 

allied ships as possible, the Imperial Japanese Navy had begun arming their submarine fleet 

(including I-53) with manned torpedoes called kaitens. 
 

 
USS Underhill (DE-682) left and three kaitens aboard a Japanese submarine during the war (right). 

  

    Forty-five minutes later, the convoy was sailing southwest when the Japanese submarine 

Commander Saichi Oba released his kaitens and sent them forward. They were armed with a 

3,000 lb explosive, equivalent to two torpedoes, and once released could not be retrieved.  To 

divert the American convoy into the path of the kaiten, Cdr. Oba had released a dummy mine 

which was observed and engaged by the guns of Underhill. After several direct hits, the mine 

was determined to be a dud by the Americans and they continued on with their patrol. 

Shortly thereafter, a sonar contact was made, so Underhill and PC-804 began depth charging 

the area. The destroyer escort is credited with sinking one of the kaiten at this point while 

another attacked PC-804. It missed the chaser and the kaiten turned around for a surface 

attack on Underhill. Lt. Cdr. Newcomb ordered a ramming maneuver because the kaiten was 

too close for his guns to bear. Underhill then sailed right over the kaiten and it exploded 

along with the escort's boilers and readied ammunition.  
 

     Underhill was torn in two, the bow section of the ship quickly sank with all hands; the aft 

section remained afloat until being sunk by American gunfire the following day. All 122 

survivors were wounded in action and each sailor received a Purple Heart. Lt. Cdr. Newcomb 

was killed and he was posthumously awarded the Silver Star. Two of the remaining 

American warships depth charged the area for an hour after Underhill was destroyed, but I-

53 escaped and arrived back in Japan a month later, just before the end of the war. The 

engagement was one of the last in the Pacific War and was one of the few victories of the 

Japanese kaiten program. 

 

 Jul 24 1959 – Cold War:  Nixon and Khrushchev “Kitchen Debate”   »    During the grand 

opening ceremony of the American National Exhibition in Moscow, Vice President Richard 

Nixon and Soviet leader Nikita Khrushchev engage in a heated debate about capitalism and 
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communism in the middle of a model kitchen set up for the fair. The so-called “kitchen 

debate” became one of the most famous episodes of the Cold War. 
 

     In late 1958, the Soviet Union and the United States agreed to set up national exhibitions 

in each other’s nation as part of their new emphasis on cultural exchanges. The Soviet 

exhibition opened in New York City in June 1959; the U.S. exhibition opened in Sokolniki 

Park in Moscow in July. On 24 JUL, before the Moscow exhibition was officially opened to 

the public, Vice President Nixon served as a host for a visit by Soviet leader Khrushchev. As 

Nixon led Khrushchev through the American exhibition, the Soviet leader’s famous temper 

began to flare. When Nixon demonstrated some new American color television sets, 

Khrushchev launched into an attack on the so-called “Captive Nations Resolution” passed by 

the U.S. Congress just days before. The resolution condemned the Soviet control of the 

“captive” peoples of Eastern Europe and asked all Americans to pray for their deliverance.  
 

     After denouncing the resolution, Khrushchev then sneered at the U.S. technology on 

display, proclaiming that the Soviet Union would have the same sort of gadgets and 

appliances within a few years. Nixon, never one to shy away from a debate, goaded 

Khrushchev by stating that the Russian leader should “not be afraid of ideas. After all, you 

don’t know everything.” The Soviet leader snapped at Nixon, “You don’t know anything 

about communism–except fear of it.” 
 

 
 

     With a small army of reporters and photographers following them, Nixon and Khrushchev 

continued their argument in the kitchen of a model home built in the exhibition. With their 

voices rising and fingers pointing, the two men went at each other. Nixon suggested that 

Khrushchev’s constant threats of using nuclear missiles could lead to war, and he chided the 

Soviet for constantly interrupting him while he was speaking. Taking these words as a threat, 

Khrushchev warned of “very bad consequences.” Perhaps feeling that the exchange had gone 

too far, the Soviet leader then noted that he simply wanted “peace with all other nations, 

especially America.” Nixon rather sheepishly stated that he had not “been a very good host.” 
 

    The “kitchen debate” was front-page news in the United States the next day. For a few 

moments, in the confines of a “modern” kitchen, the diplomatic gloves had come off and 

America and the Soviet Union had verbally jousted over which system was superior–

communism or capitalism. As with so many Cold War battles, however, there was no clear 

winner–except perhaps for the U.S. media, which had a field day with the dramatic 

encounter. 
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     In the Kitchen Debate, Khrushchev claimed that Nixon's grandchildren would live under 

communism and Nixon claimed that Khrushchev's grandchildren would live in freedom. In a 

1992 interview, Nixon commented that at the time of the debate, he was sure Khrushchev's 

claim was wrong, but Nixon was not sure that his own assertion was correct. Nixon said that 

events had proven that he was indeed right because Khrushchev's grandchildren now lived in 

freedom, referring to then recent collapse of the Soviet Union. Khrushchev's son Sergei 

Khrushchev was a naturalized American citizen. 

 

 Jul 24 1965 – Vietnam War:  North Vietnam Increases Air Defense Capabilities   »   In the 

air war, four F-4C Phantom jets escorting a formation of U.S. bombers on a raid over 

munitions manufacturing facilities at Kang Chi, 55 miles northwest of Hanoi, are fired at 

from an unknown launching site. It was the first time the enemy had launched antiaircraft 

missiles at U.S. aircraft. 
 

     One plane was destroyed and the other three damaged. The presence of ground-to-air 

antiaircraft missiles represented a rapidly improving air defense capability for the North 

Vietnamese. As the war progressed, North Vietnam, supplied by China and the Soviet Union, 

would fashion a very effective and integrated air defense system that proved to be a 

formidable challenge to American flyers conducting missions over North Vietnam. 

 

 Jul 24 1990 – Pre Gulf War:  U.S. warships in Persian Gulf placed on alert after Iraq 

masses nearly 30,000 troops near its border with Kuwait. 

 

 Jul 24 1991 – U.S.*Iraq:  Operation Provide Comfort Ends    »   On 5 APR, the United 

Nations Security Council passed Resolution 688, calling on Iraq to end repression of its 

civilian population. The 1991 uprising in northern Iraq had resulted in an Iraqi military 

response towards the rebels in both northern and southern Iraq. Fearing another genocide like 

what had happened during the 1988 Anfal campaign, millions of Kurds fled towards the 

border with Iran and Turkey. 
 

     On 6 April, Operation Provide Comfort began to bring humanitarian relief to the Kurds. A 

no-fly zone was established by the US, the UK, and France north of the 36th parallel, as part 

of the Iraqi no-fly zones. This was enforced by US, UK, and French aircraft. Included in this 

effort was the delivery of humanitarian relief of over an estimated 1 million Kurdish refugees 

by a 6-nation airlift operation commanded from Incirlik Air Base Turkey involving aircraft 

from the US, UK, France, Germany, Canada, and Italy. Soviet aircraft participated in 

logistical aspects of the operation.  
 

     During the 31-day airlift, more tonnage was delivered and more air miles flown than in 

the entire Berlin Airlift. C-130s and other transport aircraft flew air drop missions under 

AWACS control with A-10s and F-16s providing air and ground fire support for the airlift 
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aircraft. On several occasions A-10s neutralized Iraqi radar units in the Zaku area.  Casualties 

and losses: U.S. 31 killed, 30 wounded – Iraq 90 killed, 85 wounded. 

 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 25 1783 – American Revolution:  The war's last action, the Siege of Cuddalore, is 

ended by preliminary peace agreement. Casualties and losses: GB 1,000 - FR 1,000. 

 

 Jul 25 1814 – War of 1812:  Battle of Niagara Falls (Lundy's Lane)   »   One of the 

bloodiest battles of the war and one of the deadliest battles ever fought in Canada.  Lundy's 

Lane was a spur from the main portage road alongside the Niagara River. It ran along the 

summit of some rising ground (about 25 feet higher than the surrounding area) and therefore 

commanded good views of the area. The British of about 3500 men and 8 artillery were 

massed in a cemetery at the highest point of the battlefield.  
 

 
 

     The American 1st Brigade of about 1000 regulars emerged in the late afternoon from a 

forest into an open field and were badly mauled by the British artillery.  The subsequent all 

night battle was a tactical draw with both sides left on the battlefield but a British strategic 

victory because the Americans had suffered so many casualties that they were now 

outnumbered and forced to withdraw. There were over 1,500 casualties including 258 killed. 

 

 Jul 25 1861 – Civil War:  Crittenden–Johnson Resolution   »   Congress approved a 

resolution defining the Federal government’s goals in the war. The resolution had been 

initiated in the House of Representatives on 22 JUL by Congressman John J. Crittenden of 

Kentucky to define why the war was being prosecuted. The resolution consisted of two parts, 

or branches, which members voted on separately. The first branch stated:  “Resolved by the 

House of Representatives of the Congress of the United States, That the present deplorable 

civil war has been forced upon the country by the disunionists of the southern States now in 

revolt against the constitutional government, and in arms around the capital.” Members 



 

88 | P a g e  
 

approved this branch by a vote of 121-2. The dissenters, Henry C. Burnett of Kentucky and 

John W. Reid of Missouri, later joined the Confederacy. 
 

   The second branch stated:  “That in this national emergency, Congress, banishing all 

feelings of mere passion or resentment, will recollect only its duty to the whole country; that 

this war is not waged on their part in any spirit of oppression, or for any purpose of conquest 

or subjugation, or purpose of overthrowing or interfering with the rights or established 

institutions of those (Confederate) States, but to defend and maintain the supremacy of the 

Constitution, and to preserve the Union with all the dignity, equality, and rights of the several 

States unimpaired; and that as soon as these objects are accomplished the war ought to 

cease.” 
 

 
Crittenden and Johnson 

 

     Members approved this branch by a vote of 119-2, with John F. Potter of Wisconsin and 

Albert G. Riddle of Ohio dissenting. This reflected President Abraham Lincoln’s inaugural 

pledge to preserve the Union while not interfering with slavery where it already existed. 

Several Radical Republicans objected to the clause pledging non-interference with 

Confederate institutions (i.e., slavery) and many, such as Thaddeus Stevens of Pennsylvania, 

abstained from voting on the measure. Three days later, on the 25th, the Senate approved the 

Crittenden Resolution, which became known as the Crittenden-Johnson Resolution with the 

sponsorship of Senator Andrew Johnson of Tennessee. The senators removed the House’s 

division between the resolution’s two “branches” and approved the measure by a vote of 30-

5. 
 

     The resolution sought to highlight the view of most Federal authorities that the southern 

states had launched an unlawful rebellion, and that the conflict would end as soon as those 

states stopped rebelling. It also served to unite northern political parties by assuring 

Democrats that Lincoln and the Republicans would not interfere with slavery while waging 

war. It became the only congressional declaration explaining why the Federal government 

was fighting the war. As such, it served as the only legal basis besides Lincoln’s executive 

actions, which political opponents argued infringed on the right of Congress, not the 

president, to make law. 
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 Jul 25 1861 – Civil War:  Skirmish at Fort Fillmore   »   In New Mexico Territory rebels 

attack Union troops. Two days after the Union's unsuccessful attack on Confederate soldiers 

at the First Battle of Mesilla.  Fort Fillmore under the command of Lt. Col. John Baylor was 

set afire on July 25, 1861 and abandoned by the Union army. As they retreated back to Fort 

Stanton under Major Isaac Lynde, they became desperately thirsty and exhausted. When 300 

Confederate soldiers approached the 500 retreating Union soldiers, Lynde surrendered his 

demoralized troops without firing a shot. 

 

 Jul 25 1898 – U.S.*Puerto Rico:  U.S. Invades Puerto Rico   »  During the Spanish-

American War, U.S. forces launch their invasion of Puerto Rico, the 108-mile-long, 40-mile-

wide island that was one of Spain’s two principal possessions in the Caribbean. After over 

two months of sea–based bombardment with little resistance and only seven deaths, U.S. 

troops under General Nelson A. Miles landing at the harbor of Guánica, were able to secure 

the island by mid-August. After the signing of an armistice with Spain, American troops 

raised the U.S. flag over the island, formalizing U.S. authority over its one million 

inhabitants. In December, the Treaty of Paris was signed, ending the Spanish-American War 

and officially approving the cession of Puerto Rico to the United States. 
 

 
   

    In the first three decades of its rule, the U.S. government made efforts to Americanize its 

new possession, including granting full U.S. citizenship to Puerto Ricans in 1917 and 

considering a measure that would make English the island’s official language. However, 

during the 1930s, a nationalist movement led by the Popular Democratic Party won wide 

support across the island, and further U.S. assimilation was successfully opposed. Beginning 

in 1948, Puerto Ricans could elect their own governor, and in 1952 the U.S. Congress 

approved a new Puerto Rican constitution that made the island an autonomous U.S. 

commonwealth, with its citizens retaining American citizenship. The constitution was 

formally adopted by Puerto Rico on July 25, 1952, the 54th anniversary of the U.S. invasion. 
 

     Movements for Puerto Rican statehood, along with lesser movements for Puerto Rican 

independence, have won supporters on the island, but popular referendums in 1967 and 1993 

demonstrated that the majority of Puerto Ricans still supported their special status as a U.S. 

commonwealth. 
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 Jul 25 1917 – WWI:  Alleged Spy Mata Hari Sentenced to Die  »   In Paris, France, on July 

25, 1917, the exotic dancer Margaretha Zelle a.k.a. Mata Hari is sentenced to death by a 

French court for spying on Germany’s behalf during World War I. 
 

 
 

     Since 1903, Margueretha Gertruida Zelle, born in a small town in northern Holland and 

formerly married to a captain in the Dutch army, had performed in Paris as a dancer. She 

adopted the stage persona of Mata Hari, claiming she was born in a sacred Indian temple and 

taught ancient Indian dances by a priestess who gave her the name, which meant “eye of the 

dawn.” Her exotic dances soon earned her fans all over Europe, where she packed dance 

halls from Moscow to Berlin to Madrid, largely because of her willingness to dance almost 

entirely naked in public. 
 

     Mata Hari also became a celebrated courtesan, and by the outbreak of World War I, her 

catalog of lovers included high-ranking military officers and political figures from both 

France and Germany. The circumstances of her alleged spying activities during the war were 

and remain unclear: it was said that, while in the Netherlands in 1916, she was offered cash 

by a German consul to report back information obtained on her next visit to France. It 

appears that British intelligence discovered details of this arrangement and passed them on to 

their counterparts in France. In any case, Mata Hari was arrested in Paris in February 1917. 
 

     Under interrogation by French military intelligence, Mata Hari herself admitted that she 

had passed outdated information to a German intelligence officer, yet she claimed that she 

had also been paid to act as a French spy in Belgium (then occupied by the Germans), though 

she had not informed the French of her prior dealings with the German consul. She was 

apparently acting as a double agent, though the Germans had apparently written her off as an 

ineffective agent whose activities had produced little intelligence of value. 
 

     Mata Hari was tried in a military court and sentenced, on July 25, 1917, to execution by 

firing squad. As the Times of London reported on October 15, 1917, the day of her 

execution, “She was in the habit of meeting notorious German spy-masters outside French 

territory, and she was proved to have communicated important information to them, in return 

for which she had received several large sums of money since May 1916.” Her trial was 

riddled with bias and circumstantial evidence, however, and many believed the French 

authorities, as well as the press, trumped her up as “the greatest woman spy of the century” 

as a distraction for the huge losses the French army was suffering on the Western Front. 
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Viewed by many as a victim due to her career as a dancer and courtesan and the French need 

to find a scapegoat, Mata Hari remains one of the most glamorous figures to come out of the 

shadowy world of espionage, and the archetype of the female spy. 

 

 Jul 25 1940 – WW2:  Swiss Gen. Henri Guisan, commander of all Swiss forces, reacts to an 

appeasement-oriented speech by Federal President Marcel Pilet-Golaz by assembling 650 

Swiss military officers in the Field of Rutli – the birthplace of Swiss independence – to make 

it clear the Swiss Army would resist any German or Italian invasion. “As long as in Europe 

millions stand under arms, and as long as important forces are able to attack us at any time, 

this army has to remain at its post.” Pilet-Golaz and BerlinÂreact with outrage, but 

Switzerland remains independent. 
 

Also on this date: 
 

 British claim 25 German planes downed in a day, the highest total so far. 
 

 Compulsory evacuation of women and children ordered from Gibraltar. 
 

 Italy bombs the British naval base at Alexandria and the base at Haifa. 

 

 Jul 25 1941 – WW2:  Italian motorboats with 33 Italian naval assault troops attempt to enter 

Valletta harbor on the island of Malta to attack British ships, but are discovered. All eight 

boats are sunk with 15 men being killed and 18 taken prisoner. 
 

Also on this date: 
 

 Japan announces Indochina protectorate. It begins military occupation of bases July 28 to 

prepare for attack on Malay. 
 

 United States, UK and Dominions freeze all Japanese assets. 

 

 Jul 25 1942 – WW2:  Army Group A breaks out of its bridgeheads on the lower Don, along 

with the 4th Panzer Army which holds the eastern most of these. Army Group A drives 

south, whilst 4th Panzer Army attacks east and then north-east to link up with the rest of 

Army Group B as its advances towards Stalingrad. The South Front under General 

Malinovsky is being quickly shattered and the remnants are absorbed in to the North 

Caucasus Front, which is commanded by Marshal Budenny. Despite the lack of supplies are 

intense heat, the Germans make rapid progress. Further north, the 6th Army attempts to 

bounce its way across the river Don, but is initially repulsed and so waits for the 4th Panzer 

Army to arrive. 

 

 Jul 25 1943 – WW2:  Mussolini Falls from Power   »   Benito Mussolini, fascist dictator of 

Italy, is voted out of power by his own Grand Council and arrested upon leaving a meeting 

with King Vittorio Emanuele, who tells Il Duce that the war is lost. Mussolini responded to it 

all with an uncharacteristic meekness. 
 

     During the evening of 14 JUL and the early hours of the 25th, the Grand Council of the 

fascist government met to discuss the immediate future of Italy. While all in attendance were 

jittery about countermanding their leader, Mussolini was sick, tired, and overwhelmed by the 
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military reverses suffered by the Italian military. He seemed to be looking for a way out of 

power. One of the more reasonable within the Council, Dino Grandi, argued that the 

dictatorship had brought Italy to the brink of military disaster, elevated incompetents to 

levels of power, and alienated large portions of the population. He proposed a vote to transfer 

some of the leader’s power to the king. The motion was passed, with Mussolini barely 

reacting. While some extremists balked, and would later try to convince Mussolini to have 

those who voted with Grandi arrested, Il Duce was simply paralyzed, unable to choose any 

course of action. 
 

     Shortly after the Grand Council vote, Mussolini, groggy and unshaven, kept his routine 

20-minute meeting with the king, during which he normally updated Victor Emanuele on the 

current state of affairs. This morning, the king informed Mussolini that General Pietro 

Badoglio would assume the powers of prime minister and that the war was all but lost for the 

Italians. Mussolini offered no objection. Upon leaving the meeting, he was arrested by the 

police, who had been secretly planning a pretext to remove the leader for quite some time. 

They now had the Council vote of “no confidence” as their formal rationale. Assured of his 

personal safety, Mussolini acquiesced to this too, as he had to everything else leading up to 

this pitiful denouement. When news of Mussolini’s arrest was made public, relief seemed to 

be the prevailing mood. There was no attempt by fellow fascists to rescue him from the penal 

settlement on the island of Ponza to which he was committed. The only remaining question 

was whether Italy would continue to fight alongside its German allies or surrender to the 

Allies. 

 

 Jul 25 1944 – WW2:  Battle of Normandy Operation Cobra (25-31 JUL phase)    »   The 

U.S. First Army begins breakout from Normandy.  This was an offensive launched by the 

Army under Omar Bradley against the German 7th Army commanded by Paul Hausser in 

the Cotentin Peninsula during the Normandy campaign. The attack commenced this date, 

having been delayed several times by poor weather. Supporting offensives had drawn the 

bulk of German armored reserves toward the British and Canadian sectors, and the lack of 

men and materiel available to the Germans meant they were unable to form successive 

lines of defense. After a slow start the offensive gathered momentum and by 27 July most 

organized resistance had been overcome and the Americans advanced rapidly.  
 

     The German response was ineffectual and the entire Normandy front soon collapsed. 

Operation Cobra, together with concurrent offensives by the British Second Army and the 

Canadian First Army, was decisive in securing an Allied victory in the Normandy 

campaign and the loss of the German position in northwestern France. While supporting 

Cobra, US Eighth Air Force accidentally bombed Allied troops, killing 102, including Lt. 

Gen. Lesley McNair, former commander of US Army Ground Forces.    Casualties and 

losses: US 1,800 men + 109 tanks | Ger. 2,500 hilled & 10,000 captured + 309 tanks and 

self-propelled guns.  
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 Jul 25 1944 – WW2:  Operation Spring   »   Offensive operation conducted 25-27 JUL by II 

Canadian Corps during the Normandy campaign. The plan was intended to create pressure on 

the German forces operating on the British and Canadian front simultaneously to American 

offensive operations in their sector known as Operation Cobra, an attempt to break out from 

the Normandy lodgment. Specifically, Operation Spring was intended to capture Verrières 

Ridge and the towns on the south slope of the ridge. However, strong German defenses on 

the ridge, as well as strict adherence to a defensive doctrine of counter-attacks, stalled the 

offensive on the first day, inflicting heavy casualties on the attacking forces, while 

preventing a breakout in the Anglo-Canadian sector.  
 

Also on this date: 
 

 2,500 USAAF aircraft drop 4,150 tons of bombs on German and American positions near 

St. Lo, which kill 601 Americans. 
 

 1,246 Japanese are killed in a Banzai charge on Tinian, another 3,000 die on Guam. 
 

 The British Eastern Fleet pounds the Japanese airfields and port at Sabang on Sumatra. 

 

 Jul 25 1945 – WW2:  Truman Drops Hint to Stalin about a Terrible New Weapon   »    

President Harry S. Truman nonchalantly hints to Soviet Premier Joseph Stalin that the United 

States has successfully developed a new weapon. In his diary, Truman privately referred to 

the new weapon, the atomic bomb, as the most terrible bomb in the history of the world. 
 

 
 

     The United States had successfully tested the world’s first atomic weapon near 

Alamogordo, New Mexico, on July 16, 1945. Truman received the news while in Potsdam, 

Germany, conferring with British Prime Minister Winston Churchill and Soviet leader Joseph 

Stalin on post-World War II policy in Europe. On July 17, Truman told Churchill of the test’s 

success and the two agreed to put off telling Stalin about what Truman called the dynamite 

news until later–Truman first wanted to get Stalin to agree to enter the Pacific war on the 

Allies’ side with no strings on it.  
 

     On 25 JUL, after receiving Stalin’s pledge to join the U.S. in the war against Japan in the 

Pacific, Truman casually informed the Soviet leader that the United States had a new weapon 

of unusual destructive force. Although Stalin did not appear to be impressed by the news, 

Truman hoped the information would increase the pressure on Stalin to concede to the Allies’ 

demands regarding the post-war division of Europe. In his diary entry for 25 JUL, Truman 
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wrote that the new weapon would be used against military targets in Japan before 10 AUG. 

He specifically mentioned avoiding women and children and mused it is certainly a good 

thing for the world that Hitler’s crowd or Stalin’s did not discover this atomic bomb. 
 

     It turned out that Truman would not need the Soviets’ help in the Pacific after all. On 

August 6, 1945, one week before the Soviets were due to join combat operations, Truman 

ordered the first atomic bomb dropped on Hiroshima, Japan. Two days later, he authorized a 

second atomic bomb dropped on Nagasaki. Although the total number of victims has been 

disputed, Japanese and U.S. government statisticians estimate that at least 140,000 men, 

women and children died immediately in the two blasts and an additional 74,000 died from 

the effects of bomb-related radiation by 1950. 
 

Also on this date: 
 

 A Proclamation to the Japanese people is issued by UK, U.S and China from Potsdam, 

which warns of devastation from the ‘final blows’ and calls for Japans unconditional 

surrender. 

 

 Jul 25 1946 – Cold War:  Operation Crossroads: an atomic bomb is detonated underwater in 

the lagoon of Bikini atoll.  
 

 
 

 Jul 25 1964 – Vietnam War:  Joint Chiefs Propose Air Strikes   »   Following a meeting of 

the National Security Council to discuss the deteriorating situation in Saigon, the Joint Chiefs 

of Staff draw up a memo proposing air strikes against North Vietnam. 
 

     These missions were to be conducted in unmarked planes flown by South Vietnamese and 

Thai crews. There was no action taken on this recommendation. However, the situation 

changed in August 1964 when North Vietnamese torpedo boats attacked U.S. destroyers off 

the coast of North Vietnam. What became known as the Tonkin Gulf incident led to the 

passage of the Tonkin Gulf Resolution, which passed 416 to 0 in the House and 88 to 2 in the 

Senate. The resolution gave the president approval to “take all necessary measures to repel an 

armed attack against the forces of the United States and to prevent further aggression.” Using 

the resolution, Johnson ordered the bombing of North Vietnam by U.S. aircraft in retaliation 

for the Tonkin Gulf incident. In 1965, as the situation continued to deteriorate in South 
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Vietnam, Johnson initiated a major commitment of U.S. troops to South Vietnam, which 

ultimately totaled more than 540,000 by 1968. 

 

 Jul 25 1969 – Cold War:  Nixon Announces New Doctrine  »   President Richard Nixon, at a 

briefing in Guam for the news media accompanying him on his trip to Asia, discusses at 

length the future role the United States should play in Asia and the Pacific region after the 

conclusion of the Vietnam War. Nixon said that while the United States would continue to 

have primary responsibility for the defense of its allies against nuclear attack, the 

noncommunist Asian nations would have to bear the burden of their own defense against 

conventional attack and assume responsibility for internal security.  
 

     Nizon’s determination to “Vietnamize” the conflict came to be known as the “Nixon 

Doctrine.” He pledged that the withdrawal of the first 25,000 troops would be completed by 

31 AUG.  During his first term in office, Nixon withdrew a substantial number of U.S. forces 

from Vietnam. In doing so, Nixon undermined the main campaign theme of Sen. George 

McGovern of South Dakota, his Democratic opponent in the 1972 presidential election. In 

1973, Washington and Hanoi signed a peace treaty ending the war. Two years later, North 

Vietnamese forces routed the South Vietnamese army, reuniting the country under a 

communist regime.  

 

 Jul 25 1990 – Gulf War:  U.S. Ambassador tells Iraq, US won't take sides in Iraq–Kuwait 

dispute. 

 

 Jul 25 2010 – Afghanistan War:  WikiLeaks published 75,000 classified documents about 

the War in Afghanistan, one of the largest leaks in U.S. military history. 

 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 26 1759 – French & Indian War:  Fort Ticonderoga, New York   »   The British under 

General Jeffery Amherst captured the fort the following year in the 1759 Battle of 

Ticonderoga. In this confrontation 11,000 British troops, using emplaced artillery, drove off 

the token garrison of 400 Frenchmen. The French, in withdrawing, used explosives to destroy 

what they could of the fort and spiked or dumped cannons that they did not take with them. 

Although the British worked in 1759 and 1760 to repair and improve the fort, it was not part 

of any further significant action in the war. After the war, the British garrisoned the fort with a 

small number of troops and allowed it to fall into disrepair. Colonel Frederick Haldimand, in 

command of the fort in 1773, wrote that it was in "ruinous condition". 

 

 Jul 26 1861 – Civil War:  George B. McClellan assumes command of the Army of the 

Potomac following a disastrous Union defeat at the First Battle of Bull Run. 
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 Jul 26 1861 – Civil War:  Fort Fillmore, New Mexico Abandonment   »   During the night 

through the early morning on 27 JUL, Maj. Isaac Lynde, 7th U.S. Infantry, abandoned Fort 

Fillmore near Mesilla, new Mexoco Territory, in the face of Confederates under the 

command of Capt. John R. Baylor. Although Lynde's troops outnumbered the Confederates 

by a 2-to-1 margin, Lynde pulled out. He took his army and headed for Fort Stanton. Baylor 

pursued Lynde and caught up with his army later that day. After giving up Fort Fillmore 

without a fight, Lynde surrendered his 10 companies to Baylor at San Augustine Springs 

without firing a shot. The surrender left a large part of New Mexico open to Confederate 

invasion. 

 

 Jul 26 1863 – Civil War:  Confederate John Hunt Morgan Captured – Confederate cavalry 

leader John Hunt Morgan and 360 of his men are captured at Salineville, Ohio, during a 

spectacular raid on the North. Starting in July 1862, Morgan made four major raids on 

Northern or Northern-held territory over the course of a year. Although they were of limited 

strategic significance, the raids served as a boost to Southern morale and captured much-

needed supplies. 
 

 
 

    Morgan’s fourth raid began on July 2, 1863, when he and 2,400 troopers left Tennessee 

and headed for the Ohio River. He hoped to divert the attention of Union commander 

William Rosecrans, who was driving for Chattanooga, Tennessee. Morgan reached the river 

on 8 JUL, using stolen steamboats to ferry his force across to Indiana. For the next two and a 

half weeks, Morgan rampaged through Indiana and Ohio, feigning toward Cincinnati, then 

riding across southern Ohio. His force met little resistance, and scattered local militias who 

faced them. With Union cavalry in hot pursuit, Morgan headed for Pennsylvania. For more 

than a week, Morgan and his troops spent 21 hours per day in the saddle. At Pomeroy, Ohio, 

Morgan lost over 800 men when the Yankees caught up with him and captured a large part of 

his force. He and the remaining members of his command were forced further north, and on 

26 JUL, the exhausted men surrendered. 
 

    In the end, only 400 of Morgan’s troopers made it safely back to the South. Those captured 

were scattered around Northern prison camps. Morgan and his officers were sent to the 

newly opened Ohio State Penitentiary. He and his men tunneled out on November 27, 1863; 

however, Morgan was killed in battle a year later. 
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 Jul 26 1941 – WW2:  United States Freezes Japanese Assets   »   President Franklin 

Roosevelt seizes all Japanese assets in the United States in retaliation for the Japanese 

occupation of French Indo-China. 
 

 
 

     On 24 JUL, Tokyo decided to strengthen its position in terms of its invasion of China by 

moving through Southeast Asia. Given that France had long occupied parts of the region, and 

Germany, a Japanese ally, now controlled most of France through Petain’s puppet 

government, France “agreed” to the occupation of its Indo-China colonies. Japan followed up 

by occupying Cam Ranh naval base, 800 miles from the Philippines, where Americans had 

troops, and the British base at Singapore. 
 

    President Roosevelt swung into action by freezing all Japanese assets in America which 

included all unrefined oil exports to them from California. Britain and the Dutch East Indies 

followed suit. The result: Japan lost access to three-fourths of its overseas trade and 88 

percent of its imported oil. Japan’s oil reserves were only sufficient to last three years, and 

only half that time if it went to war and consumed fuel at a more frenzied pace. Japan’s 

immediate response was to occupy Saigon, again with Vichy France’s acquiescence. If Japan 

could gain control of Southeast Asia, including Malaya, it could also control the region’s 

rubber and tin production—a serious blow to the West, which imported such materials from 

the East. Japan was now faced with a dilemma: back off of its occupation of Southeast Asia 

and hope the oil embargo would be eased—or seize the oil and further antagonize the West, 

even into war. 
 

 Jul 26 1944 – WW2:  President Roosevelt arrives in Honolulu to meet with Gen. Douglas 

MacArthur and Admirals Chester Nimitz and William Leahy to determine strategy in the 

Pacific; the decision will be made to invade the Philippines rather than Formosa (Taiwan).  

Also on this date the USS Robalo (SS–273) sunk by an internal explosion or a mine off 

western Palawan, Philippines. 77 men lost, 4 taken prisoner, none survived as POWs. 

 

 Jul 26 1945 – WW2:  The Potsdam Declaration   »   The Proclamation Defining Terms for 

Japanese Surrender was a statement that called for the surrender of all Japanese armed forces 

during World War II. On 26 JUL, United States President Harry S. Truman, United Kingdom 

Prime Minister Winston Churchill, and Chairman of China Chiang Kai-shek issued the 
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document, which outlined the terms of surrender for the Empire of Japan as agreed upon at 

the Potsdam Conference. This ultimatum stated that, if Japan did not surrender, it would face 

"prompt and utter destruction".  For Japan, the terms of the declaration specified: 

o The elimination "for all time of the authority and influence of those who have 

deceived and misled the people of Japan into embarking on world conquest"; 

o The occupation of "points in Japanese territory to be designated by the Allies"; 

o That the "Japanese sovereignty shall be limited to the islands of Honshu, Hokkaido, 

Kyushu, Shikoku, and such minor islands as we determine", as had been announced 

in the Cairo Declaration in 1943;[3] 

o That "the Japanese military forces, after being completely disarmed, shall be 

permitted to return to their homes with the opportunity to lead peaceful and 

productive lives"; 

o That "we do not intend that the Japanese shall be enslaved as a race or destroyed as a 

nation, but stern justice shall be meted out to all war criminals, including those who 

have visited cruelties upon our prisoners". 
 

On the other hand, the declaration offered that: 

 "The Japanese Government shall remove all obstacles to the revival and strengthening 

of democratic tendencies among the Japanese people. Freedom of speech, of religion, 

and of thought, as well as respect for the fundamental human rights shall be 

established." 

 "Japan shall be permitted to maintain such industries as will sustain her economy and 

permit the exaction of just reparations in kind, but not those which would enable her 

to rearm for war. To this end, access to, as distinguished from control of, raw 

materials shall be permitted. Eventual Japanese participation in world trade relations 

shall be permitted." 

 "The occupying forces of the Allies shall be withdrawn from Japan as soon as these 

objectives have been accomplished and there has been established, in accordance with 

the freely expressed will of the Japanese people, a peacefully inclined and responsible 

government." 
 

     The mention of "unconditional surrender" came at the end of the declaration: "We call 

upon the government of Japan to proclaim now the unconditional surrender of all Japanese 

armed forces, and to provide proper and adequate assurances of their good faith in such 

action. The alternative for Japan is prompt and utter destruction." 
 

     Contrary to what had been intended at its conception, which was to disenfranchise the 

Japanese leadership so the people would accept a mediated transition; the declaration made 

no direct mention of the Emperor at all. It did, however, insist that "the authority and 

influence of those who have deceived and misled the people of Japan into embarking on 

world conquest must be eliminated for all time". Allied intentions on issues of utmost 

importance to the Japanese, including the extent and number of Allied "occupation points", 
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the fate of Japan's minor islands, and the extent to which the Allies planned to "control" 

Japan's "raw materials", as well as whether Hirohito was to be regarded as one of those who 

had "misled the people of Japan" or whether the Emperor might potentially become part of "a 

peacefully inclined and responsible government", were thus left unstated, essentially a blank 

check for the Allies. 
 

     The "prompt and utter destruction" clause has been interpreted as a veiled warning about 

American possession of the atomic bomb which had been successfully tested in New Mexico 

on July 16, 1945, the day before the Potsdam Conference opened. Although the document 

warned of further destruction like the Operation Meetinghouse raid on Tokyo and other 

carpet bombing of Japanese cities, it did not mention anything about the atomic bomb. 
 

     A major aspect relating to the Potsdam Declaration was that it was intended to be 

ambiguous. It is not clear from the document itself whether a Japanese government was to 

remain under Allied occupation or whether the occupation would be run by a foreign military 

government. In the same manner, it was not clear whether after the end of the occupation 

Japan was to include any territory other than the four main Japanese islands, i.e., whether the 

set or sets of islands potentially satisfying the description "such minor islands as [the Allies] 

determine" included the empty set. This ambiguity was intentional on the part of the U.S. 

government in order to allow the Allies a free hand in running the affairs of Japan afterwards. 

 

 Jul 26 1945 – WW2:  Winston Churchill Resigns  »  In the 11th hour of World War II, 

Winston Churchill is forced to resign as British prime minister following his party’s electoral 

defeat by the Labour Party. It was the first general election held in Britain in more than a 

decade. The same day, Clement Attlee, the Labour leader, was sworn in as the new British 

leader. 
 

 
 

     Born at Blenheim Palace in 1874, Churchill joined the British Fourth Hussars upon his 

father’s death in 1895. During the next five years, he enjoyed an illustrious military career, 

serving in India, the Sudan, and South Africa, and distinguishing himself several times in 

battle. In 1899, he resigned his commission to concentrate on his literary and political career 

and in 1900 was elected to Parliament as a Conservative MP from Oldham. In 1904, he 

joined the Liberals, serving in a number of important posts before being appointed Britain’s 

First Lord of the Admiralty in 1911, where he worked to bring the British navy to a readiness 

for the war he foresaw. 
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     In 1915, in the second year of World War I, Churchill was held responsible for the 

disastrous Dardanelles and Gallipoli campaigns, and he was excluded from the war coalition 

government. He resigned and volunteered to command an infantry battalion in France. 

However, in 1917, he returned to politics as a cabinet member in the Liberal government of 

Lloyd George. From 1919 to 1921, he was secretary of state for war and in 1924 returned to 

the Conservative Party, where two years later he played a leading role in the defeat of the 

General Strike of 1926. Out of office from 1929 to 1939, Churchill issued unheeded 

warnings of the threat of Nazi and Japanese aggression. 
 

     After the outbreak of World War II in Europe, Churchill was called back to his post as 

First Lord of the Admiralty and eight months later replaced the ineffectual Neville 

Chamberlain as prime minister of a new coalition government. In the first year of his 

administration, Britain stood alone against Nazi Germany, but Churchill promised his 

country and the world that the British people would “never surrender.” He rallied the British 

people to a resolute resistance and expertly orchestrated Franklin D. Roosevelt and Joseph 

Stalin into an alliance that eventually crushed the Axis. 
 

     In July 1945, a few weeks before the defeat of Japan in World War II, his Conservative 

government suffered an electoral loss against Clement Attlee’s Labour Party, and Churchill 

resigned as prime minister. He became leader of the opposition and in 1951 was again 

elected prime minister. Two years later, he was knighted by Queen Elizabeth II and awarded 

the Nobel Prize in literature for his six-volume historical study of World War II and for his 

political speeches. In 1955, he retired as prime minister but remained in Parliament until 

1964, the year before his death. 

 

 Jul 26 1945 – WW2:  Hiroshima Atomic Bomb Preps   »   The cruiser USS Indianapolis 

arrives at the island of Tinian with parts of the warhead for the Hiroshima atomic bomb. 

Physicist Raemer Schreiber and Lieutenant Colonel Peer de Silva depart Kirtland Army Air 

Field to transport the plutonium core for the Fat Man bomb (bombing of Nagasaki) to Tinian 

where the bomb is assembled 

 

 Jul 26 1947 – Cold War:  Truman Signs the National Security Act   »   President Harry S. 

Truman signs the National Security Act, which becomes one of the most important pieces of 

Cold War legislation. The act established much of the bureaucratic framework for foreign 

policymaking for the next 40-plus years of the Cold War. 
 

     By July 1947, the Cold War was in full swing. The United States and the Soviet Union, 

once allies during World War II, now faced off as ideological enemies. In the preceding 

months, the administration of President Truman had argued for, and secured, military and 

economic aid to Greece and Turkey to assist in their struggles against communist insurgents. 

In addition, the Marshall Plan, which called for billions of dollars in U.S. aid to help rebuild 

war-torn Western Europe and strengthen it against possible communist aggression, had also 
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taken shape. As the magnitude of the Cold War increased, however, so too did the need for a 

more efficient and manageable foreign policymaking bureaucracy in the United States. The 

National Security Act was the solution. 
 

 
 

     The National Security Act had three main parts. First, it streamlined and unified the 

nation’s military establishment by bringing together the Navy Department and War 

Department under a new Department of Defense. This department would facilitate control 

and utilization of the nation’s growing military. Second, the act established the National 

Security Council (NSC). Based in the White House, the NSC was supposed to serve as a 

coordinating agency, sifting through the increasing flow of diplomatic and intelligence 

information in order to provide the president with brief but detailed reports. Finally, the act 

set up the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA). The CIA replaced the Central Intelligence 

Group, which had been established in 1946 to coordinate the intelligence-gathering activities 

of the various military branches and the Department of State. The CIA, however, was to be 

much more–it was a separate agency, designed not only to gather intelligence but also to 

carry out covert operations in foreign nations. 
 

     The National Security Act formally took effect in September 1947. Since that time, the 

Department of Defense, NSC, and CIA have grown steadily in terms of size, budgets, and 

power. The Department of Defense, housed in the Pentagon, controls a budget that many 

Third World nations would envy. The NSC rapidly became not simply an information 

organizing agency, but one that was active in the formation of foreign policy. The CIA also 

grew in power over the course of the Cold War, becoming involved in numerous covert 

operations. Most notable of these was the failed Bay of Pigs operation of 1961, in which 

Cuban refugees, trained and armed by the CIA, were unleashed against the communist 

regime of Fidel Castro. The mission was a disaster, with most of the attackers either killed 

or captured in a short time. Though it had both successes and failures, the National Security 

Act indicated just how seriously the U.S. government took the Cold War threat. 

 

 Jul 26 1948 – USA:  President Truman Ends Discrimination in the Military    »     

President Harry S. Truman signs Executive Order 9981—ending discrimination in the 
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military—on July 26, 1948. Truman’s order ended a long-standing practice of segregating 

Black soldiers and relegating them to more menial jobs. 
 

     African Americans had been serving in the United States military since the 

Revolutionary War, but were deployed in their largest numbers during World War II. By 

December 31, 1945, more than 2.5 million African Americans had registered for the 

military draft, and with African American women volunteering in large numbers 

throughout the war the U.S. Armed Forces had become the number one employer of Black 

people. By the time WWII ended, some 900,000 African Americans had served in the 

Army, Army Air Forces, Navy, Marine Corps, Coast Guard and Army Nurse Corps.  Black 

WWII veterans were eligible for a free college education under the Servicemen 

Readjustment Act of 1944—the GI Bill—as well as other benefits, but most faced 

discrimination when trying to access their benefits. This led many veterans to re-examine 

their poor treatment while they were in service. 
 

     After witnessing racism in the service, Grant Reynolds resigned from his commission as 

a WWII chaplain and joined with the activist A. Philip Randolph to co-chair the Committee 

Against Jim Crow in Military Service and Training. By composing letters and telegrams, 

holding protest rallies and hearings, and threatening to conduct a nationwide draft 

resistance campaign, the Committee worked with groups like the Committee to End 

Segregation in the Armed Forces and the League for Non-Violent Civil Disobedience 

Against Military Segregation to demand equal treatment for Black people in the United 

States Armed Forces. 
 

     The pressure from these groups pushed President Truman to establish a Commission on 

Civil Rights which, in October 1947, issued a report calling for a permanent Fair 

Employment Practices Commission, federal anti-lynching and anti-poll tax laws, and a 

bolstering of the Department of Justice’s Civil Rights Division. Truman urged the U.S. 

Congress to move forward with the Commission’s recommendations. When Congress 

rejected his pleas, Truman pushed for many of the proposals on his own. One of his most 

significant actions was the signing of Executive Order 9981, which states: “It is hereby 

declared to be the policy of the President that there shall be equality of treatment and 

opportunity for all persons in the armed services without regard to race, color, religion or 

national origin.” 

 

 Jul 26 1953 – Korean War:  Battle of the Samichon River Ends (24-26 JUL)    »     Fought 

during the final days of the Korean War between United Nations (UN) forces—primarily 

Australian and American—and the Chinese People's Volunteer Army (PVA). The fighting 

took place on a key position on the Jamestown Line known as The Hook and saw the 

defending UN troops, including the 2nd Battalion, Royal Australian Regiment (2 RAR) 

from the 28th British Commonwealth Brigade and the US 7th Marine Regiment, fight off 

numerous assaults by the PVA 137th Division during two concerted night attacks, inflicting 
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numerous casualties on the PVA with heavy artillery and small arms fire. The action was 

part of a larger, divisional-sized PVA attack against the US 1st Marine Division, with 

diversionary assaults mounted against the Australians. With the peace talks in Panmunjom 

reaching a conclusion, the Chinese had been eager to gain a last-minute victory over the 

UN forces and the battle was the last of the war before the official signing of the Korean 

Armistice. 
 

     During the action the PVA had attempted to make a breakthrough to the Imjin River 

along the divisional boundary between the US 1st Marine Division and the 1st 

Commonwealth Division in order to turn the Marine division's flank. Yet with well-

coordinated indirect fires from the divisional artillery, including 16th Field Regiment, 

Royal New Zealand Artillery, and support from British Centurion tanks of the 1st Royal 

Tank Regiment, 2 RAR successfully thwarted both assaults, holding The Hook. It was 

estimated that PVA casualties numbered between 2,000 and 3,000 killed, with the majority 

of them inflicted by the New Zealand gunners. Meanwhile, on the left flank, US Marines 

had endured the brunt of the attack, repelling the PVA onslaught with infantry and artillery. 

Only a few hours later the Armistice Agreement was signed, ultimately ending the war. 

Both sides subsequently withdrew 1.2 mi within 72 hours to create the 2.5 mi Korean 

Demilitarized Zone. 

 

 Jul 26 1968 – Vietnam War:  South Vietnamese Opposition Leader Tried and Sentenced  »   

Truong Dinh Dzu, a candidate who ran on a peace platform in the September 1967 

presidential elections in South Vietnam, is sentenced to five years of hard labor for urging the 

formation of a coalition government as a step toward ending the war. This was the first time 

that a major political figure was tried and convicted under a 1965 decree that ordered the 

prosecution of persons “who interfere with the government’s struggle against communism.” 

 

 Jul 26 1972 – Vietnam War:  South Vietnamese Troops Raise Flag over Quang Tri   »   

Although South Vietnamese paratroopers hoist their flag over Quang Tri Citadel, they prove 

unable to hold the Citadel for long or to secure Quang Tri City. Fighting outside the city 

remained intense. Farther to the south, South Vietnamese troops under heavy shelling were 

forced to abandon Fire Base Bastogne, which protected the southwest approach to Hue. 
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     North Vietnamese troops had captured Quang Tri City on 1 MAY as part of their Nguyen 

Hue Offensive (later called the “Easter Offensive”), a massive invasion by North Vietnamese 

forces that had been launched on 31 MAR. The attacking force included 14 infantry divisions 

and 26 separate regiments, with more than 120,000 troops and approximately 1,200 tanks and 

other armored vehicles. The main North Vietnamese objectives, in addition to Quang Tri in 

the north, were Kontum in the Central Highlands, and An Loc farther to the south. 
 

     Initially, the South Vietnamese defenders were almost overwhelmed, particularly in the 

northernmost provinces, where they abandoned their positions in Quang Tri. At Kontum and 

An Loc, the South Vietnamese were more successful in defending against the attacks, but 

only after weeks of bitter fighting. Although the defenders suffered heavy casualties, they 

managed to hold their own with the aid of U.S. advisors and American airpower. Fighting 

continued all over South Vietnam into the summer months. 
 

     The heavy fighting would continue in the area of Quang Tri and Hue until September, 

when the South Vietnamese forces finally succeeded in recapturing Quang Tri. With the 

communist invasion blunted, President Nixon declared that the South Vietnamese victory 

proved the viability of his “Vietnamization” program, which he had instituted in 1969 to 

increase the combat capability of the South Vietnamese armed forces so U.S. troops could be 

withdrawn. 

 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 27 1778 – American Revolution:  Battle of Ushant   »   Also called the First Battle of 

Ushant took place was fought between French and British fleets 100 miles (160 km) west of 

Ushant, an island at the mouth of the English Channel off the north-westernmost point of 

France. The French commander was under orders to avoid battle if possible, in order to 

maintain a fleet in being. The commanders of the two squadrons of the British fleet were 

already personally and politically at odds with each other, and failed to make a concerted 

attack on the French. The battle, which was the first major naval engagement in the Anglo-

French War, ended indecisively with no ships lost on either side and led to recriminations 

and political conflicts in both countries.   Casualties and losses: GB 406 killed, 789 wounded 

- FR 126 killed, 413 wounded. 

 

 Jul 27 1816 – Post War of 1812:  Battle of Negro Fort, Florida   »    The Battle, also called 

the Battle of Prospect Bluff or the Battle of African Fort, was a brief and destructive siege of 

a fortification filled with fugitive slaves and Choctaw Indians by the United States and their 

Creek allies. On Prospect Bluff, overlooking the Apalachicola River, a settlement and 

fortification that Andrew Jackson and other Americans labeled Negro Fort existed for a brief 

period. It was built by the British in 1814, during the War of 1812, in a remote part of what 
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was at the time Spanish Florida. It is part of the Prospect Bluff Historic Sites, in the 

Apalachicola National Forest, Franklin County, Florida.  
 

     The term "Negro Fort" was coined by the Americans only after the British Army had 

departed Florida in the aftermath of the Treaty of Ghent in 1815; its later residents were 

primarily blacks, either being free Negroes or fugitive slaves, residing together with some 

Choctaws. There were a significant number of fugitive slaves already in the area before the 

fort was built, and beginning in 1804 there was for several years a trading post operating in 

the settlement. The blacks, having been slaves that worked on plantation, knew how to plant 

and care for crops, and also to care for domesticated animals, mostly cattle. 
 

     When withdrawing in 1815, the local British commander, the Irishman Edward Nicolls, 

intentionally left the fully armed fort in the hands of the blacks who had served alongside the 

British during the War of 1812 and paid off a group of Colonial Marines, who along with 

their Creek allies resided in and took part in the defense of the fort. As Nicolls hoped, the fort 

became a center of resistance to slavery near the Southern border of the United States. The 

site was militarily significant, being a military fort, although without artillery training, the 

residents of the fort were ultimately unable to defend themselves from potential U.S. 

incursions. It is the largest and most well-known instance before the American Civil War in 

which armed black slaves resisted whites who sought to return them to slavery (a much 

smaller example was Fort Mose, near St. Augustine).  
 

      The fort was destroyed in 1816 at the command of General Andrew Jackson. The 

American forces used heated shot against the fort and ignited the powder magazine, blowing 

up the fort and killing over 270 people instantly. However, the area continued to attract 

escaped slaves until the U.S. construction of Fort Gadsden in 1818. US troops destroy Fort 

Apalachicola, a Seminole fort, to punish Indians for harboring runaway slaves 

 

 Jul 27 1861 – Civil War:  Battle of Mathias Point, Virginia   »    An early naval action in 

connection with the Union blockade and the corresponding effort by the Confederates to 

deny use of the Potomac to the enemy. Two Union gunboats tried to prevent the 

Confederates from installing a battery on the Potomac at Mathias Point in King George 

County, Virginia. A landing party prepared to install their own battery, but were beaten back 

before they could unload their guns from the USS Thomas Freeborn. Cannon fire from this 

vessel kept the Confederates temporarily at bay, and Commander James H. Ward ordered 

another landing. This was also repulsed, and Ward was killed, becoming the first Union 

Navy officer to be killed in the war. The Confederates held this position until March 1862. 

 

 Jul 27 1861 – Civil War:  Union Fort Fillmore, New Mexico Abandoned   »    Fort Fillmore 

was built in 1851 on sand hills above the Rio Grande. The Rio Grande would later change its 

course, making the fort about 1 mile from the river. This forced the army to use water 

wagons to supply the post with water and made it hard to defend in the event of attack. Two 
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days after the Union's unsuccessful attack on Confederate soldiers under the command of Lt. 

Col. John Baylor at the First Battle of Mesilla on July 25, 1861, the fort was set afire and 

abandoned by the Union army. As they retreated back to Fort Stanton under Major Isaac 

Lynde, they became desperately thirsty and exhausted. When 300 Confederate soldiers 

approached the 500 retreating Union soldiers, LtCol. Lynde surrendered his demoralized 

troops without firing a shot in what is sometimes referred to as the Battle of San Augustin 

Spring. 

 

 Jul 27 1863 – Civil War:  Ardent Secessionist William Lowndes Yancey Dies   »   

Confederate William Lowndes Yancey dies of kidney disease in Montgomery, Alabama. 

Yancey, whose militant stand on the expansion of slavery contributed dramatically to the 

growing sectional tensions of the era, epitomized the rise of Southern nationalism in the 

years before the war. The term “fire-eater” was applied to radical secessionists like Yancey, 

and their rise significantly altered the debate over slavery.   
 

 
 

     Yancey’s road to secession was an unusual one. Born on a Georgia plantation in 1814, his 

father died when he was young. His mother married a Presbyterian minister from New York, 

who moved the family there when Yancey was nine. Educated in the North, he moved back 

to the South and became a staunch Unionist. He lived in South Carolina during the 

nullification crisis of the 1830s, a political dispute in which South Carolina, led by Vice 

President John C. Calhoun, asserted states’ rights by ignoring a federal tariff. It was the 

beginning of a debate that eventually led to the war. 
   

     Within a few years, the circumstances of Yancey’s life dramatically changed his political 

views. He married a slaveholder and moved to Alabama. In 1838, he killed his wife’s uncle 

in a street fight and served a few months in jail for manslaughter. Yancey suffered financially 

during the Panic of 1837, and most of his slaves died when a neighbor tried to kill his 

overseer by poisoning a well on Yancey’s plantation. These events–coupled with the rise of 

his stepfather, whom he hated, to a prominent position as an abolitionist–helped form 

Yancey’s political opinions. 
 

     In 1841, Yancey began a political career that led him to Congress by 1844. Known as a 

fiery orator, his words sparked at least one duel, albeit a bloodless one. Yancey, a Democrat, 

often lashed out against Whigs and even moderate members of his own party, such as Illinois 
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Senator Stephen Douglas. He vehemently opposed the Compromise of 1850 and became an 

avowed secessionist. He served only two terms in Congress but was an important figure in 

the growing crisis of the 1850s. When the war broke out, Yancey headed a diplomatic 

mission to Great Britain and France to secure recognition of the Confederate States of 

America. These efforts were unsuccessful. 
 

     Later, as a senator from Alabama in the Confederate Congress, Yancey openly clashed 

with President Jefferson Davis and was often critical of the new Confederate government’s 

encroachment on the power of the states. His sudden death in 1863 silenced one of the 

strongest voices of states’ rights. 

 

 Jul 27 1864 – Civil War:  Battle of First Deep Bottom (27-29 Jul)   »   The great Virginia 

campaign of 1864-1865 witnessed Ulysses S. Grant and Robert E. Lee locked in mortal 

combat for eleven months. In the spring, their warfare remained mobile, from the Wilderness 

in early May to the initial operations against Petersburg in mid-June. By summer, however, it 

stagnated into siege. The ensuing Siege of Petersburg was not so much a ‘tactical siege’ as a 

‘strategic siege,’ waged through a series of field battles on both sides of James River. These 

two-pronged Federal strikes threatened Richmond or Petersburg or both as well as the supply 

lines into those cities. Confederates, in turn, strove not merely to block these blows but to 

counterattack and hurl them back. 
 

     This approach began in late July, 1864, with Grant's Third Offensive. Winfield Scott 

Hancock's II Corps and three cavalry divisions under Philip H. Sheridan crossed to the north 

side of James River at the Deep Bottom bridgehead on 27 JUL. The infantry was expected to 

push the graycoats westward, thus allowing Sheridan to launch another great raid to sever the 

railroads linking Lee to Jubal Early's threatening army in the Shenandoah Valley -- and 

possibly even to break into Richmond itself. Hancock overran the Confederates' outer line 

that day but stalled before their main position, far short of his objective. 
 

     Sheridan started on his raid on 28 JUL but was almost immediately counterattacked by 

Richard H. Anderson's infantry. The Butternuts gained initial advantage, but their attempted 

pursuit was checked and then driven from the field right here on the Darby farm. Yet again, 

dismounted Northern troopers, with repeating carbines, demonstrated that they could beat 

Southern infantry. Hancock and Sheridan withdrew nearer to Deep Bottom late on 28 JUL. 

Overnight July 29/30, they recrossed James River to be ready to help exploit the expected 

breakthrough at Petersburg when Grant unleashed the second prong of his Third Offensive: 

the Battle of the Crater.  Results indecisive. Casualties and losses: Union 488 and CSA 679 

 

 Jul 27 1929 – Geneva Convention:  Ratified & Signed   »   The Geneva Convention 

agreement was ratified and signed by 53 nations at Geneva, Switzerland on July 27, 1929. 

Its official name is the Convention relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War, Geneva 

July 27, 1929. It entered into force 19 June 1931. It is this version (the first of 4) of the 
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Geneva Conventions covered the treatment of prisoners of war during World War II. Not 

all countries that later were involved in World War II signed, e.g., the USSR. Japan did 

sign the Convention, but did not ratify it. They were a "state signatory." The other eight 

who  were only state signatories are were Cuba, Dominican Republic, Finland, Ireland, 

Islamic Republic of Iran, Luxembourg, Nicaragua, and  Uruguay.  
 

 
1929 Convention 

 

     The Geneva Conventions of 1949 and their additional Protocols contain the most 

important rules limiting the barbarity of war. They protect people who do not take part in the 

fighting (civilians, medics, aid workers) and those who can no longer fight (wounded, sick 

and shipwrecked troops, prisoners of war).  At 

http://avalon.law.yale.edu/20th_century/geneva02.asp is a copy contain all the articles of the 

1929 Convention.  

   

 Jul 27 1941 – WW2:  General Douglas MacArthur enjoys his first full day in command of 

all U.S. armed forces in the Far East. President Roosevelt later explains MacArthur’s 

success; “Never underestimate a man who overestimates himself.” 

 

 Jul 27 1942 – WW2:  Allied forces successfully halt the final Axis advance into Egypt.  

 

 Jul 27 1943 – WW2:  Stalin issues Order No. 227—Outlawing Cowards    »    Joseph Stalin, 

premier and dictator of the Soviet Union, issues Order No. 227, what came to be known as 

the “Not one step backward” order, in light of German advances into Russian territory. The 

order declared, “Panic makers and cowards must be liquidated on the spot. Not one step 

backward without orders from higher headquarters! Commanders…who abandon a position 

without an order from higher headquarters are traitors to the Motherland.” 
 

     Early German successes against Russia had emboldened Hitler in his goal of taking 

Leningrad and Stalingrad. But the German attack on Stalingrad, thought foolhardy by 

Hitler’s generals, because of Russia’s superior manpower and the enormous drain on German 

resources and troop strength, was repulsed by a fierce Soviet fighting force, which had been 

reinforced with greater numbers of men and materials.  The Germans then turned their sights 

on Leningrad. Stalin needed to “motivate” both officers and civilians alike in their defense of 

Leningrad—hence, Order No. 227. But it was hardly necessary. On the same day the order 

was given, Russian peasants and partisans in the Leningrad region killed a German official, 
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Adolf Beck, whose job was to send agricultural products from occupied Russia to Germany 

or German troops.  
 

     The Russian patriots also set fire to the granaries and barns in which the stash of 

agricultural products was stored before transport. A partisan pamphlet issued an order of its 

own: “Russians! Destroy the German landowners. Drive the Germans from the land of the 

Soviets!” 
 

Also on this date: 
 

 The liberation of Mussolini, the occupation of Rome and Italy, plus the capture of the 

Italian fleet is decided upon by the German High Command. Mussolini himself is 

transferred from Rome to the Island of Ponza. Heavy fighting continues in Sicily, leading 

Kesselring to order preparations for the evacuation of the island. 

 

 Jul 27 1944 – WW2:  RAF Gloster Meteor Jet Fighter   »   The Gloster Meteor I was the 

only Allied jet aircraft to see combat during the Second World War. On 27 JUL it made its 

operational debut at almost exactly the same time as the German Me 262, but while the Me 

262 saw action against Allied aircraft over Germany, the Meteor began its service career 

against the V-1 Flying Bomb, and despite the best efforts of its pilots never had the chance to 

prove itself against the Luftwaffe. 
 

 
                                   Gloster Meteor I                            V-1 flying bomb                    German Me 262 
 

      The Mk I Meteor, the version that first entered the action, had a top speed of 410 miles 

per hour. By the time of the plane’s heyday in the first half of the 1950s, the Mk 8 was 

reaching speeds of 600mph. The first action Meteors were involved in was not against 

planes; it was against other jet engines. Following the D-Day landings, Hitler had ordered 

strikes against Britain by V-1 flying bombs. Their sudden appearance out of clear skies 

caused terror and destruction in the south of England. No.616 Squadron was sent to counter 

them. Those first sorties by Meteors revealed problems with their guns, but that did not stop 

daring pilots from taking on the V-1s. On August 4, 1944, Flying Officer Dean used his 

plane to tip over a V-1 in flight after his guns malfunctioned. By the end of August, the 

problem with the guns had been sorted. Including Flying Officer Dean’s actions, they 

destroyed 13 flying bombs in the space of a month. 

 

 JUL 27 1944 – WW2:  Operations Wallace & Hardy   »   These were the codenames for two 

British Special Air Service operations that took place from 27 July to 19 September 1944. 
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Initially two sets of operations by 2nd Special Air Service, they were eventually 

amalgamated into one. Their objective was to disrupt German lines of communication, 

coordinate the activities of the French Resistance and prevent German reinforcements 

moving to the Normandy beachheads. They operated from the Loire valleys, then mostly in 

the Forêt de Châtillon area in Burgundy and finally through to the forests of Darney to 

Belfort. The operation which lasted six weeks in all ended as they linked up with the US 

Seventh Army.  As both turned out these were the most successful post D-Day Special Air 

Service (SAS) operations. This push east was just another nail in the coffin of German 

supremacy in France. 
 

      Also on this date: 
 

 In Operation Cobra in Normandy, US First Army breaks through German defenses south 

of Saint-Lô. 
 

 U.S. troops complete the liberation of Guam. 

 

 Jul 27 1953 – Cold War:  Armistice Ends the Korean War  » After three years of a bloody 

and frustrating war, the United States, the People’s Republic of China, North Korea, and 

South Korea agree to an armistice, bringing the Korean War to an end. The armistice ended 

America’s first experiment with the Cold War concept of “limited war.” 

 

 
UN delegate Lieut. Gen. William K. Harrison, Jr. (seated left), and Korean People's Army 

and Chinese People's Volunteers delegate Gen. Nam Il (seated right) signing the Korean War 

armistice agreement at P'anmunjŏm, Korea, July 27, 1953. 
 

     The Korean War began on June 25, 1950, when communist North Korea invaded South 

Korea. Almost immediately, the United States secured a resolution from the United Nations 

calling for the military defense of South Korea against the North Korean aggression. In a 

matter of days, U.S. land, air, and sea forces had joined the battle. The U.S. intervention 

turned the tide of the war, and soon the U.S. and South Korean forces were pushing into 

North Korea and toward that nation’s border with China. In November and December 1951, 

hundreds of thousands of troops from the People’s Republic of China began heavy assaults 

against the American and South Korea forces.  
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     The war eventually bogged down into a battle of attrition. In the U.S. presidential election 

of 1952, Republican candidate Dwight D. Eisenhower strongly criticized President Harry S. 

Truman’s handling of the war. After his victory, Eisenhower adhered to his promise to “go to 

Korea.” His trip convinced him that something new was needed to break the diplomatic 

logjam at the peace talks that had begun in July 1951. Eisenhower began to publicly hint that 

the United States might make use of its nuclear arsenal to break the military stalemate in 

Korea. He allowed the Nationalist Chinese government on Taiwan to begin harassing air 

raids on mainland China. The president also put pressure on his South Korean ally to drop 

some of its demands in order to speed the peace process. 
 

     Whether or not Eisenhower’s threats of nuclear attacks helped, by July 1953 all sides 

involved in the conflict were ready to sign an agreement ending the bloodshed. The 

armistice, signed on July 27, established a committee of representatives from neutral 

countries to decide the fate of the thousands of prisoners of war on both sides. It was 

eventually decided that the POWs could choose their own fate–stay where they were or 

return to their homelands. A new border between North and South Korea was drawn, which 

gave South Korea some additional territory and demilitarized the zone between the two 

nations.  
 

     The war cost the lives of millions of Koreans and Chinese, as well as over 50,000 

Americans. It had been a frustrating war for Americans, who were used to forcing the 

unconditional surrender of their enemies. Many also could not understand why the United 

States had not expanded the war into China or used its nuclear arsenal. As government 

officials were well aware, however, such actions would likely have prompted World War III. 

 

 Jul 27 1964 – Vietnam War:  Pentagon Announces 5,000 More Troops to Vietnam   »   It is 

announced that the United States will send an additional 5,000 U.S. troops to Vietnam, 

bringing the total number of U.S. forces in Vietnam to 21,000. Military spokesmen and 

Washington officials insisted that this did not represent any change in policy, and that new 

troops would only intensify existing U.S. efforts. However, the situation changed in August 

1964 when North Vietnamese torpedo boats attacked U.S. destroyers off the coast of North 

Vietnam. What became known as the Tonkin Gulf incident led to the passage of the Tonkin 

Gulf Resolution, which passed unanimously in the House and 88 to 2 in the Senate. The 

resolution gave the president approval to “take all necessary measures to repel an armed 

attack against the forces of the United States and to prevent further aggression.” Using the 

resolution, Johnson ordered the bombing of North Vietnam in retaliation for the Tonkin Gulf 

incident. 
 

     In 1965, Johnson was faced with a rapidly deteriorating situation in Vietnam. The Viet 

Cong had increased the level of combat and there were indications that Hanoi was sending 

troops to fight in the south. It was apparent that the South Vietnamese were in danger of 

being overwhelmed. Johnson had sent Marines and paratroopers to protect American 
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installations, but he had become convinced that more had to be done to stop the communists 

or they would soon overwhelm South Vietnam.  
 

     While some advisers, such as Undersecretary of State George Ball, recommended a 

negotiated settlement, Secretary of Defense Robert McNamara urged the president to 

“expand promptly and substantially” the U.S. military presence in South Vietnam. Johnson, 

not wanting to “lose” Vietnam to the communists, ultimately accepted McNamara’s 

recommendation. This decision led to a massive escalation of the war. 

 Jul 27 1965 – Vietnam War:  U.S. Jets Attack New North Vietnamese Air Defense Sites   »   

Forty-six U.S. F-105 fighter-bombers attack the missile installation that had fired at U.S. 

planes on 24 JUL. They also attacked another missile installation 40 miles northwest of 

Hanoi. One missile launcher was destroyed and another was damaged, but five U.S. planes 

were shot down in the effort. 
 

     On 24 JUL, U.S. bombers on a raid over munitions manufacturing facilities at Kang Chi, 

55 miles northwest of Hanoi, were fired at from an unknown launching site. It was the first 

time the enemy had launched antiaircraft missiles at U.S. aircraft. The presence of ground-to-

air antiaircraft missiles represented a rapidly improving air defense capability for the North 

Vietnamese. As the war progressed, North Vietnam, supplied by China and the Soviet Union, 

would fashion a very effective and integrated air defense system, which became a formidable 

challenge to American flyers conducting missions over North Vietnam. 

 

 Jul 27 1995 – Post Korean War:  The Korean War Veterans Memorial is dedicated in 

Washington, D.C. 

 
 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 28 1776 – American Revolution:  Sargent and Hutchinson Arrive at Horn’s Hook  »   

Colonel Paul Dudley Sargent with the 16th Continental Regiment and Colonel Israel 

Hutchinson with his 27th Continental Regiment, both from Massachusetts, as well as several 

British ships, arrive at Horn’s Hook, New York, on this day in 1776. 
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Colonel Paul Dudley Sargent 

 

     Horn’s Hook was first intended to house nine guns as a Patriot battery to defend 

Manhattan in February 1776. The battery, or fort, stood near the modern-day intersection of 

89th Street and East End Avenue, opposite Ward’s Island and Hell’s Gate. After gathering at 

Horn’s Hook, the Massachusetts regiments went on to Long Island, where they suffered a 

humiliating defeat at the hands of brothers Admiral Richard and General William Howe. The 

campaign culminated in their retreat from Brooklyn Heights on Long Island back to Horn’s 

Hook in Manhattan on 27 AUG, one month after their initial arrival. The Massachusetts 

regiments exchanged continual fire with a British fort a short distance across the water from 

Horn’s Hook in Queens for the 10 days between the Patriots’ retreat from Brooklyn Heights 

and the complete British takeover of Manhattan Island. 
 

     After the British took Manhattan and fire ravaged the city in September 1776, the 

Redcoats restored Horn’s Hook, adding batteries, palisades (iron stakes) and a palisade-

protected blockhouse. Following the war, Archibald Gracie leveled the fort and, in 1794, 

built a Federal-style mansion on the site. Gracie’s country house, with its view of the East 

River five miles north of New York City, has since been absorbed into the Manhattan 

metropolis and has served as the official residence of the city’s mayors since Fiorello H. 

LaGuardia made it his home in 1942. 

 

 Jul 28 1854 – U.S. Navy:  USS Constellation (1854), the last all–sail warship built by the US 

Navy, is commissioned.  

 

 Jul 28 1862 – Civil War:  Battle of Moore's Mill    »   Confederate force’s defeat.   On 27 

JUL Union Colonel Odon Guitar of the 9th Missouri State Militia Cavalry (9th MSM 

Cavalry) received instructions to reinforce Lieutenant-Colonel Shaffer in Columbia with two 

companies, which he did. Guitar also received intelligence that CSA Colonal Joseph Porter 

and guerrilla leader Alvin Cobb were encamped together only 11 miles north of Fulton at 

Brown's Spring. Awaiting Guitar's force were at least 260 Confederates under the overall 

command of Col. Porter including the 65 Boone County men of the Blackfoot Rangers under 
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Lieutenant John Bowles and 75 guerrillas under Captain Alvin Cobb. Rather than avoiding 

battle, Porter prepared an ambush along the banks of Auxvasse Creek. 
 

    On the morning of 28 JUK Guitar advanced along the Creek and was joined by Shaffer's 

much larger force for a combined force of 733 men. Guitar attempted to trap Porter by 

sending Shaffer east across the creek in a flanking movement with 464 men. Simultaneously 

Guitar advanced west of the creek with 269 men, but too rapidly for Shaffer's wing to 

complete their movement in time. Porter's force awaited Guitar in ambush, concealed in trees 

and brush adjacent to the path. The rebels unleashed two devastating volleys into the federals 

before they could react. Guitar ordered his men to dismount and to take cover in the woods 

while bringing his cannon forward. Porter lacked artillery and the federals hoped that their 

artillery would soon unnerve and dislodge Porter's men. After an hour Porter declared, 

"Boys, we can't stand this, we shall have to charge them—Forward! Charge!" The 

Confederates shot down the gunners and overran at least one of the two pieces, driving the 

Federals back in disorder. 
 

     At this stage Shaffer's force arrived on the field having countermarched after hearing 

volley fire and artillery. A company surged forward retaking the guns and sending the rebels 

reeling back to their original positions. Shaffer's men dismounted and the exchange of fire 

continued. After several hours, Porter's men were short of ammunition and the order was 

given to withdraw. Standing or leaving cover to withdraw exposed the men and many 

Confederates reported that this was when many of their casualties occurred. The exhausted 

Union troops did not pursue immediately and the Confederates were able to withdraw. 

 

 Jul 28 1864 – Civil War: Battle of Ezra Church Begins – At the battle, also known as the 

Battle of Atlantaof Georgia, Confederates under General John Bell Hood make a third 

attempt to break General William T. Sherman’s hold on Atlanta. Like the first two, this 

attack failed, destroying the Confederate Army of Tennessee’s offensive capabilities. 
 

 
Generals John Bell Hood & William T. Sherman 

 

     Hood had replaced Joseph Johnston as commander of the Army of Tennessee on July 18, 

1864, because Johnston had failed to keep Sherman away from Atlanta. Upon assuming 

command of the army, Hood quickly scrapped Johnston’s defensive strategy and attacked 

Sherman, first on July 20 at the Battle of Peachtree Creek, and then on July 22 at the Battle 
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of Atlanta. Both attacks failed, but that did not deter Hood from making another attempt to 

break the Union hold on the important Southern city. 
 

     When Sherman sent General Oliver O. Howard southeast of Atlanta to cut the Macon and 

Western Railroad, one of the remaining supply lines, Hood sent Stephen D. Lee’s corps to 

block the move. Lee attacked at Ezra Church, but the battle did not go as planned for the 

Confederates. Instead of striking the Union flank, Lee’s corps hit the Union center, where the 

Yankee troops were positioned behind barricades made from logs and pews taken from the 

church. Throughout the afternoon, Lee made several attacks on the Union lines. Each was 

turned back, and Lee was not able to get around the Union flank. 
 

     The battle was costly for an army that was already outnumbered. Lee lost 3,000 men to 

the Union’s 630. More important, Hood lost his offensive capability. For the next month, he 

could do no more than sit in trenches around Atlanta and wait for Sherman to deal him the 

knockout blow. 

 

 Jul 28 1914 – WWI:  Austria-Hungary Declares War on Serbia  »  One month to the day 

after Archduke Franz Ferdinand of Austria and his wife were killed by a Serbian nationalist 

in Sarajevo, Austria-Hungary declares war on Serbia, effectively beginning the First World 

War. 
 

 
 

     Threatened by Serbian ambition in the tumultuous Balkans region of Europe, Austria-

Hungary determined that the proper response to the assassinations was to prepare for a 

possible military invasion of Serbia. After securing the unconditional support of its powerful 

ally, Germany, Austria-Hungary presented Serbia with a rigid ultimatum on July 23, 1914, 

demanding, among other things, that all anti-Austrian propaganda within Serbia be 

suppressed, and that Austria-Hungary be allowed to conduct its own investigation into the 

archduke’s killing. Though Serbia effectively accepted all of Austria’s demands except for 

one, the Austrian government broke diplomatic relations with the other country on 25 JUL 

and went ahead with military preparedness measures. Meanwhile, alerted to the impending 

crisis, Russia—Serbia’s own mighty supporter in the Balkans—began its own initial steps 

towards military mobilization against Austria. 
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     In the days following the Austrian break in relations with Serbia, the rest of Europe, 

including Russia’s allies, Britain and France, looked on with trepidation, fearing the 

imminent outbreak of a Balkans conflict that, if entered into by Russia, threatened to explode 

into a general European war. The British Foreign Office lobbied its counterparts in Berlin, 

Paris and Rome with the idea of an international convention aimed at moderating the 

conflict; the German government, however, was set against this notion, and advised Vienna 

to go ahead with its plans. 
 

     On July 28, 1914, after a decision reached conclusively the day before in response to 

pressure from Germany for quick action—apart from Kaiser Wilhelm II, who by some 

accounts still saw the possibility of a peaceful diplomatic resolution to the conflict, but was 

outmaneuvered by the more hawkish military and governmental leadership of Germany—

Austria-Hungary declared war on Serbia. In response, Russia formally ordered mobilization 

in the four military districts facing Galicia, its common front with the Austro-Hungarian 

Empire. That night, Austrian artillery divisions initiated a brief, ineffectual bombardment of 

Belgrade across the Danube River. 
 

     “My darling one and beautiful, everything tends towards catastrophe and collapse,” 

British naval official Winston Churchill wrote to his wife at midnight on 29 JUL halt 

mobilization met with defiance, Germany declared war on Russia. Russia’s ally, France, 

ordered its own general mobilization that same day, and on 3 AUG, France and Germany 

declared war on each other. The German army’s planned invasion of neutral Belgium 

announced on 4 AUG, prompted Britain to declare war on Germany. Thus, in the summer of 

1914, the major powers in the Western world—with the exception of the United States and 

Italy, both of which declared their neutrality, at least for the time being—flung themselves 

headlong into the First World War. 

 

 Jul 28 1915 – U.S.*Haiti:  U.S. Occupation of Haiti Begins   »   On this date 330 United 

States Marines landed at Port-au-Prince, Haiti, on the authority of President of the United 

States Woodrow Wilson to establish control of Haiti's political and financial interests. The 

invasion and subsequent occupation was promoted by growing American business interests 

in Haiti. The July intervention took place following years of socioeconomic instability within 

Haiti that culminated with the murder of President of Haiti Vilbrun Guillaume Sam by 

insurgents angered by his ordered executions of elite opposition. The occupation ended on 

August 1, 1934, after President Franklin D. Roosevelt reaffirmed an August 1933 

disengagement agreement. The last contingent of marines departed on August 15, 1934, after 

a formal transfer of authority to the American-created Gendarmerie of Haiti. 
 

     During the occupation, Haiti had three new presidents, though the United States ruled as a 

military regime led by Marines and the US-created Haitian gendarmerie through martial law. 

Two major rebellions occurred during this period, resulting in several thousand Haitians 

killed and numerous human rights violations – including torture and summary executions – 
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by Marines and the gendarmerie. Corvée labor was utilized for massive infrastructure 

projects that resulted in hundreds to thousands of deaths. Under the occupation, most 

Haitians continued to live impoverished lives while the United States re-established power 

into the hands of a select minority of Haitians, the wealthy French-cultured mulatto Haitians. 

 

 Jul 28 1926 – U.S. Navy:   USS S-1 surfaces and launches a Cox-Klemin (XS 2) seaplane 

flown by Lt. D.C. Allen. The submarine recovers the aircraft and submerges, successfully 

completing an airplane transport onboard a submarine. 

 

 Jul 28 1932 – U.S. Army:  Bonus Marchers Evicted by U.S. Army  »  During the Great 

Depression, President Herbert Hoover orders the U.S. Army under General Douglas 

MacArthur to evict by force the Bonus Marchers from the nation’s capital. 
 

 
 

     Two months before, the so-called “Bonus Expeditionary Force,” a group of some 1,000 

World War I veterans seeking cash payments for their veterans’ bonus certificates, had 

arrived in Washington, D.C. Most of the marchers were unemployed veterans in desperate 

financial straits. In June, other veteran groups spontaneously made their way to the nation’s 

capital, swelling the Bonus Marchers to nearly 20,000 strong. Camping in vacant government 

buildings and in open fields made available by District of Columbia Police Chief Pelham D. 

Glassford, they demanded passage of the veterans’ payment bill introduced by 

Representative Wright Patman. 
 

     While awaiting a vote on the issue, the veterans conducted themselves in an orderly and 

peaceful fashion, and on 15 JUN the Patman bill passed in the House of Representatives. 

However, two days later, its defeat in the Senate infuriated the marchers, who refused to 

return home. In an increasingly tense situation, the federal government provided money for 

the protesters’ trip home, but 2,000 refused the offer and continued to protest.  

 

     On 28 JUL, President Herbert Hoover ordered the army to evict them and their families 

forcibly. General MacArthur’s men set their camps on fire, and the veterans were driven 

using tanks and tear gas from the city. One veteran was shot to death, and several veterans 

and policemen were wounded. Congress then appropriated $100,000 to send the protestors 

home, and they dispersed. Hoover, increasingly regarded as insensitive to the needs of the 



 

118 | P a g e  
 

nation’s many poor, was much criticized by the public and press for the severity of his 

response. 
 

     A second Bonus Army came in May 1933 and this time was greeted by the new 

president’s wife, Eleanor Roosevelt, and presidential assistant Louis Howe. Although again 

no bonus legislation was passed, Congress did create the Civilian Conservation Corps, in 

which many of the veterans were able to find work. In 1936, however, Congress finally 

passed, over a presidential veto, a bill to disburse about $2 billion in veterans’ benefits. The 

Bonus Army laid the foundation for the G.I. Bill of Rights (1944). 

 

 Jul 28 1943 – WW2:  The second mass raid on Hamburg by 722 RAF bombers results in 

nine square miles of city being set alight. 
 

Also on this date: 
 

 The Japanese garrison of 6,000 troops are secretly evacuated from Kiska in the Aleutians. 
 

 President Roosevelt announces end of coffee rationing. 

 

 Jul 28 1944 – WW2:  German Me 163 Comet jet fighter goes into combat with the 

Luftwaffe. 

 

 Jul 28 1945 – WW2:  Hamburg Suffers a Firestorm  »  The worst British bombing raid on 

Hamburg so far virtually sets the city on fire, killing 42,600 German civilians. 
 

 
 

     On 24 JUL, British bombers launched Operation Gomorrah, repeated bombing raids 

against Hamburg and its industrial and munitions plants. Sortie after sortie dropped fire from 

the sky, as thousands of tons of incendiary bombs destroyed tens of thousands of lives, 

buildings, and acreage. But the night of the 28th saw destruction unique in more than three 

years of bomb attacks: In just 43 minutes, 2,326 tons of bombs were dropped, creating a 

firestorm (a word that entered English parlance for the first time as a result of these events). 

Low humidity, a lack of fire-fighting resources (exhausted from battling blazes caused by the 

previous nights’ raids), and hurricane-level winds at the core of the storm literally fanned the 

flames, scorching eight square miles of Hamburg. 
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     One British flight lieutenant recalled seeing “not many fires but one… I have never seen a 

fire like that before and was never to see its like again.” Despite the terrible loss of civilian 

life, there strange and awful irony: The horrific bombing runs affected Hitler’s war machine 

only marginally. It did more to wound the morale of the German people and its army officers 

than it did to the production of munitions, which was back running full speed within a matter 

of weeks. 

 

 Jul 28 1945 – WW2:  B-25 Crashes into Empire State Building  »    A United States military 

plane crashes into the Empire State Building on this day in 1945, killing 14 people. The freak 

accident was caused by heavy fog. 
 

 
 

     The B-25 Mitchell bomber, with two pilots and one passenger aboard, was flying from 

New Bedford, Massachusetts, to LaGuardia Airport in New York City. As it came into the 

metropolitan area on that Saturday morning, the fog was particularly thick. Air-traffic 

controllers instructed the plane to fly to Newark Airport instead. 
 

     This new flight plan took the plane over Manhattan; the crew was specifically warned that 

the Empire State Building, the tallest building in the city at the time, was not visible. The 

bomber was flying relatively slowly and quite low, seeking better visibility, when it came 

upon the Chrysler Building in midtown. It swerved to avoid the building but the move sent it 

straight into the north side of the Empire State Building, near the 79th floor. 
 

     Upon impact, the plane’s fuel exploded, filling the interior of the building with flames all 

the way down to the 75th floor and sending flames out of the hole the plane had ripped open 

in the building’s side. One engine from the plane went straight through the building and 

landed in a penthouse apartment across the street. Other plane parts ended up embedded in 

and on top of nearby buildings. The other engine snapped an elevator cable while at least one 

woman was riding in the elevator car. The emergency auto brake saved the woman from 

crashing to the bottom, but the engine fell down the shaft and landed on top of it. Quick-

thinking rescuers pulled the woman from the elevator, saving her life. 
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     Since it was a Saturday, fewer workers than normal were in the building. Only 11 people 

in the building were killed, some suffering burns from the fiery fuel and others after being 

thrown out of the building. All 11 victims were workers from War Relief Services 

department of the National Catholic Welfare Conference, into the offices of which the plane 

had crashed. The three people on the plane were also killed. An 18 foot by 20 foot hole was 

left in the side of the Empire State Building. Though its structural integrity was not affected, 

the crash did cause nearly $1 million in damages, about $10.5 million in today’s money. 

 

 Jul 28 1945 – WW2:  U.S. Senate Approves United Nations Charter   »   In a ringing 

declaration indicating that America’s pre-World War II isolation was truly at an end, the U.S. 

Senate approves the charter establishing the United Nations. In the years to come, the United 

Nations would be the scene of some of the most memorable Cold War confrontations 

between the United States and the Soviet Union. 
 

 
Harry Truman looks on as Secretary of State Edward R. Stettinius signs the United Nations  

Security Charter for the U.S. 
 

     In 1919, following the close of World War I, President Woodrow Wilson implored the 

U.S. Senate to approve the charter for the League of Nations. Postwar isolationism and 

partisan politics killed U.S. participation in the League, however. In July 1945, with World 

War II coming to a close, the U.S. Senate indicated the sea change in American attitudes 

toward U.S. involvement in world affairs by approving the charter for the United Nations by 

a vote of 89 to 2. President Harry S. Truman was delighted with the vote, declaring, “The 

action of the Senate substantially advances the cause of world peace.” Acting Secretary of 

State Joseph Grew also applauded the Senate’s action, noting, “Millions of men, women and 

children have died because nations took to the naked sword instead of the conference table to 

settle their differences.” The U.N. charter would provide the “foundation and cornerstone on 

which the international organization to keep the peace will be built.” Once the charter had 

been ratified by a majority of the 50 nations that hammered out the charter in June 1945, the 

U.S. Senate formally approved U.S. participation in the United Nations in December 1945. 
 

     Whether the United Nations became a “foundation and cornerstone” of world peace in the 

years that followed is debatable, but it was certainly the scene of several notable Cold War 

confrontations between the United States and the Soviet Union. In 1950, with the Russians 

absent from the U.N. Security Council, the United States pushed through a resolution 
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providing U.N. military assistance to South Korea in the Korean War. And in one memorable 

moment, during a speech denouncing Western imperialism in 1960, Soviet leader Nikita 

Khrushchev took off one of his shoes and pounded his table with it to make his point. 

 

    Jul 28 1945 – WW2:  Japanese Premier Disregards Ultimatum To Surrender   »   On 26 

JUL United States President Harry S. Truman, United Kingdom Prime Minister Winston 

Churchill, and Chairman of China Chiang Kai-shek issued the document, which outlined the 

terms of surrender for the Empire of Japan, as agreed upon at the Potsdam Conference. The 

ultimatum stated that, if Japan did not surrender, it would face "prompt and utter destruction.  
 

     At a press conference on 28 JUL with the Japanese press in Tokyo, Japanese premier 

Suzuki Suzuki offered the following statement, given here in both English and Japanese 

languages: My thinking is that the joint declaration is virtually the same as the earlier 

declaration. The government of Japan does not consider it having any crucial value. We 

simply mokusatsu suru (黙殺, lit. "killing with silence"). The only alternative for us is to be 

determined to continue our fight to the end. The United States interpreted his sttement as 

meaning "rejection by ignoring." That led to a decision by the White House to carry out the 

threat of destruction.  
 

     After the White House decision, the United States Army Air Forces dropped the first 

atomic bomb on the Japanese city of Hiroshima on August 6, 1945 and then the second 

atomic bomb on the Japanese city of Nagasaki on August 9, 1945. Both bombings devastated 

the two cities, killing tens of thousands of people and destroying much of the cities' 

infrastructure as well as military bases and factories in a matter of seconds in a radius that 

stretched for more than 1 mile. 
 

Also on this date: 
 

 Two of Japan’s final remaining battleships – Haruna and Ise, at anchorage at Kure Naval 

Base – are sunk by U.S. aircraft from Task Force 38. The remnants of Japanese battle 

fleet are destroyed in three days of attacks over the Japanese Inland Sea, as the 

Americans deploy 2,000 carrier-planes and bombers in action. 
 

 Physicist Raemer Schreiber and Lieutenant Colonel Peer de Silva arrive on the Pacific 

island of Tinian with the plutonium core used to assemble the Fat Man bomb used in the 

bombing of Nagasaki on 9 AUG. 

 

 Jul 28 1965 – Vietnam War:  Johnson Announces More Troops to Vietnam   »   President 

Lyndon B. Johnson announces that he has ordered an increase in U.S. military forces in 

Vietnam, from the present 75,000 to 125,000. Johnson also said that he would order 

additional increases if necessary. He pointed out that to fill the increase in military manpower 

needs, the monthly draft calls would be raised from 17,000 to 35,000. At the same time, 

Johnson reaffirmed U.S. readiness to seek a negotiated end to the war, and appealed to the 

United Nations and any of its member states to help further this goal. There was an 
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immediate reaction throughout the world to this latest escalation, with communist leaders 

attacking Johnson for his decision to send more troops to Vietnam. Most members of 

Congress were reported to favor Johnson’s decision, while most U.S. state governors, 

convening for their annual conference, also supported a resolution backing Johnson. This 

decision to send more troops was regarded as a major turning point, as it effectively 

guaranteed U.S. military leaders a blank check to pursue the war. 

 

 Jul 28 1972 – Vietnam War:  CIA Reports Minor Damage Done to North Vietnam’s Dikes   

»   In response to Soviet accusations that the United States had conducted a two-month 

bombing campaign intentionally to destroy the dikes and dams of the Tonkin Delta in North 

Vietnam, a CIA report is made public by the Nixon administration. The report revealed that 

U.S. bombing at 12 locations had in fact caused accidental minor damage to North Vietnam’s 

dikes, but the damage was unintentional and the dikes were not the intended targets of the 

bombings. The nearly 2,000 miles of dikes on the Tonkin plain, and more than 2,000 along 

the sea, made civilized life possible in the Red River Delta. Had the dikes been intentionally 

targeted, their destruction would have destroyed centuries of patient work and caused the 

drowning or starvation of hundreds of thousands of peasants. Bombing the dikes had been 

advocated by some U.S. strategists since the beginning of U.S. involvement in the war, but 

had been rejected outright by U.S. presidents sitting during the war as an act of terrorism. 

 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 29 1862 – Civil War:  Confederate Spy Belle Boyd Captured   »    Marie Isabella “Belle” 

Boyd is arrested by Union troops and detained at the Old Capitol Prison in Washington, D.C. 

It was the first arrest for this skilled spy who provided crucial information to the 

Confederates during the war. The Virginian-born Boyd was just 17 when the war began. She 

was from a prominent slaveholding family in Martinsburg, Virginia (now West Virginia), in 

the Shenandoah Valley. In 1861, she shot and killed a Union solider for insulting her mother 

and threatening to search their house. Union officers investigated and decided the shooting 

was justified. 
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     Soon after the shooting incident, Boyd began spying for the Confederacy. She used her 

charms to engage Union soldiers and officers in conversations and acquire information about 

Federal military affairs. Suspecting her of spying, Union officers banished Boyd further 

south in the Shenandoah, to Front Royal, Virginia, in March 1862. Just two months later, 

Boyd personally delivered crucial information to General Thomas J. “Stonewall” Jackson 

during his campaign in the valley that allowed the Confederates to defeat General Nathaniel 

Banks’s forces at the Battle of Winchester. In another incident, Boyd turned two chivalrous 

Union cavalrymen who had escorted her back home across Union lines over to Confederate 

pickets as prisoners of war. 
 

     Boyd was detained on several occasions, and on 29 JUL she was placed in the Old Capitol 

Prison in Washington. But her incarceration was evidently of limited hardship. She was 

given many special considerations, and she became engaged to a fellow prisoner. Upon her 

release one month later, she was given a trousseau by the prison’s superintendent and 

shipped under a flag of truce to Richmond, Virginia. Boyd was arrested again in 1863 and 

held for three months. After this second imprisonment, she became a courier of secret 

messages to Great Britain. In 1864, her ship was captured off the coast of North Carolina, 

and the ship and crew were taken to New York. Captain Samuel Hardinge commanded the 

Union ship that captured Boyd’s vessel, and the two were seen shopping together in New 

York. He followed her to London, and they were married soon after. 
 

     All in all, Belle Boyd was placed under arrested six times, thrown in prison three times, 

and exiled twice. While some believe her abilities as a spy to be exaggerations, or at least 

overrated, there can be no doubt that the life of Belle Boyd is one of the truly great American 

Civil War stories 

 

 Jul 29 1864 – Civil War:  Battle at Deep Bottom Run, Virginia (27-29 Jul)   »    The 3-day 

battle, also known as Darbytown, Strawberry Plains, New Market Road, or Gravel Hill, 

fought, at Deep Bottom in Henrico County, Virginia, as part of the Siege of Petersburg of the 

American Civil War ends. A Union force under Maj. Gens. Winfield S. Hancock and Philip 

H. Sheridan was sent on an expedition threatening Richmond, Virginia, and its railroads, 

intending to attract Confederate troops away from the Petersburg defensive line, in 

anticipation of the upcoming Battle of the Crater. The Union infantry and cavalry force was 

unable to break through the Confederate fortifications at Bailey's Creek and Fussell's Mill 

and was withdrawn, but it achieved its desired effect of momentarily reducing Confederate 

strength at Petersburg.  Casualties and losses: Union 488 - Confederate 689. 

 

 Jul 29 1905 – U.S.*Japan:  Secret Agreement   »    U.S. Secretary of War William Howard 

Taft allegedly makes secret agreement with Japanese Prime Minister Katsura agreeing to 

Japanese free rein in Korea in return for non-interference with the US in the Philippines.  The 

agreement came to light in 1924, when scholar Tyler Dennet discovered the document and 

described it as ‘the text of perhaps the most remarkable “executive agreement” in the history 
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of the foreign relations of the United States’. However, subsequent historians have 

downplayed the significance, claiming that no official agreement was ever made and that 

both Taft and Katsura were simply restating well-known official policies of their respective 

governments. Taft later claimed that his agreement with Katsura was made in a private 

capacity and that, as the Secretary of War rather than Secretary of State, he was not an 

official representative of the US government. 

 

 Jul 29 1914 – WW1 Era:  Germany and Russia Leaders Exchange Telegrams   »   Czar 

Nicholas II of Russia and his first cousin, Kaiser Wilhelm II of Germany, begin a frantic 

exchange of telegrams regarding the newly erupted war in the Balkan region and the 

possibility of its escalation into a general European war. 
 

 
Czar Nicholas II of Russia & Kaiser Wilhelm II of Germany 

 

     One day prior, Austria-Hungary had declared war on Serbia, one month after the 

assassination in Sarajevo of Austrian Archduke Franz Ferdinand and his wife by a Serbian 

nationalist. In the wake of the killings, Germany had promised Austria-Hungary its 

unconditional support in whatever punitive action it chose to take towards Serbia, regardless 

of whether or not Serbia’s powerful ally, Russia, stepped into the conflict. By the time an 

ultimatum from Vienna to Serbia was rejected on 25 JUL, Russia, defying Austro-German 

expectations, had already ordered preliminary mobilization to begin, believing that Berlin 

was using the assassination crisis as a pretext to launch a war to shore up its power in the 

Balkans. 
 

    The relationship between Nicholas and Wilhelm, two grandsons of Britain’s Queen 

Victoria, had long been a rocky one. Though Wilhelm described himself as Victoria’s 

favorite grandson, the great queen in turn warned Nicholas to be careful of Wilhelm’s 

“mischievous and unstraight-forward proceedings.” Victoria did not invite the Kaiser, who 

she described to her prime minister as “a hot-headed, conceited, and wrong-headed young 

man,” to her Diamond Jubilee celebration in 1897, nor her 80th birthday two years later. Czar 

Nicholas himself commented in 1902 after a meeting with Wilhelm: “He’s raving mad!” 

Now, however, the two cousins stood at the center of the crisis that would soon escalate into 

the First World War. 
 

     “In this serious moment, I appeal to you to help me,” Czar Nicholas wrote to the Kaiser in 

a telegram sent at one o’clock on the morning of 29 JUL. “An ignoble war has been declared 
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to a weak country. The indignation in Russia shared fully by me is enormous. I foresee that 

very soon I shall be overwhelmed by the pressure forced upon me and be forced to take 

extreme measures which will lead to war.” This message crossed with one from Wilhelm to 

Nicholas expressing concern about the effect of Austria’s declaration in Russia and urging 

calm and consideration as a response. 
 

     After receiving the czar’s telegram, Wilhelm cabled back: “I…share your wish that peace 

should be maintained. But…I cannot consider Austria’s action against Serbia an ‘ignoble’ 

war. Austria knows by experience that Serbian promises on paper are wholly unreliable. I 

understand its action must be judged as trending to get full guarantee that the Serbian 

promises shall become real facts…I therefore suggest that it would be quite possible for 

Russia to remain a spectator of the Austro-Serbian conflict without involving Europe in the 

most horrible war she ever witnessed.” Though Wilhelm assured the czar that the German 

government was working to broker an agreement between Russia and Austria-Hungary, he 

warned that if Russia were to take military measures against Austria, war would be the result. 
 

     The telegram exchange continued over the next few days, as the two men spoke of their 

desire to preserve peace, even as their respective countries continued mobilizing for war. On 

30 JUL, the Kaiser wrote to Nicholas: “I have gone to the utmost limits of the possible in my 

efforts to save peace….Even now, you can still save the peace of Europe by stopping your 

military measures.” The following day, Nicholas replied: “It is technically impossible to stop 

our military preparations which were obligatory owing to Austria’s mobilization. We are far 

from wishing for war. As long as the negotiations with Austria on Serbia’s account are taking 

place my troops shall not make any provocative action. I give you my solemn word for this.” 

But by that time things had gone too far: Emperor Franz Josef had rejected the Kaiser’s 

mediation offer, saying it came too late, as Russia had already mobilized and Austrian troops 

were already marching on Serbia. 
 

     The German ambassador to Russia delivered an ultimatum that night—halt the 

mobilization within 12 hours, or Germany would begin its own mobilization, a step that 

would logically proceed to war. By four o’clock in the afternoon of 1 AUG, in Berlin, no 

reply had come from Russia. At a meeting with Germany’s civilian and military leaders—

Chancellor Theobald Bethmann von Hollweg and General Erich von Falkenhayn—Kaiser 

Wilhelm agreed to sign the mobilization orders. 
 

     That same day, in his last contribution to what were dubbed the “Willy-Nicky” telegrams, 

Czar Nicholas pressed the Kaiser for assurance that his mobilization did not definitely mean 

war. Wilhelm’s response was dismissive. “I yesterday pointed out to your government the 

way by which alone war may be avoided….I have…been obliged to mobilize my army. 

Immediate affirmative clear and unmistakable answer from your government is the only way 

to avoid endless misery. Until I have received this answer alas, I am unable to discuss the 

subject of your telegram. As a matter of fact I must request you to immediately [sic] order 
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your troops on no account to commit the slightest act of trespassing over our frontiers.” 

Germany declared war on Russia that same day. 

 

 Jul 29 1921 – Germany:  Adolf Hitler Becomes Leader of the Nazi Party   »    Adolf Hitler 

becomes the leader of the National Socialist German Workers’ (Nazi) Party. Under Hitler, 

the Nazi Party grew into a mass movement and ruled Germany as a totalitarian state from 

1933 to 1945. 
 

 
 

     Hitler’s early years did not seem to predict his rise as a political leader. Born on April 20, 

1889, in Braunau am Inn, Austria, he was a poor student and never graduated from high 

school. During World War I, he joined a Bavarian regiment of the German army and was 

considered a brave soldier; however, his commanders felt he lacked leadership potential and 

never promoted him beyond corporal. 
 

     Frustrated by Germany’s defeat in the war, which left the nation economically depressed 

and politically unstable, Hitler joined a fledgling organization called the German Workers’ 

Party in 1919. Founded earlier that same year by a small group of men including locksmith 

Anton Drexler and journalist Karl Harrer, the party promoted German pride and anti-

Semitism, and expressed dissatisfaction with the terms of the Treaty of Versailles, the peace 

settlement that ended the war and required Germany to make numerous concessions and 

reparations. Hitler soon emerged as the party’s most charismatic public speaker and attracted 

new members with speeches blaming Jews and Marxists for Germany’s problems and 

espousing extreme nationalism and the concept of an Aryan “master race.” On July 29, 1921, 

Hitler assumed leadership of the organization, which by then had been renamed the 

Nationalist Socialist German Workers’ Party. 
 

     In 1923, Hitler and his followers staged the Beer Hall Putsch in Munich, a failed takeover 

of the government in Bavaria, a state in southern Germany. In the aftermath of this event, 

Hitler was convicted of treason and sentenced to five years in prison, but spent less than a 

year behind bars (during which time he dictated the first volume of “Mein Kampf,” or “My 

Struggle,” his political autobiography.) The publicity surrounding the Beer Hall Putsch and 

Hitler’s subsequent trial turned him into a national figure. After his release from jail, he set 

about rebuilding the Nazi Party and attempting to gain power through the democratic election 

process. In 1929, Germany entered a severe economic depression that left millions of people 
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unemployed. The Nazis capitalized on this situation by criticizing the ruling government and 

began to win elections. In the July 1932 elections, they captured 230 out of 608 seats in the 

Reichstag, or German parliament. In January 1933, Hitler was appointed German chancellor 

and in March of that year his Nazi government assumed dictatorial powers. The Nazis soon 

came to control every aspect of German life and all other political parties were banned. 
 

     Following Germany’s defeat in World War II, during which some 6 million European 

Jews were murdered under Hitler’s state-sponsored extermination programs, the Nazi Party 

was outlawed and many of its top officials were convicted of war crimes. Hitler had 

committed suicide on April 30, 1945, shortly before Germany’s surrender. 

 

 Jul 29 1936 – WW2 Era:  Spanish Civil War (29 Jul 36 – 26 May 39)   »   German 

involvement in the Spanish Civil War commenced with the outbreak of war with Adolf Hitler 

immediately sending in powerful air and armored units to assist General Francisco Franco 

and his Nationalist forces. The Soviet Union sent in smaller forces to assist the Republican 

government, while Britain and France and two dozen other countries set up an embargo on 

any munitions or soldiers into Spain. Nazi Germany also signed the embargo but simply 

ignored it. 
 

     The war provided combat experience with the latest technology for the German military. 

However, the intervention also posed the risk of escalating into a world war for which Hitler 

was not ready. He therefore limited his aid, and instead encouraged Mussolini to send in 

large Fascist Italian units. Franco's Nationalists were victorious; he remained officially 

neutral in the Second World War, but helped the Axis in various ways from 1940 to 1943, 

even offering to join the war on 19 June 1940 in exchange for help building Spain's colonial 

empire. The Spanish episode lasted three years and was a smaller-scale prelude to the world 

war which broke out in 1939. 
 

     Nazi support for General Franco was motivated by several factors, including as a 

distraction from Hitler's central European strategy, and the creation of a Spanish state 

friendly to Germany to threaten France. It further provided an opportunity to train men and 

test equipment and tactics. Approximately 56,000 Nationalist soldiers were trained by 

various German detachments in Spain, who were technically proficient; these covered 

infantry, tanks and anti-tank units, air and anti-aircraft forces, and those trained in naval 

warfare. A total of approximately 16,000 German citizens fought in the Civil War, mostly as 

pilots, ground crew, artillery men, tank crew, and as military advisers and instructors. About 

10,000 Germans was the maximum strength at any one time. Approximately 300 Germans 

were killed. During the course of the war, Germany sent 732 combat aircraft and 110 trainer 

aircraft to Spain.  

 

 Jul 29 1937 –WW2 Era:  Japanese Troops Occupy Peking and Tientsin   »   With the fall of 

Beijing and Tianjin, the North China Plain was helpless against the Japanese divisions which 
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occupied it by the end of the year. The Chinese National Revolutionary Army was in 

constant retreat until the hard fought Battle of Taierzhuang.  

 

 Jul 29 1940 – WW2:  Eighty (80) German planes attack Dover harbour; British claim 17 

down; Air Ministry accuses Germans of using Red Cross planes for reconnaissance. 

Germany apologizes to Eire for Wexford bombing. Intense dogfights over London and Home 

Counties. Britain refuses German proposal to use 64 Red Cross ships to rescue airmen from 

the English Channel. 

 

 Jul 29 1941 – WW2:  Dutch freeze Japanese assets; now Japan has lost 75% of foreign trade 

and 90% of its oil supply. 

 

 Jul 29 1942 – WW2:  As Australians retreat, Japanese take Kokoda and its airfield in Papua 

New Guinea. 

 

 Jul 29 1943 – WW2:  The mass evacuation of a million civilians from Hamburg is ordered 

after the recent heavy bombings. 

 

 Jul 29 1944 – WW2:  Allied air force bombs Germany for 6 continuous hours. 

 

 Jul 29 1949–Cold War:  Moscow ends the blockade of West Berlin. 

 

 Jul 29 1950 – Korean War:  No Gun Ri Massacre (26-29 Jul)   »   After four days, the 

Massacre ends when the US Army 7th Cavalry Regiment is withdrawn. An undetermined 

number of South Korean refugees were killed in a U.S. air attack and by small- and heavy-

weapons fire at a railroad bridge near the village of Nogeun-ri (Korean: 노근리), 100 miles 

southeast of Seoul. In 2005, a South Korean government inquest certified the names of 163 

dead or missing and 55 wounded, and added that many other victims' names were not 

reported. The South Korean government-funded No Gun Ri Peace Foundation estimated in 

2011 that 250–300 were killed, mostly women and children.  
 

     The incident was little-known outside Korea until publication of an Associated Press (AP) 

story in 1999 in which 7th Cavalry veterans corroborated survivors' accounts. The AP also 

uncovered declassified U.S. Army orders to fire on approaching civilians because of reports 

of North Korean infiltration of refugee groups. In 2001, the U.S. Army conducted an 

investigation and, after previously rejecting survivors' claims, acknowledged the killings, but 

described the three-day event as "an unfortunate tragedy inherent to war and not a deliberate 

killing". The Army rejected survivors' demands for an apology and compensation. United 

States President Bill Clinton issued a statement of regret, adding the next day that "things 

happened which were wrong". 
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     South Korean investigators disagreed with the U.S. report, saying they believed that 7th 

Cavalry troops were ordered to fire on the refugees. The survivors' group called the U.S. 

report a "whitewash". The AP later discovered additional archival documents showing that 

U.S. commanders ordered troops to "shoot" and "fire on" civilians at the war front during this 

period; these declassified documents had been found but not disclosed by the Pentagon 

investigators. Among the undisclosed documents was a letter from the U.S. ambassador in 

South Korea stating that the U.S. military had adopted a theater-wide policy of firing on 

approaching refugee groups. Despite demands, the U.S. investigation was not reopened. 

 

 Jul 29 1953 – First Indochina War:  Operation Camargue (28 Jul thru 10 Aug)   »   This 

was one of the largest operations by the French Far East Expeditionary Corps and 

Vietnamese National Army in the First Indochina War. French armored platoons, airborne 

units and troops delivered by landing craft to the coast of central Annam, modern-day 

Vietnam, attempted to sweep forces of the communist Viet Minh from the critical Route One. 
 

     The first landings took place in the early morning on 28 JUL, and reached the first 

objectives, an inland canal, without major incident. A secondary phase of mopping-up 

operations began in a "labyrinth of tiny villages" where French armored forces suffered a 

series of ambushes. Reinforced by paratroopers, the French and their Vietnamese allies 

tightened a net around the defending Viet Minh, but delays in the movement of French forces 

left gaps through which most of the Viet Minh guerillas, and many of the arms caches the 

operation was expected to seize, escaped. For the French, this validated the claim that it was 

impossible to operate tight ensnaring operations in Vietnam's jungle, due to the slow 

movement of their troops, and a foreknowledge by the enemy, which was difficult to prevent. 

From then on, the French focused on creating strong fortified positions, against which Viet 

Minh General Giáp could pit his forces, culminating in Operation Castor and the Battle of 

Dien Bien Phu. 
 

     With the French forces withdrawn from the operation by the late summer of 1953, Viet 

Minh Regiment 95 re-infiltrated Route One and resumed ambushes of French convoys, 

retrieving weapons caches missed by the French forces. Regiment 95 occupied the area for 

the remainder of the First Indochina War and were still operating there as late as 1962 against 

the South Vietnamese Army during the Second Indochina, or Vietnam War. 

 

 Jul 29 1953 – Cold War:  US bomber Shot Down by Soviets  »   An US Air Force RB-50G 

Superfortress (Little Red Ass) of the 343rd Strategic Reconnaissance Squadron, 55th 

Strategic Reconnaissance Wing, temporarily attached to the 91st Strategic Reconnaissance 

Squadron based at Yokota Air Base, Japan, was shot down south of Askold Island near 

Vladivostok, by Soviet pilots flying MiG-17 Frescos. The RB-50's tail gunner was able to 

fire a brief burst at the MiG-17s, but the fighters were able to avoid this fire and quickly 

downed the plane, shooting its left wing off. The co-pilot of the RB-50, John E. Roche, was 

the sole survivor of the 18 man crew, though as many as seven crew members might have 

successfully bailed out.  
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     After spending about 12 hours in the water, an SB-29 dropped an A-3 survival raft to 

Roche and the RB-50's pilot, Stanley K. O'Kelley. Roche was able to crawl into the survival 

raft, but O'Kelley succumbed to hypothermia. After another 10 hours in the survival raft, 

Roche was rescued by the USS Picking (DD 685). The remains of Stanley K. O'Kelley and 

Francis L. Brown were later recovered on the coast of Japan. The other 14 crewmembers and 

an unnamed Russian, were never found. 

 

 Jul 29 1965 – Vietnam War:  101st Airborne Division Arrives in Vietnam   »   The first 

4,000 paratroopers of the 101st Airborne Division arrive in Vietnam, landing at Cam Ranh 

Bay. They made a demonstration jump immediately after arriving, observed by Gen. William 

Westmoreland and outgoing Ambassador (formerly General) Maxwell Taylor. Taylor and 

Westmoreland were both former commanders of the division, which was known as the 

“Screaming Eagles.” The 101st Airborne Division has a long and storied history, including 

combat jumps during the invasion of Normandy on June 6, 1944, and the subsequent Market-

Garden airborne operation in the Netherlands. Later, the division distinguished itself by its 

defense of Bastogne during the Battle of the Bulge. 
 

 
 

     The 1st Brigade fought as a separate brigade until 1967, when the remainder of the 

division arrived in Vietnam. The combat elements of the division consisted of 10 battalions 

of airmobile infantry, six battalions of artillery, an aerial rocket artillery unit armed with 

rocket-firing helicopters, and an air reconnaissance unit. Another unique feature of the 

division was its aviation group, which consisted of three aviation battalions of assault 

helicopters and gunships. 
 

     The majority of the 101st Airborne Division’s tactical operations were in the Central 

Highlands and in the A Shau Valley farther north. Among its major operations was the brutal 

fight for Ap Bia Mountain, known as the “Hamburger Hill” battle. 
 

     The last Army division to leave Vietnam, the remaining elements of the 101st Airborne 

Division returned to Fort Campbell, Kentucky, where today it is the Army’s only airmobile 

division. During the war, troopers from the 101st won 17 Medals of Honor for bravery in 
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combat. The division suffered almost 20,000 soldiers killed or wounded in action in Vietnam, 

over twice as many as the 9,328 casualties it suffered in World War II. 

 

 Jul 29 1967 – Vietnam War:  Fire Ravages U.S. Carrier off Vietnam    »    A fire on a 

United States Navy carrier stationed off the coast of Vietnam kills 134 service members. The 

deadly fire on the USS Forrestal began with the accidental launch of a rocket. 
 

 
USS Forrestal on fire, the worst US carrier fire since WWII; USS Rupertus (DD-851) maneuvers  

to within 20 ft. to use fire hoses. 
 

     During the Vietnam War, the USS Forrestal was often stationed off the coast of North 

Vietnam, conducting combat operations. On the morning of 29 JUL, the ship was preparing 

to attack when a rocket from one of its own F-4 Phantom jet fighters was accidentally 

launched. The rocket streaked across the deck and hit a parked A-4 Skyhawk jet. The 

Skyhawk, which was waiting to take off, was piloted by John McCain, the future senator 

from Arizona. 
 

     Fuel from the Skyhawk spilled out and caught fire. The fire then spread to nearby planes 

on the ship’s deck and detonated a 1,000-pound bomb, which killed many of the initial 

firefighters and further spread the fire. A chain reaction of explosions blew holes in the flight 

deck and had half the large ship on fire at one point. Many pilots were trapped in their planes 

as the fire spread. It took a full day before the fires could be fully contained. 
 

     Hundreds of sailors were seriously injured and 134 lost their lives in the devastating fire. 

Of the carrier’s 80 planes, twenty were destroyed, 42 were damaged, and $100 million in 

damage resulted. It was the worst loss of a life on a U.S. Navy ship since World War II. 

Temporary repairs were made to the ship in the Philippines before the Forrestal headed back 

to Norfolk, Virginia. It was repaired and put back into service the following April, but never 

returned to Vietnam. John McCain narrowly escaped the fire and, afterwards, volunteered for 

duty on the USS Oriskany. Just three months later, his plane was shot down over North 

Vietnam and he was taken prisoner. He was not released until five-and-a-half years later, in 

1973. 

 

 Jul 29 1972 – Vietnam War:  Former U.S. Attorney General Visits North Vietnam   »    

Former U.S. Attorney General Ramsey Clark visits North Vietnam as a member of the 
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International Commission of Inquiry into U.S. War Crimes in Indochina. This commission 

was formed to investigate alleged U.S. bombing of non-military targets in North Vietnam. 

Clark reported over Hanoi radio that he had seen damage to hospitals, dikes, schools, and 

civilian areas. His visit stirred intense controversy at home. Nothing ever came of Clark’s 

claims, but he was lauded by antiwar activists for pointing out the damage done by the U.S. 

bombing attacks. Other Americans condemned Clark as a traitor to the United States. 

 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 30 1863 – Native Americans:  Treaty of Box Elder   »   Chief Pocatello of the Shoshone 

tribe signs the Treaty agreeing to stop the harassment of emigrant trails in southern Idaho and 

northern Utah. It was adopted after a period of conflict which included the Bear River 

Massacre on January 29, 1863. The treaty called for peaceable relations between the two 

groups. It contained a promise by the U.S. to pay the Shoshone $5,000 yearly as 

compensation for the "utter destitution" inflicted by war. It also recognizes the claim of Chief 

Pocatello and his people to the land "bounded on the west by the Raft River and on the east 

by the Porteneuf Mountains". 
 

     The treaty had little effect until 1968, when the United States compensated the 

Northwestern band for their land claim at a rate of about 50¢ per acre.  Indians were 

forcefully ejected from areas they attempted to settle within their supposed territory. 

Continuing white immigration destroyed the ecosystems upon which they relied and made 

their nomadic life impossible. They were resettled on a 500-acre tract in Box Elder County, 

which was owned and administered by The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints (LDS 

Church). Later, they were encouraged to move to the Fort Hall Reservation. Outside 

humanitarian assistance to the Shoshone came not from the U.S. government but eventually 

from the LDS Church headquartered in Salt Lake City, Utah 

 

 Jul 30 1863 – Civil War:  Lincoln "Eye-For-Eye" Order  »    President Abraham Lincoln 

issued what was called an "eye-for-eye" order, warning the Confederacy that Union soldiers 

would shoot a rebel prisoner for every black prisoner shot. It also would condemn a rebel 

prisoner to a life of hard labor for every Black prisoner sold into slavery. The order had a 

slight "restraining" influence on the Confederate government's voiced policy, but individual 

commanders and soldiers continued to murder captured black soldiers. Although this act 

appeared to be motivated by feelings of compassion toward the slaves, it was intended 

primarily as another way to intimidate the Confederacy. 

 

 Jul 30 1864 – Civil War:  Union Forces Stopped at the Battle of the Crater   »   The Union 

ingeniously attempted to break the Confederate lines at Petersburg, Virginia by blowing up a 

tunnel that had been dug under the Rebel trenches. Although the explosion created a gap in 
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the Confederate defenses, their poorly planned attack wasted the effort and the result was an 

eight-month continuation of the siege. 
 

    The bloody campaign between Union General Ulysses S. Grant and Confederate Robert E. 

Lee ground to a halt in mid-June, when the two armies dug in at Petersburg, south of 

Richmond. For the previous six weeks, Grant had pounded away at Lee, producing little 

results other than frightful casualties. A series of battles and flanking maneuvers brought 

Grant to Petersburg, where he opted for a siege rather than another costly frontal assault. 
 

 
 

     In late June, a Union regiment from the 48th Pennsylvania Infantry began digging a tunnel 

under the Rebel fortifications. The soldiers, experienced miners from Pennsylvania’s 

anthracite coal regions, dug for nearly a month to construct a horizontal shaft over 500 feet 

long. At the end of the tunnel, they ran two drifts, or side tunnels, totaling 75 feet along the 

Confederate lines to maximize the destruction. Four tons of gunpowder filled the drifts, and 

the stage was set. 
 

     Union soldiers lit the fuse before dawn on 30 JUL. The explosion that came just before 

5:00 a.m. blew up a Confederate battery and most of one infantry regiment, creating a crater 

170 feet long, 60 to 80 feet wide, and 30 feet deep. As one Southern soldier wrote, “Several 

hundred yards of earth work with men and cannon was literally hurled a hundred feet in the 

air.” However, the Union was woefully unprepared to exploit the gap. The Yankees were 

slow to exit the trenches, and when they did the 15,000 attacking troops ran into the crater 

rather than around it. Part of the Rebel line was captured, but the Confederates that gathered 

from each side fired down on the Yankees. The Union troops could not maintain the 

beachhead, and by early afternoon they retreated back to their original trenches. 
 

     This failure led to finger pointing among the Union command. General Ambrose 

Burnside, the corps commander of the troops involved, had ordered regiments from the 

United States Colored Troops to lead the attack, but the commander of the Army of the 

Potomac, George G. Meade, nixed that plan shortly before the attack was scheduled. Fearing 

that it may be perceived as a ploy to use African-American soldiers as cannon fodder, Meade 

ordered that white troops lead the charge. With little time for training, General James H. 

Ledlie was left to command the attack. The Battle of the Crater essentially marked the end of 
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Burnside’s military career, and on April 15, 1865, he resigned from the army. Casualties and 

losses: US 3,798 - CSA 1,491. 

 

 Jul 30 1864 – Civil War:  Burning of Chambersburg, Pennsylvania   »   In the Battle of 

Chambersburg Brigadier General John McCausland and 2,800 Confederate cavalrymen 

entered the city and demanded $100,000 in gold or $500,000 in greenbacks. The residents of 

Chambersburg failed to raise the ransom, and McCausland ordered his men to burn the town. 

Flames destroyed more than 500 structures leaving more than 2,000 homeless. One resident 

died of smoke inhalation. Damage was estimated at more than $1.6 million. To make matters 

worse, many inebriated Confederate soldiers looted homes and abused civilians. Mobs of 

angry townspeople looking for retribution killed several Rebels. Good Samaritans in the 

Rebel ranks helped citizens escape and save their valuables; a Confederate captain even 

ordered his company to douse the flames. One officer, Colonel William Peters, staunchly 

refused to take part in the burning. McCausland had him placed under arrest. Chambersburg 

was the only Northern town the Confederates destroyed. The attack inspired a national aid 

campaign and spurred the Union Army to the aggressive approach that finally won the war. 

 

 Jul 30 1864 – Civil War:  Battle of Dunlap Hill, GA (Stoneman's Raid)   »   In July Maj. 

Gen. W.T. Sherman´s army closed in on Atlanta. Finding its fortifications "too strong to 

assault and too extensive to invest," he sought to force its fall by sending Maj. Gen. Geo. 

Stoneman, with three brigades (2112 men and 2 guns) of the Army of the Ohio cavalry, 

supported by Garrard´s division, Army of the Cumberland cavalry, to cut the Central of 

Georgia R.R. by which the defenders were supplied. On the 27th, Stoneman sent Garrard to 

Flat Rock (12 miles SE) to protect his rear, then left Decatur, crossed the Ocmulgee (Yellow) 

River near Covington, and turned down the left bank toward Monticello and Macon.  
 

     Near Macon on the 30th, he detached part of the 14th Illinois Cavalry which wrecked 

railway facilities east of Macon, and burned trains, trestles and the long railway bridge over 

the Oconee River. At Macon he was turned back by Georgia Militia, strongly entrenched. 

Unable to advance, he shelled Macon briefly, then attempted to retreat. Early next morning, 

Sunday the 31st, he was brought to bay at Sunshine Church by Brig. Gen. Alfred Iverson, Jr., 

who, with only 1300 cavalry, had marched to intercept him. Deluded into believing that he 

was being surrounded, Stoneman covered the escape northward of Adams´ and Capron´s 

brigades, then he surrendered, with about 600 men and his artillery and train, to what Iverson 

had managed to convince him was a substantially superior force. 

 

 Jul 30 1914 – WWI:  On 28 July Austria-Hungary declared war on Serbia. Within days, 

long-standing mobilization plans went into effect to initiate invasions or guard against them. 

After initial reluctance, Tsar Nicholas II of Russia is persuaded to decree a general 

mobilizations in response to Austria; 'Think of the thousands and thousands of men who will 

be sent to their deaths!' he claims.  Russia, France and Britain stood arrayed against Austria 
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and Germany in what at the time was called the "Great War", and was later named "World 

War I" or "First World War." Austria thought in terms of one small limited war involving 

just the two countries. It did not plan a wider war such as exploded in a matter of days.  

 

 Jul 30 1916 – WWI:  Black Tom Explosion   »   An act of sabotage by German agents to 

destroy U.S.-made munitions that were to be supplied to the Allies in World War I. The 

explosions, which occurred in the New York Harbor, destroyed some $22,000,000 

(equivalent to about $460,000,000 in 2018) worth of military goods. This incident, which 

happened prior to U.S. entry into World War I, also famously damaged the Statue of Liberty. 

It is considered one of the largest artificial non-nuclear explosions to have ever occurred. On 

the island, the explosion destroyed more than one hundred railroad cars, thirteen warehouses, 

and left a 375-foot-by-175-foot crater at the source of the explosion. The damage to the 

Statue of Liberty was estimated to be $100,000 and included damage to the skirt and torch. 
 

     Immigrants being processed at Ellis Island had to be evacuated to Lower Manhattan. 

Although one contemporary newspaper report estimated that up to seven people died in the 

attack, four did definitely die: a Jersey City policeman, a Lehigh Valley Railroad chief of 

police, a ten-week-old infant, and the barge captain. The New York Times confirmed the 

death of five men and detailed their death later that week. Four of these men were burned to 

death. These burns were so severe that their legs and their arms were burned off of their 

bodies; the bodies were indistinguishable from one another. The bodies were consumed by 

the flames after being suffocated by smoke. Further, the superintendent who was thought to 

be at Black Tom during the explosion was never found. The article states, "The fifth man, 

who ran off the island about the time of the explosion and was drowned, is not known." 
 

     To understand why the sabotage took place, it is important to understand the mindset of 

the actors behind the attack. "In August of 1914, most Germans regarded the armed conflict 

they were entering in spiritual terms. The war was above all an idea, not a conspiracy aimed 

at German territorial aggrandizement." Concerns over suspicions that this was the fault of 

German spies were initially quelled. The International Secret Service at the time stated that 

mosquitoes were to blame. According to Ervin J. Smith, the first vice president of the 

International Secret Service, "The watchmen employed to guard the millions of dollars-worth 

of war materials were bothered by mosquitos, and built a smudge to drive them away. A 

spark from this fire ignited some excelsior under a box car loaded with small shells. These 

exploded and the rest is history." This statement made by Ervin Smith later turned out to be 

false, and the true motive was quickly revealed. 

 

 Jul 30 1919 – U.S. Navy:  USS G–2 (SS–27) foundered and sunk in Long Island Sound with 

the loss of 3 crewman. 
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 Jul 30 1941 – WW2 Era:  German occupiers forbid the SDAP, VDB, ARP, RKSP, CHU 

and SGP political parties and set a night curfew on Jews in the Netherlands. 

 

 Jul 30 1942 – U.S. Navy:  FDR signs bill creating women's Navy auxiliary agency 

(WAVES). 
 

Also on this date: 
 

 The Red Army launches a counter-offensive at Rzhev, which leads to the temporary 

encirclement of six German divisions, although these are successfully supplied by 

massive air drops from the Luftwaffe. Army Group A consolidates its bridgehead over 

the Manych River, while Army Group B struggles to reduce the Soviet bridgehead at 

Kalach in the Don Estuary west of Stalingrad. 

 

 Jul 30 1943 – WW2:  Hitler Gets News of Italy’s Imminent Defection   »    Adolf Hitler 

learns that Axis ally Italy is buying time before negotiating surrender terms with the Allies in 

light of Mussolini’s fall from power. 
 

     Hitler had feared that such a turn of events was possible, if not probable. Hitler had come 

to Italy on 19 JUL to lecture Il Duce on his failed military leadership—evidence that he 

knew, even if he was not admitting, that both Mussolini and Italy were about to collapse, 

leaving the Italian peninsula open to Allied occupation. Despite a half-hearted reassurance 

from Mussolini that Italy would continue to battle on, Hitler nevertheless began preparing for 

the prospect of Italy’s surrender to the Allies. 
 

     When Mussolini was ousted from power and arrested by his own police six days later. 

Hitler gathered Goering, Goebbels, Himmler, Rommel, and the commander in chief of the 

German navy, Karl Doenitz, at his headquarters to reveal the plans of action he had already 

been formulating. Among them: (1) Operation Oak, in which Mussolini would be rescued 

from captivity; (2) the occupation of Rome by German forces and the reinstallation of 

Mussolini and his fascist government; (3) Operation Black, the German occupation of all 

Italy; and (4) Operation Axis, the destruction of the Italian fleet (in order to prevent it from 

being commandeered for Allied use). 
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     Hitler’s advisers urged caution, especially since it would require recalling troops from the 

Eastern front. The Allies had not made a move on Rome yet, and although Mussolini was 

under arrest, the Italian government had not formally surrendered. Germany had received 

assurances from Mussolini’s successor General Badoglio that Italy would continue to fight at 

Germany’s side. Then on 30 JUL, Hitler read a message from his security police chief in 

Zagreb that an Italian general had confided to a Croat general that Italy’s assurances of 

loyalty to Germany were “designed merely to gain time for the conclusion of negotiations 

with the enemy.” 

 

 Jul 30 1944 – WW2:  In drive out of Normandy the U.S. First Army takes the French city 

Avranches and the U.S. 30th division reaches suburbs of St–Lo. Also, the U.S. 6th Infantry 

Division lands on Vogelkop Peninsula on northwest tip of New Guinea with little opposition. 

 

 Jul 30 1945 – WW2:  USS Indianapolis (CA-35) Sunk   »   The heavy cruiser is torpedoed by 

a Japanese submarine and sinks within minutes in shark-infested waters. Only 317 of the 

1,196 men on board survived. However, the Indianapolis had already completed its major 

mission: the delivery of key components of the atomic bomb that would be dropped a week 

later at Hiroshima to Tinian Island in the South Pacific. 
 

     The Indianapolis made its delivery to Tinian Island on July 26, 1945. The mission was top 

secret and the ship’s crew was unaware of its cargo. After leaving Tinian, the Indianapolis 

sailed to the U.S. military’s Pacific headquarters at Guam and was given orders to meet the 

battleship USS Idaho at Leyte Gulf in the Philippines to prepare for the invasion of Japan. 
 

 
Survivors of Indianapolis on Guam (left) and Capt. Charles Butler McVay III, five days after being rescued (right) 

in August 1945 

 

     Shortly after midnight on July 30, halfway between Guam and Leyte Gulf, a Japanese sub 

blasted the Indianapolis, sparking an explosion that split the ship and caused it to sink in 

approximately 12 minutes, with about 300 men trapped inside. Another 900 went into the 

water, where many died from drowning, shark attacks, dehydration or injuries from the 

explosion. Help did not arrive until four days later, on August 2, when an anti-submarine 

plane on routine patrol happened upon the men and radioed for assistance. 
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     On August 6, 1945, the United States dropped an atomic bomb on Hiroshima, Japan, 

inflicting nearly 130,000 casualties and destroying more than 60 percent of the city. On 

August 9, a second atomic bomb was dropped on Nagasaki, where casualties were estimated 

at over 66,000. Meanwhile, the U.S. government kept quiet about the Indianapolis tragedy 

until August 15 in order to guarantee that the news would be overshadowed by President 

Harry Truman’s announcement that Japan had surrendered. 
 

     In the aftermath of the events involving the Indianapolis, the ship’s commander, Captain 

Charles McVay, was court-martialed in November 1945 for failing to sail a zigzag course 

that would have helped the ship to evade enemy submarines in the area. McVay, the only 

Navy captain court-martialed for losing a ship during the war, committed suicide in 1968. 

Many of his surviving crewmen believed the military had made him a scapegoat. In 2000, 55 

years after the Indianapolis went down, Congress cleared McVay’s name. 

 

 Jul 30 1964 – Vietnam War:  South Vietnamese Boats Raid Islands in the Tonkin Gulf   »   

At about midnight, six “Swifts,” special torpedo boats used by the South Vietnamese for 

covert raids, attack the islands of Hon Me and Hon Ngu in the Tonkin Gulf. Although unable 

to land any commandos, the boats fired on island installations. Radar and radio transmissions 

were monitored by an American destroyer, the USS Maddox, which was stationed about 120 

miles away. 
 

 
 

     The South Vietnamese attacks were part of a covert operation called Oplan 34A, which 

involved raids by South Vietnamese commandos operating under American orders against 

North Vietnamese coastal and island installations. Although American forces were not 

directly involved in the actual raids, U.S. Navy ships were on station to conduct electronic 

surveillance and monitor North Vietnamese defense responses under another program, 

Operation De Soto. The Oplan 34A attacks played a major role in events that led to what 

became known as the Gulf of Tonkin Incident.  
 

     On 2 AUG, North Vietnamese patrol boats attacked the Maddox, which had been 

conducting a De Soto mission in the area. Two days after the first attack, there was another 

incident that still remains unclear. The Maddox, joined by destroyer USS C. Turner Joy, 

engaged what were thought at the time to be more attacking North Vietnamese patrol boats. 

Although it was questionable whether the second attack actually happened or not, the 

incident provided the rationale for retaliatory air attacks against the North Vietnamese and 
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the subsequent Tonkin Gulf Resolution. The resolution became the basis for the initial 

escalation of the war in Vietnam and ultimately the insertion of U.S. combat troops into the 

area. 

 

 Jul 30 1964 – Vietnam War:  Nixon Visits South Vietnam   »   During his first overseas trip 

as president–which included stops in Guam, the Philippines, Indonesia, Thailand, Pakistan, 

Romania, and Britain–Richard Nixon makes an unscheduled five-and-a-half hour visit to 

South Vietnam. On the South Vietnam stopover, Nixon met with President Nguyen Van Thieu 

to discuss U.S. troop withdrawals and later met with senior U.S. military commanders to 

discuss possible changes in military tactics. Nixon also visited U.S. troops of the U.S. 1st 

Infantry Division at Di An, 12 miles south of Saigon. 

 

 Jul 30 1975 – Cold War:  Summit Meeting in Helsinki Begins  »   Thirty-five nations, called 

together by the United States and the Soviet Union, begin a summit meeting in Helsinki, 

Finland, to discuss some pressing international issues. The meeting temporarily revived the 

spirit of detente between the United States and Russia. 
 

     By 1975, the policy of detente–the lessening of tensions between the United States and the 

Soviet Union–was slowly deteriorating. Richard Nixon, under whose administration detente 

began, had resigned from office in disgrace in August 1974. The collapse of South Vietnam in 

April 1975 left many Americans worried that the U.S. was losing the Cold War. In an effort to 

reawaken the policy of detente, President Gerald Ford and Secretary of State Henry Kissinger 

joined with the Soviet Union in calling for a multination summit in Helsinki in July 1975.  
 

 
 

     Officially known as the Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe, the meeting 

was attended by the United States, the Soviet Union, Canada, and all European nations 

(except Albania, which continued to plot its own very independent, and confusing, foreign 

policy). On August 1, 1975, the summit attendees issued a “Final Act,” outlining the broad 

agreements that had been reached at the conference. All signatories to the Final Act agreed to 

respect the state boundaries established after World War II and abide by the rule of 

international law. In addition, human rights were emphasized and all states agreed to protect 
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the basic rights of their people. Finally, all nations agreed to pursue arms reduction treaties in 

the future. 
 

     The agreements reached at Helsinki gave a temporary jumpstart to the idea of detente, but 

in the years to come most aspects of the Final Act were disregarded or forgotten. Although the 

Soviet Union agreed to respect human rights, it savagely attacked human rights groups in 

Russia (known informally as the “Helsinki groups”). And discussion about arms reduction 

treaties disappeared and was not revived until the mid-1980s. On a positive note, however, the 

Helsinki agreements did establish a foundation for more fruitful U.S.-Soviet relations in later 

years. President Ronald Reagan and Soviet leader Mikhail Gorbachev used the basic premises 

of the Final Act to pursue a number of diplomatic initiatives in the mid- and late-1980s, 

including dramatic breakthroughs in nuclear arms control. 

 

-o-o-O-o-o- 

 

 Jul 31 1777 – American Revolution:  Marquis de Lafayette Made Major-General Of 

Continental Army  »   A 19-year-old French aristocrat, Marie-Joseph Paul Roch Yves 

Gilbert du Motier, Marquis de Lafayette, accepts a commission as a major-general in the 

Continental Army—without pay. 
 

 
 

     During his service as the Continental Congress’ secret envoy to France, Silas Deane had, 

on December 7, 1776, struck an agreement with French military expert, Baron Johann 

DeKalb, and his protege, the Marquis de Lafayette, to offer their military knowledge and 

experience to the American cause. However, Deane was replaced with Benjamin Franklin 

and Arthur Lee, who were unenthused by the proposal. Meanwhile, King Louis XVI feared 

angering Britain and prohibited Lafayette’s departure. The British ambassador to the French 

court at Versailles demanded the seizure of Lafayette’s ship, which resulted in Lafayette’s 

arrest. Lafayette, though, managed to escape, set sail and elude two British ships dispatched 

to recapture him. Following his safe arrival in South Carolina, Lafayette traveled to 

Philadelphia, expecting to be made General George Washington’s second-in-command. 

Although Lafayette’s youth made Congress reluctant to promote him over more experienced 
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colonial officers, the young Frenchman’s willingness to volunteer his services without pay 

won their respect and Lafayette was commissioned as a major-general. 
 

     Lafayette served at Brandywine in 1777, as well as Barren Hill, Monmouth and Rhode 

Island in 1778. Following the formal treaty of alliance with Lafayette’s native France in 

February 1778 and Britain’s subsequent declaration of war, Lafayette asked to return to Paris 

and consult the king as to his future service. Washington was willing to spare Lafayette, who 

departed in January 1779. By March, Franklin reported from Paris that Lafayette had become 

an excellent advocate for the American cause at the French court. Following his six-month 

respite in France, Lafayette returned to aid the American war effort in Virginia, where he 

participated in the successful siege of Yorktown in 1781, before returning to France and the 

further service of his own country. 

 

 Jul 31 1917 – WW2:  Third Battle of Ypres Begins in Flanders   »  The Allies launch a 

renewed assault on German lines in the Flanders region of Belgium, in the much-contested 

region near Ypres, during World War I. The attack begins more than three months of brutal 

fighting, known as the Third Battle of Ypres. 
 

 
 

     While the first and second battles at Ypres were attacks by the Germans against the 

Allied-controlled salient around Ypres–which crucially blocked any German advance to the 

English Channel–the third was spearheaded by the British commander in chief, Sir Douglas 

Haig. After the resounding failure of the Nivelle Offensive–named for its mastermind, the 

French commander Robert Nivelle–the previous May, followed by widespread mutinies 

within the French army, Haig insisted that the British should press ahead with another major 

offensive that summer. The aggressive and meticulously planned offensive, ostensibly aimed 

at destroying German submarine bases located on the north coast of Belgium, was in fact 

driven by Haig’s (mistaken) belief that the German army was on the verge of collapse, and 

would be broken completely by a major Allied victory. 
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     After an opening barrage of some 3,000 guns, Haig ordered nine British divisions, led by 

Sir Hubert Gough’s 5th Army, to advance on the German lines near the Belgian village of 

Passchendaele on July 31; they were joined by six French divisions. In the first two days of 

the attacks, while suffering heavy casualties, the Allies made significant advances–in some 

sectors pushing the Germans back more than a mile and taking more than 5,000 German 

prisoners–if not as significant as Haig had envisioned. The offensive was renewed in mid-

August, though heavy rains and thickening mud severely hampered the effectiveness of 

Allied infantry and artillery and prevented substantial gains over the majority of the summer 

and early fall. 
 

     Dissatisfied with his army’s gains by the end of August, Haig had replaced Gough with 

Herbert Plumer at the head of the attack; after several small gains in September, the British 

were able to establish control over the ridge of land east of Ypres. Encouraged, Haig pushed 

Plumer to continue the attacks towards the Passchendaele ridge, some 10 kilometers from 

Ypres. 
 

     Thus the Third Battle of Ypres–also known as Passchendaele, for the village, and the 

ridge surrounding it, that saw the heaviest fighting–continued into its third month, as the 

Allied attackers reached near-exhaustion, with few notable gains, and the Germans 

reinforced their positions in the region with reserve troops released from the Eastern Front, 

where Russia’s army was foundering amid internal turmoil. Unwilling to give up, Haig 

ordered a final three attacks on Passchendaele in late October. The eventual capture of the 

village, by Canadian and British troops, on November 6, 1917, allowed Haig to finally call 

off the offensive, claiming victory, despite some 310,000 British casualties, as opposed to 

260,000 on the German side, and a failure to create any substantial breakthrough, or change 

of momentum, on the Western Front. Given its outcome, the Third Battle of Ypres remains 

one of the most costly and controversial offensives of World War I, representing–at least for 

the British–the epitome of the wasteful and futile nature of trench warfare. 

 

 Jul 31 1941 – WW2:   German U-boats sink and damage 21 allied ships during this month 

(80,521 tons). 

 

 Jul 31 1941 – Holocaust:  Preparations For The Final Solution Begin   »    Hermann 

Goering, writing under instructions from Hitler, ordered Reinhard Heydrich, SS general and 

Heinrich Himmler’s number-two man, “to submit to me as soon as possible a general plan of 

the administrative material and financial measures necessary for carrying out the desired final 

solution of the Jewish question.” Goering recounted briefly the outline for that “final 

solution” that had been drawn up on January 24, 1939: “emigration and evacuation in the 

best possible way.” This program of what would become mass, systematic extermination was 

to encompass “all the territories of Europe under German occupation.” 
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     Heydrich already had some experience with organizing such a plan, having reintroduced 

the cruel medieval concept of the ghetto in Warsaw after the German occupation of Poland. 

Jews were crammed into cramped walled areas of major cities and held as prisoners, as their 

property was confiscated and given to either local Germans or non-Jewish Polish peasants. 

Behind this horrendous scheme, carried out month by month, country by country, was Hitler, 

whose “greatest weakness was found in the vast numbers of oppressed peoples who hated 

[him] and the immoral ways of his government.” This assessment was Soviet dictator Joseph 

Stalin’s, given at a Kremlin meeting that same day, July 31, with American adviser to the 

president Harry Hopkins. 

 

 Jul 31 1942 – WW2:  USS Grunion (SS–216) was sunk by gunfire from torpedoed Japanese 

transport Kashima Maru; 10 miles north Segula, near Kiska Island, Aleutians. 70 killed. 
 

 
 

 Jul 31 1942 – WW2:   Starting on 28 JUL, after the labor columns left the ghetto, the 

Germans and their local collaborators invaded the ghetto and murdered and tortured the 

inhabitants for three days ending on 31 JUL. Some 10,000 were murdered, including 3,500 

German, Austrian, and Czech Jews, most of whom were old people, women, and children. 

Nine thousand Jews still survived. 

 

 Jul 31 1943 – WW2:  Holocaust   »   Convoy #58 departs with 1,000 French Jews to Nazi 

Germany’s Auschwitz extermination camp.  Between March 27, 1942 and August 17, 1944 a 

total of 79 convoys delivered 73,853 French Jews to death camps of which 46,802 were 

gassed upon arrival.  By 1945 only 1,647 men and 913 woman were still surviving. 

 

 Jul 31 1944 – WW2:  Oahu Black 1320th Army Engineers Refuse to Work   »   In the worst 

Home Front disaster of World War II, an explosion on 17 JUL at the Naval Magazine in Port 

Chicago, California killed 320 men, of whom 202 were black. The tragedy was followed by a 

work stoppage and a controversial mutiny trial. This sent ripples of change through the 

segregated armed forces.  The explosion and mutiny trial were heavily publicized, at the 

Navy’s request. While the purpose was to discourage further insubordination in the ranks, the 

publicity backfired, exposing the segregated and discriminatory practices in the Navy. A 

great outcry went up in the black community, but many whites were appalled as well. 
 

     The difficult and humiliating conditions for blacks in the armed forces caused more strife 

and violence. On July 31, 1944, 75 black members of the 1320th Army Engineers refused to 
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work on an airfield on Oahu. They were arrested and convicted of mutiny on February 1, 

1945. Christmas Eve and Day on Guam were marked by an ugly race riot that killed one 

black and one white Marine. Forty-three blacks were court-martialed and sentenced; no 

whites were arrested. And in March 1945, one thousand black Seabees at Port Hueneme, 

California engaged in a two-day hunger strike to protest discrimination. The black sailor had 

a friend in the new Secretary of the Navy, James V. Forrestal, who had been appointed by the 

president on May 19, 1944 after the death of Frank Knox. Forrestal found that Admiral 

Ernest King, Chief of Naval Operations and Commander-in-Chief of the United States Fleet, 

believed that integration was right and necessary. In March 1945, Forrestal asked Lester 

Granger of the National Urban League to serve as his adviser. Forrestal liked Granger’s 

tactics. Rather than arguing for desegregation solely in the name of fairness and rights, 

Granger argued that desegregation increased security, production, and administrative 

efficiency. 
 

     Ironically, on August 9, 1944, the same day the survivors of the Port Chicago Explosion 

refused to load ammunition, Forrestal informed the commanders of 25 fleet auxiliary ships 

that they would be assigned black sailors, to be fully integrated on their crews. In this 

experimental change, the black sailors were found to be accepted and efficient members of 

the crews. As a result, all auxiliary ships were fully integrated as of March 6, 1945. In 

January 1945, a pamphlet went out to naval officers, encouraging ratings and promotions be 

made for blacks on the same basis as for whites. The pamphlet also warned against the use of 

racial epithets. 
 

     In response to the Port Chicago incident, on February 21, 1945, the Navy limited blacks 

working at ammunition depots to no more than 30 percent of the work force. An argument 

that proved effective was that dispersing blacks prevented collective action like riots and 

strikes. Specialist training schools had quietly been integrating since 1943, simply due to the 

inefficiency of maintaining separate schools. In June 1945, all Navy training camps were 

desegregated, with recruits sent to the nearest facility regardless of race. In July 1945, the 

Navy opened submarine and aviation pilot training to blacks as well. Strides were made 

within the Navy for black women as well. In October 1944, the WAVES (Women Accepted 

for Volunteer Emergency Service) opened recruitment for black women, and in March 1945, 

the Navy Nurse Corps was also opened to blacks. 
 

     Progress in the Navy was slow but significant. By the end of the war, 5.3 percent of naval 

personnel were black, double the prewar percentage but still less than half the percentage of 

the population. Only 60 black officers served in the Navy, up from zero before the war. 

Seventy black women served as WAVES, and four black women served in the Navy Nurse 

Corps. Before the war, blacks were only allowed to serve as steward’s mates. By the end of 

the war, blacks held 67 different ratings, although 40 percent still served as steward’s mates. 

Work continued in the Navy after the war. On February 27, 1946, without fanfare, the 

Bureau of Naval Personnel issued Circular Letter 48-46 which prohibited all segregation in 
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assignments, ratings, ranks, ships, facilities, and housing. Not until 1948 were the rest of the 

armed forces completely integrated. While the Navy had been the most segregated service 

before the war, it became the first integrated service. The events surrounding the Port 

Chicago Explosion played a significant role in these landmark changes. 
 

 Jul 31 1944 – WW2:  Germans destroy all bridges in Florence, Italy, except historic Ponte 

Vecchio, which could only handle foot traffic anyway. 
 

 Jul 31 1945 – WW2:  Fugitive Vichy Leader Surrenders in Austria    »    Pierre Laval, the 

puppet leader of Nazi-occupied Vichy France, surrenders to American authorities in Austria, 

who extradite him to France to stand trial. 
 

     Laval, originally a deputy and senator of pacifist tendencies, shifted to the right in the 

1930s while serving as minister of foreign affairs and twice as the French premier. A staunch 

anti-communist, he delayed the Soviet-Franco pact of 1935 and sought to align France with 

Fascist Italy. Hostile to the declaration of war against Germany in 1939, Laval encouraged 

the antiwar faction in the French government, and with the German invasion in 1940 he used 

his political influence to force an armistice with Germany. Henri Petain took over the new 

Vichy state, and Laval served as minister of state. Laval was dismissed by Petain in 

December 1940 for negotiating privately with Germany. 
 

 
 

     By 1942, Laval had won the trust of Nazi leader Adolf Hitler, and the elderly Petain 

became merely a figurehead in the Vichy regime. As the premier of Vichy France, Laval 

collaborated with the Nazi programs of oppression and genocide and increasingly became a 

puppet of Hitler. After the Allied liberation of France, he was forced to flee east for German 

protection. With the defeat of Germany in May 1945, he escaped to Spain but was expelled 

and went into hiding in Austria, where he finally surrendered to American authorities in late 

July. Extradited to France, Laval was convicted of treason by the High Court of Justice in a 

sensational trial. Condemned to death, he attempted suicide by poison but was nursed back to 

health in time for his execution on October 15, 1945. 
 

Also on this date: 
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 The French collaboration trials have so far resulted in 1,629 death sentences, 757 hard 

labor for life, 5,328 other hard labor, 1,136 solitary confinement, 11,073 prison 

sentences, 22,137 to suffer national degradation and 3,564 acquitted. 

 

 Jul 31 1948 – U.S. Navy:  USS Nevada (BB-36) is sunk by an aerial torpedo after surviving 

hits from two atomic bombs (as part of post-war tests) and being used for target practice by 

three other ships. 
 

 
 

 Jul 31 1953 – Cold War:  Senator Robert A. Taft Dies   »   Senate Majority Leader Robert 

A. Taft (R-Ohio) dies of cancer at the age of 63. Branded by critics as an “isolationist,” Taft 

was a consistent critic of America’s Cold War policies. Known as “Mr. Republican” because 

of his ferocious partisanship, was a true conservative in every sense of the word. First elected 

to the Senate in 1938, Taft lashed out at Franklin D. Roosevelt’s New Deal programs as 

being too expensive and wasteful of taxpayers’ dollars. During World War II, he warned 

against the tremendous growth of presidential power, which he claimed threatened the 

people’s liberties and freedom. This same kind of criticism also brought Taft into conflict 

with the American government’s Cold War policies after World War II.  
 

     He attacked President Harry S. Truman’s policy of containment of the Soviet Union, 

arguing that the United States was provoking Russia into a war. He vigorously opposed the 

Marshall Plan, designed to give billions of dollars in aid to Western Europe, as far too costly. 

He also voted against U.S. participation in the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) 

because he believed it impinged on the nation’s freedom of action. Overall, Taft feared that 

Truman and the U.S. government were using the Cold War to take on powers they were 

never intended to have. For this reason, he also opposed Truman’s call for a peacetime draft 

in 1948. Taft’s harsh criticisms sometimes brought him into conflict even with members of 

his own party. After winning the presidential election in 1952, Republican Dwight D. 

Eisenhower publicly attacked what he called Taft’s “isolationism” and “fortress America” 

mentality. 
 

     In the years following his death, however, Taft’s views gained new credibility. The 

immense costs of the Cold War and the brutal and inconclusive Vietnam War seemed to bear 

out many of Taft’s criticisms of America’s Cold War policies. During the 1960s, a number of 
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scholars noted the similarities between Taft’s opposition to the draft and American military 

intervention overseas and the objections raised by the anti-Vietnam War movement. 
 

 Jul 31 1964 – Vietnam War:  Agreement on Conduct of War   »   In a news conference, 

Secretary of State Dean Rusk admits there are differences between the United States and 

South Vietnam on the issue of extending the war into North Vietnam, but agreement on the 

general conduct of the war. He stated that U.S. warnings to communist China and North 

Vietnam indicated total U.S. commitment. 
 

     Ambassador Maxwell Taylor had met with South Vietnamese head of state Gen. Nguyen 

Khanh on 23 JUL to register U.S. disapproval of the recent calls by Khanh and Prime 

Minister Nguyen Cao Ky to extend the war into North Vietnam. The meeting was reportedly 

“heated.” It was also said that Khanh stood firmly against Taylor’s reprimands, arguing that 

the war had changed because of the presence of North Vietnamese forces in South Vietnam. 

In a second meeting, Khanh offered to resign, but Taylor, who became convinced that Khanh 

was at least partly right about taking the war to the North Vietnamese, not only dissuaded 

him but also ended up cabling Washington that the United States should undertake covert 

planning with the South Vietnamese for bombing the North. 
 

     Despite ongoing disagreements about how best to conduct the war, President Lyndon B. 

Johnson insisted that relations between the U.S. and South Vietnam were good. Rusk’s 

comments were seen by many to be part of a campaign to reassure to the South Vietnamese 

that the United States would continue to stand by them in the struggle. 

 

 Jul 31 1970 – Cold War:  Black Tot Day   »   The last day on which the Royal Navy issued 

sailors with a daily rum ration (the daily tot). In the 17th century, the daily drink ration for 

English sailors was a gallon of beer (about four liters), although frequently small beer was 

used with an alcohol content below 1%. 

 

 Jul 31 1972 – Vietnam War:  Hanoi Claims that U.S. Bombers have Struck Dikes   »   

Hanoi challenges the Nixon administration on the dike controversy, claiming that since April 

there had been 173 raids against the dikes in North Vietnam with direct hits in 149 locations. 

On 28 JUL, in response to claims by the Soviet Union that the United States had conducted 

an intentional two-month bombing campaign designed to destroy the dikes and dams of the 

Tonkin Delta in North Vietnam, a CIA report was made public by the Nixon administration. 

It stated that U.S. bombing at 12 locations had caused accidental minor damage to North 

Vietnam’s dikes, but the damage was unintentional and the dikes were not the intended 

targets of the bombings. 
 

     The nearly 2,000 miles of dikes on the Tonkin plain, and more than 2,000 miles of dikes 

along the sea, made civilized life possible in the Red River Delta. Had the dikes been 

intentionally targeted, their destruction would have destroyed centuries of patient work and 
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caused the drowning or starvation of hundreds of thousands of peasants. Bombing the dikes 

had been advocated by some U.S. strategists since the beginning of U.S. involvement in the 

war, but had been rejected outright by U.S. presidents sitting during the war as an act of 

terrorism. 

 

 Jul 31 1991 – USA:  Senate votes to allow women to fly combat aircraft. 

 

 Jul 31 1991 – Cold War:  START I Treaty   »   President George W. Bush and Soviet leader 

Mikhail Gorbachev, seated beside each other at a Kremlin ceremony, signed a bilateral 

Strategic Arms Reduction Treaty, known as START I. It was the first treaty between the two 

superpowers that provided for deep cuts in their respective nuclear arsenals. 
 

     Its final implementation in late 2001 resulted in the removal of about four-fifths of all 

strategic nuclear weapons then in existence. By the time the treaty expired in 2009, their 

strategic nuclear arsenals were significantly below the upper limits stipulated by the pact. 

 

Derivative Sources:   

 www.history.com/this-day-in-history * 

 https://www.historycentral.com 

 https://www.wwiidogtags.com/ww2-history/july-16   

 https://www.historyanswers.co.uk/history-of-war/day  

 https://worldwar2daybyday.blogspot.com/2009/07  

 https://www.navalhistory.org  

 https://www.warhistoryonline.com/category/war-articles 

 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/July_1915  thru 1921 

 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/July_1939   thru 1945 

 https://www.history.navy.mil/today-in-history/july-1.html 

 https://www.pbs.org/battlefieldvietnam/timeline/index.html  

 https://www.answers.com  

 https://www.reddit.com/r/RealTimeWW2  [1944 only]  

 https://ww2aircraft.net/forum/threads/this-day-in-the-war-in-the-pacific-65-years-ago.6103/page-

34  (1942 only) 

 https://www.historyplace.com/unitedstates/vietnam/index-1965.html Jungle War 1965-1968  

 https://www.historynet.com/today-in-history/july-16 

 https://www.unknownsoldierspodcast.com  
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 https://www.navalhistory.org  

 https://www.warhistoryonline.com/category/war-articles 
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